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Statements Regarding Forward-Looking Statements

The statements contained in this report omFb®-K that are not purely historical are forwaod#ting statements within the meaning of
applicable securities laws. Forward-looking statetménclude statements regarding our “expectatidasticipation,” “intentions,” “beliefs,” or
“strategies” regarding the future. Forward-lookstgtements relating to our future economic perforeeaplans and objectives for future
operations, and projections of revenue and othanftial items that are based on our beliefs asageissumptions made by and information
currently available to us. Actual results couldalifmaterially from those currently anticipatedsasult of a number of factors, including those
discussed in Item *Business Risk Factor¢”
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PART |
Item 1. Business
Introduction
Our Company

We are the largest recreational boat dealdrarUnited States. Through 67 retail locationAlmbama, Arizona, California, Colorado,
Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Maryland, Minnesotayatia, New Jersey, North Carolina, Ohio, South QaaplTexas, and Utah, we sell new and
used recreational boats, including pleasure beatsh(as sport boats, sport cruisers, sport yaghthits, and mega-yachts), ski boats, and fishing
boats, with a focus on premium brands in each sagriiée also sell related marine products, includingines, trailers, parts, and accessories. In
addition, we arrange related boat financing, insceaand extended service contracts; provide regpaimaintenance services; offer boat and
yacht brokerage services; and, where availabley sffp and storage accommodations.

We are the nation’s largest retailer of Seg, Baston Whaler, Meridian, and Hatteras recreatidoats and yachts, all of which are
manufactured by Brunswick Corporation. Sales of Beunswick boats accounted for approximately 60%wafrevenue in fiscal 2004.
Brunswick is the world’s largest manufacturer ofrimea products and marine engines. We believe dessapresented in excess of 10% of all
Brunswick marine sales, including approximately 3dfits new Sea Ray boat sales, during our 20@alfigear. Through operating subsidiaries,
we are a party to dealer agreements with Brunswaislering Sea Ray products and we are the excldagater of Sea Ray boats in our geographic
markets.

We are the exclusive dealer for Italy-basexddtt Group for Ferretti Yachts, Pershing, Rivggréamare, Mochi Craft, Custom Line, and CRN
mega-yachts, yachts, and other recreational boathé United States, Canada, and the Bahamasyahave the right to become the exclusive
dealer in Mexico and the Caribbean. We also arexictusive dealer for Bertram in the United Stde<luding the Florida peninsula and certain
portions of New England), Canada, and the Bahaarasyve have the right to become the exclusive d@aldexico and certain areas of the
Caribbean.

We commenced operations as a result of thear 1998 acquisition of five previously indepentdecreational boat dealers. Since that time,
we have acquired 18 additional previously indepahdecreational boat dealers, two boat brokerageatipns, and a full-service yacht repair
operation. We capitalize on the experience andesscof the acquired companies in order to estahlistw national standard of customer service
and responsiveness in the highly fragmented rietating industry. As a result of our emphasis ampum brand boats, our average selling price
for a new boat in fiscal 2004 was approximately,$89 compared with the industry average sellinggdf approximately $30,000 based on
industry data published by the National Marine Maeturers Association. Our stores, which operatddast 12 months, averaged approximately
$12.8 million in annual sales in fiscal 2004. Wasider a store to be one or more retail locatibas are adjacent or operate as one entity. For the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2004, we had revehapproximately $762.0 million, operating inconfeapproximately $48.9 million, and net
income of approximately $26.3 million. Our samerstsales increased approximately 21% in fiscal 20@#thave averaged approximately 8% for
the last five years, including a decline of 9%igtél 2001.

We adopt the best practices developed by doanacquired companies as appropriate to enhaurcability to attract more customers, foster
an overall enjoyable boating experience, and dféett manufacturers stable and professional reiiiildution and a broad geographic presence.
We believe that our full range of services, no-Haggles approach, prime retail locations, prempuaduct offerings, extensive facilities, strong
management and team members, and emphasis on enstermice and satisfaction before and after a dmlatare competitive advantages that
enable us to be more responsive to the needs stfrexiand prospective customers.

The U.S. recreational boating industry gereetapproximately $30.0 billion in retail sales alendar 2003, including sales of new and used
boats; marine products, such as engines, tradgrgpment, and accessories; and related experslisueh as fuel, insurance, docking, storage,
and repairs. Retail sales of new and used boagies trailers, and accessories accounted fooappately $23.5 billion of these sales in 2003
based on industry
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data from the National Marine Manufacturers Asstiaia The highly fragmented retail boating indusgenerally consists of small dealers that
operate in a single market and provide varying éegof merchandising, professional managementcastomer service. We believe that many
small dealers are finding it increasingly diffictdt make the managerial and capital commitmentesszsry to achieve higher customer service
levels and upgrade systems and facilities as redudy boat manufacturers and demanded by custokiveralso believe that many dealers lack an
exit strategy for their owners. We believe thesgdes contribute to our opportunity.

Strategy

Our goal is to enhance our position as thonatleading recreational boat dealer. Key elem@fiour operating and growth strategy include
the following:

» emphasizing customer satisfaction and loyaltgid®ating an overall enjoyable boating experienggrivteng with a negotiatiorfree purchas
process, superior customer service, and premidititzs;

» implementing the‘best practice” developed by us and our acquired dealers as apat®pnroughout our dealershiy
« achieving efficiencies and synergies among ouratf@rs to enhance internal growth and profitahil

» emphasizing employee training and developm

« offering additional products and services, inclgdihose involving higher profit margin

 pursuing strategic acquisitions to capitalizeruglee significant consolidation opportunities i thiighly fragmented recreational boat dealer
industry by acquiring additional dealers and ralaiperations and improving their performance amdifability through the implementation
of our operating strategie

» opening additional retail facilities in our exiggimand new territories

» expanding our Internet retail operations and mange

» promoting national brand name recognition and ttegiieMax connectior

 operating with a decentralized approach to theaifmeral management of our dealerships;

« utilizing technology throughout operations, whfekilitates the interchange of information andamtes cross-selling opportunities
throughout our compan

Development of the Company; Expansion of Business

MarineMax was founded in January 1998. MariagMself, however, conducted no operations uhglacquisition of five independent
recreational boat dealers on March 1, 1998, andomgpleted our initial public offering in June 19%8nce the initial acquisitions in March 1998,
we have acquired 18 additional recreational boatede, two boat brokerage operations, and a fullise yacht repair operation. Each of our
acquired dealers is continuing its operations utitkeMarineMax name as a wholly owned operatingslidry of our company.

We continually attempt to expand our busir®sproviding a full range of services, offering emsive and high-quality product lines,
maintaining prime retail locations, pursuing therMaMax Value Price sales approach, and emphasibm@ighest level of customer service and
customer satisfaction.

We also evaluate opportunities to expand @erations by acquiring recreational boat dealeexfmand our geographic scope; expanding our
product lines; opening new retail locations witbimr existing territories; and providing new produahd services for our customers.
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Acquisitions of additional recreational boagtkrs represent an important strategy in our goa@ahhance our position as the nation’s leading
retailer of recreational boats. The following tabéts forth information regarding the businessaste have acquired and their geographic

regions.

Acquired Companies

Acquisition Date

Geographic Region

Bassett Boat Company of Florii

Louis DelHomme Marin

Gulfwind USA, Inc.

Gulfwind South, Inc

Harrisor's Boat Center, Inc. and Harri¢'s Marine Centers of Arizona, In
Stovall Marine, Inc

Cochrar's Marine, Inc. and C & N Marine Corporati

Sea Ray of North Carolina, In

Brevard Boat Compan

Sea Ray of Las Veg:

Treasure Cove Marina, In

Woods & Oviatt, Inc

Boating World

Merit Marine, Inc.

Suburban Boatworks, In

Hansen Marine, Inc

Duce Marine, Inc

Clark’'s Landing, Inc. (selected New Jersey locationsagedations
Associated Marine Technologies, It

Gulfwind Marine Partners, In

Seaside Marine, In

Sundance Marine, In

Killinger Marine Center, Inc. and Killinger Marir@enter of Alabama, In
Emarine International, Inc. and Steven Myers,

Imperial Marine

Port Jacksonville Marin

March 199!
March 199!
March 199:
March 199:
March 199!
April 199¢

July 199¢

July 199¢
September 19¢
September 19¢
September 19¢
October 199
February 199
March 199!
April 199¢
August 199
December 19¢
April 200C
January 20C
April 2002
July 200:

June 200
September 20(
October 200
June 200
June 200

Southeast Florid

Dallas and Houston, Tex:
West Central, Florid
Southwest Florid:
Northern California and Arizon
Georgia

Minnesota

North and South Carolir
East Central Florid
Nevada

Northern Ohic

Southeast Florid

Dallas, Texa:

Southern New Jerse
Central New Jerse
Northeast Florid:

Utah

Northern New Jerse
Southeast Florid

West Floride

Southern Californi:
Colorado

Northwest Florida and Alaban
Southeast Florid
Baltimore, Marylanc
Northeast Florid:

Apart from acquisitions, we have opened 13 netail locations in existing territories, excludithose opened on a temporary basis for a
specific purpose. We also monitor the performarfaauo retail locations and close retail locatiohattdo not meet our expectations. Based on
these factors, we have closed nine retail locatsimse March 1998, excluding those opened on adeanp basis for a specific purpose.

As a part of our acquisition strategy, we freqtly engage in discussions with various recreatiboat dealers regarding their potential

acquisition by us. In connection with these dismrss we and each potential acquisition candidatb@nge confidential operational and financial
information, conduct due diligence inquiries, antsider the structure, terms, and conditions ofpibtential acquisition. In certain cases, the
prospective acquisition candidate agrees not ttudsa potential acquisition with any other paotyd specific period of time, grants us an option
to purchase the prospective dealer for a desigrmated during a specific time, and agrees to takemactions designed to enhance the possibility
of the acquisition, such as preparing audited fifernnformation and converting its accounting systto the system specified by us. Potential
acquisition discussions frequently take place @ieng period of time and involve difficult busiseistegration and other issues, including in
some cases, management succession and relatedsmasta result of these and other factors, a numbgotential acquisitions that from time to
time appear likely to occur do not result in birgliegal agreements and are not consummated.
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In addition to acquiring recreational boatldesand opening new retail locations, we alsoraald product lines to expand our operations. The
following table sets forth various product lineattlve have added to our existing locations:

Product Line Fiscal Year Geographic Regions

Boston Whale 1997 West Central Florida; Stuart, Florida; Dallas, T&

Hatteras Yachts 199¢ Florida (excluding the Florida panhandle) and distion rights for products
over 82 feet for North and South America, the (zgin, and the Baham

Boston Whale 199¢ Ohio

Boston Whale 200c North Palm Beach, Florid

Baja 2001 Houston, Texas and Las Vegas, Nev

MB Sports 2001 Northern California, Arizona, Nevada, Utah, and ds

Meridian Yachts 200z Florida, Georgia, North and South Carolina, Nevsdgy Ohio, Minnesota,
Texas, and Delawal

Tracker Marine 200z Minnesota, Georgia, and OF

Grady White 200z Houston, Texa

Hatteras Yacht 200z Texas

Boston Whale 200/ North and South Carolir

Century 2004 North and South Carolir

Ferretti Yachts, Pershing, Riva, Apreamare, Mochi 200¢ United States, Canada, and the Bahamas

Craft, Custom Line, and CR

Bertram 2004 United States (excluding the Florida peninsula podions of New England),
Canada, and the Baham

Princecraft 200/ California, Delaware, Georgia, Maryland, Minnesdiaw Jersey, Ohio, and
Texas

As we add a brand, we believe we are offeaimgigration for our existing customer base orrfglia gap in our product offerings. As a result,
we do not believe that new product offerings wilhgpoete with or cannibalize the business generated 6ur other prominent brands.

We plan to continue to expand our businessutliin acquisitions in new geographical territoriemy store openings in existing territories, and
new product lines. In addition, we plan to contino@xpand other services, including conductingluseat sales; offering yacht and boat
brokerage services; offering our customers thetahd finance new or used boats; offering extensediice contracts; arranging insurance
coverage, including boat property, crelifie; accident, disability, and casualty coveragglling related marine products, including engineslers
parts, and accessories; providing maintenanceegairrservices at our retail locations and at s&nde service facilities, including our full-
service yacht repair facility in Southeast Floridag expanding our ability to provide slip and atgr accommodations.

We maintain our executive offices at 18167.UH§hway 19 North, Suite 300, Clearwater, Flor&8¥ 64, and our telephone number is
(727) 531-1700. We were incorporated in the staf@ataware in January 1998. Unless the contextratise requires, all references to
“MarineMax” mean MarineMax, Inc. prior to its acquisition ofdipreviously independent recreational boat deatekéarch 1998 (including the
related real estate companies) and all referercggt‘Company,” “our company,” “we,” “us,” and “dumean, as a combined company,
MarineMax, Inc. and the 18 recreational boat deal@vo boat brokerage operations, and one fulliseryacht repair operation acquired to date

(the “acquired dealers,” and together with the lrake and repair operations, “operating subsidiadethe “acquired companies”).

Our website is located wtvw.MarineMax.com Through our website, we make available free @irgh our annual report on Form 10-K, our
quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, our current report$-orm 8-K, our proxy statements, and any amemnsrte those reports filed or furnished
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Secwriirchange Act of 1934. These reports are avaidbkoon as reasonably practicable after we
electronically file those reports with the Secestand Exchange Commission. We also post on ousiteghe charters of our Audit,
Compensation, and Nominating/Corporate Governamcemniittees; our Corporate

4




Table of Contents

Governance Guidelines, Code of Business ConducE#mds, and Code of Ethics for the CEO and Serioancial Officers, and any amendme
or waivers thereto; and any other corporate goveraanaterials contemplated by SEC or NYSE reguiati®hese documents are also availab
print to any stockholder requesting a copy from @unporate secretary at our principal executivice.

BUSINESS
General

We are the largest recreational boat dealdrarUnited States. Through 67 retail locationAlmbama, Arizona, California, Colorado,
Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Maryland, Minnesotayatia, New Jersey, North Carolina, Ohio, South QaaplTexas, and Utah, we sell new and
used recreational boats, including pleasure beatsh(as sport boats, sport cruisers, sport yaahtsyachts), ski boats, and fishing boats, with a
focus on premium brands in each segment. We alsekged marine products, including engines lérai parts, and accessories. In addition, we
arrange related boat and yacht financing, insuraame extended service contracts; provide repaimaaintenance services; offer boat and yacht
brokerage services; and, where available, slipstmihge accommodations.

We are the nation’s largest retailer of Seg, Baston Whaler, Meridian, and Hatteras recreatidwoats and yachts. Sales of new Sea Ray,
Boston Whaler, Meridian, and Hatteras recreatitwalts and yachts, each of which is manufactureBrogpswick Corporation, accounted for
approximately 60% of our revenue in fiscal 2004urigwick is the world’s largest manufacturer of marproducts and marine engines. We
believe our sales represented in excess of 10% Bfumswick marine sales during our 2004 fiscahyeEach of our principal operating
subsidiaries is a party to a dealer agreementBritimswick covering Sea Ray products and is theusked dealer of Sea Ray boats in its
geographic market. We also have the right to sattétas Yachts throughout the state of Floridal(ehog the Florida panhandle) and the state of
Texas, as well as the distribution rights for Hatseproducts over 82 feet for North and South Aozerthe Caribbean, and the Bahamas. We have
distribution rights for Meridian Yachts in mostaiir geographic markets, excluding Arizona, Califayi€olorado, Nevada, and Utah. We are the
exclusive dealer for Italy-based Ferretti GroupFerretti Yachts, Pershing, Riva, Apreamare, Mdgtaft, Custom Line, and CRN mega-yachts,
yachts, and other recreational boats for the Uritiades, Canada, and the Bahamas, and we havghh&rbecome the exclusive dealer in
Mexico and the Caribbean. We also are the exclusader for Bertram in the United States (excludhmgy Florida peninsula and certain portions
of New England), Canada, and the Bahamas, and wetha right to become the exclusive dealer in Mexind certain areas of the Caribbean.
We believe the brands we are adding offer a mignaidr our existing customer base or fill a voicimr product offerings and accordingly will not
compete with or cannibalize the business genefabed our other prominent brands.

U.S. Recreational Boating Industry

The total U.S. recreational boating industeperated approximately $30.0 billion in retail sakecalendar 2003, including retail sales of new
and used recreational boats; marine products, asi@mgines, trailers, parts, and accessories;edaigd boating expenditures, such as fuel,
insurance, docking, storage, and repairs. Retif s new boats, engines, trailers, and accessadeounted for approximately $23.5 billion of
such sales in 2003. Retail recreational boatingssakre $17.9 billion in the late 1980s, but dexdlito a low of $10.3 billion in 1992 based on
industry data published by the National Marine Macturers Association. We believe this decline atisbuted to several factors, including a
recession, the Gulf War, and the imposition thraugh 991 and 1992 of a luxury tax on boats solgriaes in excess of $100,000. The luxury tax
was repealed in 1993 and, with the exception oB1&8d 2003, retail recreational boating sales lrcreased every year since.

The recreational boat retail market remaighlyi fragmented with little consolidation havingcoered to date and consists of numerous boat
retailers, most of which are small companies owmnedhdividuals that operate in a single market pralide varying degrees of merchandising,
professional management, and customer service.alievb that many boat retailers are encounteringesed pressure from boat manufacturers
to improve their levels of service and systems;dased competition from larger national retailaersertain product lines, and, in certain cases,
business succession issues.
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Strategy
Our goal is to enhance our position as thionatleading recreational boat dealer. Key elem@fitour strategy include the following:

Emphasizing Customer Satisfaction and Loyallye seek to achieve a high level of customerfsation and establish long-term customer
loyalty by creating an overall enjoyable boatingesience beginning with a negotiation-free purch@eseess. We further enhance and simplify
the purchase process by helping to arrange fingrama insurance at our retail locations with contipetterms and streamlined turnaround. We
offer the customer a thorough in-water orientattbboat operations where available, as well as mggboat safety, maintenance, and use
seminars and demonstrations for the customer’seefatimily. We also continue our customer serviterahe sale by leading and sponsoring
MarineMaxGetawaysgroup boating trips to various destinations, rendes gatherings, and on-the-water organized evergsovide our
customers with pre-arranged opportunities to etti@ypleasures of the boating lifestyle. We alsoeendr to provide superior maintenance and
repair services, often through mobile service atdiistomer’s wet slip and with extended serviceadepent hours and emergency service
availability, that minimize the hassles of boat nt@hance.

Emphasizing Best Practice$Ve emphasize the “best practices” developed ndsour acquired dealers as appropriate throughout
locations. As an example, we follow a no-hagglesalpproach at each of our dealerships. Under #rsnbMax ValuePrice approach, we sell ¢
boats at posted prices, generally representing@dint from the manufacturer’s suggested retaikepthereby eliminating the anxieties of price
negotiations that occur in most boat purchaseadtition, we adopt, where beneficial, the besttiras developed by us and our acquired dealers
in terms of location, design, layout, product pasds, maintenance and repair services (includitended service hours and mobile or dockside
services), product mix, employee training, and @usr education and services.

Achieving Operating Efficiencies and Synergi®ge strive to increase the operating efficiencitand achieve certain synergies among our
dealerships in order to enhance internal growth@oétability. We centralize various aspects oftagn administrative functions at the corporate
level, such as accounting, finance, insurance emgremployee benefits, marketing, strategic ptepyiegal support, purchasing and distribution,
and management information systems. Centralizatidhese functions reduces duplicative expensegandits the dealerships to benefit from a
level of scale and expertise that would otherwiseibavailable to each dealership individually. ié® &eek to realize cost savings from reduced
inventory carrying costs as a result of purchabiogt inventories on a national level and direchbogts to dealership locations that can more
readily sell such boats; lower financing costs tigto our credit sources; and volume purchase digs@md rebates for certain marine products,
supplies, and advertising. The ability of our nelaéations to offer the complementary serviceswf other retail locations, such as offering
customer excursion opportunities, providing maiatese and repair services at the customer’s boatitot, and giving access to a larger
inventory, increases the competitiveness of eatetil fecation. By centralizing these types of aitiés, our store managers have more time to 1
on the customer and the development of their teams.

Emphasizing Employee Training and Developmdrt promote continued internal growth, we devatiestantial efforts to train our employees
to understand our core retail philosophies, whatus on making the purchase of a boat and its quies¢ use as hassle-free and enjoyable as
possible. Through our MarineMax University, or MMWe teach our retail philosophies to existing aad employees at various locations and
online, through MMU-online. MMU is a modularizeddamstructor-led educational program that focusesur retailing philosophies and
provides instruction on such matters as the salaseps, customer service, F&I, accounting, leadgrsimd human resources.

Offering Additional Products and Services, Inclglifhose Involving Higher Profit Margin®e plan to continue to offer additional product
lines and services throughout our dealerships bennappropriate, in selected dealerships. We &eeirng throughout our dealerships product li
that previously have been offered only at certdiow locations. We also may obtain additional pretdines through the acquisition of
distribution rights directly from manufacturers ahe acquisition of dealerships with distributieghts. We have increased our used boat sale
yacht brokerage services through an increased esigphia these activities, cooperative efforts ammngdealerships, and the use of the Internet.
We also plan to continue to grow our financing arsirance, parts and
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accessories, service and boat storage businesketie¢o serve our customers and thereby increasaue and improve profitability of these hig
margin businesses.

Pursuing Strategic Acquisitiond/Ne capitalize upon the significant consolidatogportunities available in the highly fragmentedreational
boat dealer industry by acquiring independent aeaad improving their performance and profitapitirough the implementation of our
operating strategies. The primary acquisition fasusn well-established, high-end recreational lufgstlers in geographic markets not currently
served by us, particularly geographic markets witbng boating demographics, such as areas whkicdastal states and the Great Lakes region.
We also may seek to acquire boat dealers thatewdhted in attractive geographic markets, hatéeaen able to realize favorable market share
or profitability and that can benefit substantidigm our systems and operating strategies. Weewrpgnd our range of product lines, service
offerings, and market penetration by acquiring canies that distribute recreational boat produ@dior boating-related services different from
those we currently offer. As a result of our coesable industry experience and relationships, vievewe are well positioned to identify and
evaluate acquisition candidates and assess tlmitlyiprospects, the quality of their managememhtaheir local reputation with customers, and
the suitability of their locations. We believe we aegarded as an attractive acquiror by boat debkrause of (1) the historical performance and
the experience and reputation of our management véthin the industry; (2) our decentralized opemgistrategy, which generally enables the
managers of an acquired dealer to continue thealwement in dealership operations; (3) the abiitynanagement and employees of an acquired
dealer to participate in our growth and expansiwough potential stock ownership and career advaaoéopportunities; and (4) the ability to
offer liquidity to the owners of acquired dealdrsotugh the receipt of common stock or cash. Brucdlsiwas agreed to cooperate in good faith with
us and not to unreasonably withhold its consethécacquisition by us each year of Sea Ray bodedeaith aggregate total revenue not
exceeding 20% of our revenue in our prior fiscary® the extent such Sea Ray dealers desire aodpgred by us and subject to the maximum
purchase restrictions as further described in “Bess — Brunswick Agreement Relating to Acquisitidns

Opening New FacilitiesWe intend to continue to establish additionaitdtcilities in our existing and new territoriad/e believe that the
demographics of our existing geographic territosiegport the opening of additional facilities, amel have opened 13 new retail facilities,
excluding those opened on a temporary basis fpeaific purpose, since our formation in January8l9%e also plan to reach new customers
through various innovative retail formats developgdis, such as mall stores and floating retailifees. Our mall store concept is unique to the
boating industry and is designed to draw mall icathereby providing exposure to boating for tle@4iboating public as well as displaying our
new product offerings to boating enthusiasts. kigatetail facilities place the sales facility, tvia customer reception area and sales officest on o
anchored to a dock in a marina and use adjacemnsbpsa to display our new and used boats in apéagyh boating activity. We continually
monitor the performance of our retail locations atabe retail locations that do not meet our exggémts or that were opened for a specific
purpose that is no longer relevant. Since MarctB819& have closed nine retail locations, excludivgse opened on a temporary basis for a
specific purpose.

Utilization of the Internet Our web initiativewww.MarineMax.com provides customers with the ability to learn mab®ut our company and
our products. Our website generates direct salépeovides our stores with leads to potential ausis for new and used boats and brokerage
services. We also plan to expand our ability teoffnancing and parts and accessories on our teebsi

Promoting Brand Name Recognition and the Marinel@axnection We are promoting our brand name recognition lte &dvantage of our
status as the nation’s only coast-to-coast maegtadler. This strategy also recognizes that maistieg and potential customers who reside in
Northern markets and vacation for substantial gario Southern markets will prefer to purchase sardtice their boats from the same \-known
company. We refer to this strategy as the “Marinel@annection.” As a result, our signage emphagizedviarineMax name at each of our
locations, and we conduct national advertisingdrious print and other media.

Operating with Decentralized Managemeite maintain a generally decentralized approadhdmperational management of our dealers
The decentralized management approach takes adeaotahe extensive experience of local manageahlang them to implement policies and
make decisions, including the appropriate produgt based on the needs of the local market. Loalagement authority also fosters responsive
customer service and promotes long-term commumitycstomer relationships. In addition, the
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centralization of certain administrative functiatshe corporate level enhances the ability ofllat@nagers to focus their efforts on day-to-day
dealership operations and the customers.

Utilizing Technology Throughout Operationg/e believe that our management information systenich currently is being utilized by each
operating subsidiary and was developed over a nupofhyeears through cooperative efforts with a commendor, enhances our ability to
integrate successfully the operations of our opegatubsidiaries and future acquired dealers. Jtem facilitates the interchange of information
and enhances cross-selling opportunities througboutompany. The system integrates each levepefations on a company-wide basis,
including purchasing, inventory, receivables, ficiahreporting, budgeting, and sales managemer.sybtem also provides sales representatives
with prospect and customer information that ai@srthn tracking the status of their contacts witbgpects, automatically generates follow-up
correspondence to such prospects, facilitatesvhiaaility of boats company-wide, locates boateded to satisfy particular customer requests,
and monitors the maintenance and service needsstdroers’ boats. Our representatives also utitizecomputer system to assist in arranging
customer financing and insurance packages. Our geasaise a web-based tool to access essentiafigalcial and operational data from
anywhere at any time.

Products and Services

We offer new and used recreational boats aleded marine products, including engines, trajlpasts, and accessories. While we sell a broad
range of new and used boats, we focus on premiamdiproducts. In addition, we assist in arrangéigted boat financing, insurance, and
extended service contracts; provide boat maintenand repair services; provide boat brokerage sesyand offer slip and storage
accommodations.

New Boat Sale:

We primarily sell recreational boats, incluglipleasure boats (such as sport boats, sport csuigeort yachts, yachts, and mega-yachts) and
fishing boats. The principal products we offer ar@nufactured by Brunswick, the leading worldwidenofacturer of recreational boats, including
Sea Ray pleasure boats, Boston Whaler fishing pbisdian Yachts, and Hatteras Yachts. In fis&@042 approximately 60% of our revenue was
derived from the sale of new boats manufactureBrioyswick. We believe that we represented in exo€49% of all of Brunswick’'s marine
product sales during that period. We also sell myggdnts, yachts, and other recreational boats naatwried by Bertram and the Italy-based
Ferretti Group, including Ferretti Yachts, PershiRgva, Apreamare, Mochi Craft, Custom Line, and\CRertain of our dealerships also sell
luxury yachts, fishing boats, ski boats, and pontboats provided by other manufacturers. Duringali2004, new boat sales accounted for
approximately 68.2% of our revenue.

We offer recreational boats in most markenseqts, but have a particular focus on premium gupleasure boats and yachts as reflected by
our fiscal 2004 average new boat sales price ofcqapately $89,000 compared with an estimated itrgiussverage selling price of approximately
$30,000 based on industry data published by thoN&tMarine Manufacturers Association. Given aadtions in some of the more affluent,
offshore boating areas in the United States anchesip on high levels of customer service, we selatively higher percentage of large
recreational boats, such as mega-yachts, yachtsport cruisers. We believe that the product limeffer are among the highest quality within
their respective market segments, with well-esshield trade-name recognition and reputations folityuperformance, and styling.
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The following table is illustrative of the @@ and approximate manufacturers suggested reitzgl nge of new boats that we offer, but is not
all inclusive:

Manufacturer Suggested
Product Line and Trade Name Overall Length Retail Price Range

Mega-Yachts

Custom Line 94 to 12¢ $9,000,000 to $15,000,00

CRN 15C + 17,000,000
Motor Yachts

Hatteras Motor Yacht 64’ to 10C 2,300,000 to 10,000,00

Ferretti 46 to 8¢ 1,300,000 to 7,000,00i!
Convertibles

Hatteras Convertible 50" to 9C 1,000,000 to 7,000,001

Bertram 39 to 67 570,000 to 4,000,00(
Pleasure Boats

Sea Ray 17 to 6¢ 20,000 to 4,000,0(

Meridian 35 to 5¢ 250,000 to 1,400,0(
Fishing Boats

Boston Whale 171 to 37 8,000 to 210,0C
Specialty Boats & Yachts

Pershinc 50 to 11*% 1,600,000 to 13,000,000

Riva 33 to 11*¢ 570,000 to 7,000,00(

Apreamare 25 to 5% 350,000 to 2,000,00(

Mochi Craft 51 to 72 1,500,000 to 3,000,00i!

Mega-Yachts Custom Line and CRN are considered two of thddi@premier mega-yacht product lines and represeat most expensive
product offerings. All Custom Line and CRN modeislude state-of-the-art designs with live-aboardities. Both the Custom Line series,
ranging from 94 feet to 128 feet, and the CRN seri@nging from over 150 feet, offer multiple degkth an enormous amount of living space,
luxurious salon/galley arrangements, and multiple ®¥nd guest staterooms.

Motor Yachts Hatteras Yachts and Ferretti Group are two ofitbdd’s premier yacht builders. The motor yactddarct lines typically
include state-of-the-art designs with live-aboanduries. The Hatteras series offers a flybridgeéneittensive guest seating; covered aft deck,
which may be fully or partially enclosed, providitige boater with additional living space; an elggaton; and multiple staterooms for
accommodations. Ferretti is known for its Europsigting, speed, performance, and offers luxurialerggalley arrangements and multiple
staterooms with private heads.

Convertibles Hatteras Yachts and Bertram are two of the wenemier convertible yacht builders and offerestaftthe-art designs with
live-aboard luxuries. Convertibles are primarilgtiing vessels, which are well equipped to meeh#esls of even the most serious tournament-
class competitor. The Hatteras series featuresansethat offer luxurious salon/galley arrangensentultiple staterooms with private heads, and a
cockpit that includes a bait and tackle centehlis, and freezer. The Bertram series featureiorethat offer spacious living room and
salon/galley arrangements, multiple staterooms piitbate heads, and a cockpit that includes stofaglkig catches, ample prep area, open sink
area, live-bait storage, and stand-up rod storage.

Pleasure Boats Sea Ray and Meridian pleasure boats target bethukury and the family recreational boating m#sland come in a variety
of configurations to suit each customer’s particuéecreational boating style. Sea Ray sport yaghtsyachts serve the luxury segment of the
recreational boating market and include top-ofithe-living accommodations with a salon, a fullyugzped galley, and multiple staterooms. Sea
Ray sport yachts and yachts are available in cébidge cockpit, and express cruiser models. SgasRart boat and sport cruiser
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models are designed for performance and depentyatioiimeet family recreational needs and includeyraf the features and accommodations of
Sea Ray'’s sport yacht and yacht models. Meridiantschts and yachts are known for their solidgrenance and thoughtful use of space with
360-degree views and spacious salon, galley, atdrsbm accommodations. Meridian sport yachts actitg are available in sedan, motoryacht,
and pilothouse models. All Sea Ray and Meridiamglee boats feature custom instrumentation thatintdiyde an electronics package; various
hull, deck, and cockpit designs that can inclugevan platform, bow pulpit, and raised bridge; amdious amenities, such as swivel bucket helm
seats, lounge seats, sun pads, wet bars, budeinhests, and refreshment centers. Most Sea Riaylaridian pleasure boats feature Mercury or
MerCruiser engines.

Fishing Boats The fishing boats we offer, such as Boston Whatarge from entry level models to advanced modetsgned for fishing and
water sports in lakes, bays, and off-shore wateith, cabins with limited live-aboard capability. @ffishing boats typically feature livewells, in-
deck fishboxes, splash-well gates with rodholdegsjing stations, cockpit coaming pads, and frash saltwater washdowns.

Specialty Boats Pershing, Riva, Apreamare, and Mochi Craft spcimats and yachts are known for exceptional ityyalesign, and
innovation and are considered premium productheir respective segments. The Pershing seriemsidered a perfect blend of high
performance, luxury, and the comfort of perfectigrialed interior space. The Riva series is consitbyethose who want the best, expect the best,
and live the best as the luxury boat of choice. Appeamare series is considered one of the mog#irex@and most desirable express cruisers on
the market with an unparalleled European desige. Nhchi Craft series is an old-style revolutiontttediscovers the natural lines of the 1950s.

Used Boat Sales

We sell used versions of the new makes andetaade offer and, to a lesser extent, used boatthefr makes and models generally taken as
trade-ins. During fiscal 2004, used boat sales @atenl for approximately 19.0% of our revenue, gopreximately 79% of the used boats we sold
were Brunswick models.

Our used boat sales depend on our abilitptwce a supply of high-quality used boats at dftragrices. We acquire substantially all of our
used boats through customer trade-ins. We interdritinue to increase our used boat businessesult of the increased availability of quality
used boats generated from our expanding salessftbe increasing number of used boats that alemantained through our service initiatives,
our ability to market used boats throughout our bimred dealership network to match used boat denmrdithe experience of our yacht
brokerage operations. Additionally, substantiallyodour used boat inventory is posted on our Wi, www.MarineMax.com which expands tt
awareness and availability of our products to gdaudience of boating enthusiasts.

At most of our retail locations, we offer tBea Ray Legacy warranty plan available for usedR2gaboats less than six years old. The Legacy
plan applies to each qualifying used Sea Ray bdath has passed a 48-point inspection, and previdetection against failure of most
mechanical parts for up to three years. We belibatethe Sea Ray Legacy warranty plan, which ig ambilable for used Sea Ray boats purch
from a Sea Ray dealer, enhances our sales of eseB&y boats by motivating purchasers of used @gad®ats to purchase only from a Sea Ray
dealer and motivating sellers of Sea Ray boateltatsough a Sea Ray dealer.

Marine Engines, Related Marine Equipment, and Boagj Accessorie

We offer marine engines and propellers, suibistly all of which are manufactured by Mercury Mee, a division of Brunswick. We sell
marine engines and propellers primarily to retagtomers as replacements for their existing engin@sopellers. Mercury Marine has introduced
various new engine models that reduce engine emis$o comply with current Environmental Protectigrency requirements. See “Business —
Environmental and Other Regulatory Issues.” An stduleader for almost six decades, Mercury Maspecializes in state-of-the-art marine
propulsion systems and accessories. Many of owatipg subsidiaries have been recognized by Merblagine as “Premier Service Dealers.”
This designation is generally awarded based oninggegrtain standards and qualifications.

10




Table of Contents

We also sell related marine parts and acciessoncluding oils, lubricants, steering and cohsiystems, corrosion control products, engine
care, maintenance, and service products (primitdycury Marine’s branded products); high-performaaccessories (such as propellers) and
instruments; and a complete line of boating acaéssdncluding life jackets, inflatables, and watports equipment. We also offer novelty items,
such as shirts, caps, and license plates bearngémufacturer’'s or dealer’s logo.

The sale of marine engines, related marinépegent, and boating accessories accounted for ajpppately 3.0% of our fiscal 2004 revenue.
Maintenance, Repair, and Storage Servic

Providing customers with professional, prommgtintenance and repair services is critical tosales efforts and contributes to our profitability.
We provide maintenance and repair services at ofamtr retail locations, with extended service hsoat certain of our locations. In addition, in
many of our markets, we provide mobile maintenaarue repair services at the location of the custtnimrat. We believe that this service
commitment is a competitive advantage in the marketvhich we compete and is critical to our efdx provide a trouble-free boating
experience. To further this commitment, in cer@fiour markets, we have opened stand-alone mainterand repair facilities in locations that
are more convenient for our customers and thaease the availability of such services. We als@belthat our maintenance and repair services
contribute to strong customer relationships antldbhaemphasis on preventative maintenance andtyjsatvice increases the potential supply of
well-maintained boats for our used boat sales.

We perform both warranty and non-warranty eparvices, with the cost of warranty work reimbed by the manufacturer in accordance with
the manufacturer’s warranty reimbursement progféon.warranty work, Brunswick reimburses a perceataigthe dealer’s posted service labor
rates, with the percentage varying depending oméaders customer satisfaction index rating and attendaheervice training courses. We de
the majority of our warranty revenue from Brunswimlkducts, as Brunswick products comprise the ritgjof products sold. Certain other
manufacturers reimburse warranty work at a fixedamh per repair. Because boat manufacturers pevaritanty work to be performed only at
authorized dealerships, we receive substantidllgfahe warranted maintenance and repair work iredufor the new boats we sell. The thpdety
extended warranty contracts we offer also resudtnongoing demand for our maintenance and repaiicgs for the duration of the term of the
extended warranty contract.

Our maintenance and repair services are pegfdiby manufacturer-trained and certified servéahmicians. In charging for our mechanics’
labor, many of our dealerships use a variablegtteture designed to reflect the difficulty angbsistication of different types of repairs. The
percentage markups on parts are similarly basedamufacturer suggested prices and market condifmrdifferent parts.

At many of our locations, we offer boat staragrvices, including in-water slip storage anidmsnd outside land storage. These storage
services are offered at competitive market ratesiaclude in-season and winter storage.

Maintenance, repair, and storage servicesuated for approximately 4.9% of our revenue dufiagal 2004. This includes warranty and non-
warranty services.

F&I Products

At each of our retail locations, we offer austomers the ability to finance new or used boatipases and to purchase extended service
contracts and arrange insurance coverage, incluzbag property, credit life, and accident, disapjland casualty insurance coverage (collecti
“F&I").

We have relationships with various nationatim@product lenders under which the lenders pwgehatail installment contracts evidencing
retail sales of boats and other marine productsatteaoriginated by us in accordance with exispngrsale agreements between us and the lender:
These arrangements permit us to receive a porfitiredinance charges expected to be earned orethit installment contract based on a variety
of factors,
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including the credit standing of the buyer, thewalpercentage rate of the contract charged tbudlyer, and the lender’s then current minimum
required annual percentage rate charged to therlmuyhe contract. This participation is subjectdpayment by us if the buyer prepays the
contract or defaults within a designated time pkrigsually 90 to 180 days. To the extent requingdgiplicable state law, our dealerships are
licensed to originate and sell retail installmeoiracts financing the sale of boats and othermegsroducts.

We also offer third-party extended servicetraets under which, for a predetermined price, vevide all designated services pursuant to the
service contract guidelines during the contraghtat no additional charge to the customer abovedactible. While we sell all new boats with the
boat manufacturer’s standard hull warranty of gelhefive years and standard engine warranty ofegalfy one year, extended service contracts
provide additional coverage beyond the time framgcope of the manufacturemvarranty. Purchasers of used boats generallgtdesto purchas
an extended service contract, even if the seldut@tlis no longer covered by the manufacturer'savay. Generally, we receive a fee for
arranging an extended service contract. Most reduservices under the contracts are provided andgaid for by the third-party contract
holder.

We also are able to assist our customerstivittopportunity to purchase credit life insuraramgident and disability insurance, and property
and casualty insurance. Credit life insurance pegiprovide for repayment of the boat financingtcaxat if the purchaser dies while the contract is
outstanding. Accident and disability insurance gieb provide for payment of the monthly contradigation during any period in which the bu
is disabled. Property and casualty insurance cdesssor damage to the boat. We do not act assamance broker or agent or issue insurance
policies on behalf of insurers. We, however, preuiarketing activities and other related serviodagurance companies and brokers for which
we receive marketing fees. One of our strategi¢s generate increased marketing fees by offeringeraompetitive insurance products.

During fiscal 2004, fee income generated ffe& products accounted for approximately 3.4% of mvenue. We believe that our customers’
ability to obtain competitive financing quickly aedsily at our dealerships complements our alilityell new and used boats. We also believt
ability to provide customer-tailored financing ofisame-day” basis gives us an advantage over maoyracompetitors, particularly smaller
competitors that lack the resources to arrangefiraicing at their dealerships or that do not geteesufficient volume to attract the diversity of
financing sources that are available to us.

Brokerage Service

Through employees or subcontractors thatieeased boat or yacht brokers, we offer boat ohiybmokerage services at most of our retail
locations. For a commission, we offer for sale lerekl boats or yachts, listing them on the “BUWg5tem, and advising our other retail locatior
their availability through our integrated computgstem and posting them on our web sitew.MarineMax.com The BUC system, which is
similar to a real estate multiple listing servitsea national boat or yacht listing service of apgmately 900 brokers maintained by BUC
International. Often sales are bookered, with the commission split between theitgiyand selling brokers. We believe that our acteg®otentia
used boat customers and methods of listing andrasing customers’ brokered boats or yachts is nestensive than is typical among brokers. In
addition to generating revenue from brokerage casinins, our brokerage services also enable ug@oabroad array of used boats or yachts
without increasing related inventory costs. Durfisgal 2004, brokerage services accounted for aqmately 1.3% of our revenue.

Our brokerage customers generally receivesdmee high level of customer service as our newuaed boat customers. Our waterfront retail
locations enable in-water demonstrations of anitnksokered boat. Our maintenance and repair aesyincluding mobile service, also are
generally available to our brokerage customers.piirehaser of a Sea Ray boat brokered throughsoscah take advantage of MarineMax
Getawaysweekend and day trips and other rendezvous gatieeaind in-water events, as well as boat operatidrsafety seminars. We believe
that the array of services we offer are uniquénetirokerage business.
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Retail Locations

We sell our recreational boats and other negpimoducts and offer our related boat serviceautiid®7 retail locations in Alabama, Arizona,
California, Colorado, Delaware, Florida, Georgiaayland, Minnesota, Nevada, New Jersey, North @GapDhio, South Carolina, Texas, and
Utah. Each retail location generally includes asoimr showroom (including some of the industry’gkst indoor boat showrooms) and an outside
area for displaying boat inventories, a businefisefo assist customers in arranging financing iasdrance, and maintenance and repair
facilities.

Many of our retail locations are waterfronbperties on some of the nation’s most popular bgdtications, including the Delta Basin and
Mission Bay in California; multiple locations onetlintracoastal Waterway, the Atlantic Ocean, BiseaBay, Naples Bay (next to the Gulf of
Mexico), Tampa Bay, and the Caloosahatchee RivEtdrida; Lake Lanier and Lake Altoona in Geordiapch Lake and the St. Croix River in
Minnesota; Barnegat Bay, the Delaware River, thdddn River, Lake Hopatcong, Little Egg Harbor, #mel Manasquan River in New Jersey;
Lake Erie in Ohio; Clear Lake, Lake Canroe, andd_hkwisville in Texas; and Chesapeake Bay in Manyl&ur waterfront retail locations, me
of which include marina-type facilities and docksvich we display our boats, are easily accessibtbe boating populace, serve as in-water
showrooms, and enable the sales force to give mgs®immediate invater demonstrations of various boat models. Mbstuo other locations a
in close proximity to water.

We plan to reach new customers by expandimgwn locations through various innovative retaihfiats, such as mall stores and floating retail
facilities. Our mall store concept is unique to bmating industry and is designed to draw malficathereby providing exposure to boating to the
non-boating public as well as displaying our newdurct offerings to boating enthusiasts. Floatirtgitéacilities place the sales facility, with a
customer reception area and sales offices, ondaraaad to a dock in a marina and use adjacentdbipatto display new and used boats in areas of
high boating activity.

Operations
Dealership Operations and Manageme

We have adopted a generally decentralizedoggprto the operational management of our deafesstihile certain administrative functions
are centralized at the corporate level, local marmant is primarily responsible for the day-to-dagm@tions of the retail locations. Each retail
location is managed by a store manager, who ovetbeeday-to-day operations, personnel, and fisdparformance of the individual store,
subject to the direction of a district manager, wleaerally has responsibility for the retail looat within a specified geographic region.
Typically, each retail location also has a staffisisting of a sales manager, an F&l manager, & pad service manager, sales representatives,
maintenance and repair technicians, and variousastipersonnel.

We attempt to attract and retain quality erppls at our retail locations by providing them watigoing training to enhance sales
professionalism and product knowledge, career atbraent opportunities within a larger company, adfable benefit packages. We mainta
formal training program, called MarineMax Univeysitr “MMU,” which provides training for employees all aspects of our operations. Training
sessions are held at our various regional locationering a variety of topics. MMU-online offersri@us modules over the Internet. Highly
trained, professional sales representatives anamportant factor to our successful sales effortese sales representatives are trained at MMU to
recognize the importance of fostering an enjoyahles process, to educate customers on the opeeatibuse of the boats, and to assist custc
in making technical and design decisions in boatipases. The overall focus of MMU is to teach arecaetailing values, which focus on
customer service.

Sales representatives receive compensatiaragty on a commission basis. Each store managesaaried employee with incentive bonuses
based on the performance of the managed dealeMhiptenance and repair service managers receiv@ensation on a salary basis with
bonuses based on the performance of their depatdm@ar management information system provides stare and department manager with
daily financial and operational information, enalglthem to monitor their performance on a dailyekig, and monthly basis. We have a uniform,
fully integrated management information system isgreach of our dealerships.
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Sales and Marketing

Our sales philosophy focuses on selling tleaglres of the boating lifestyle. We believe thatdritical elements of our sales philosophy
include our appealing retail locations, our lmassle sales approach, highly trained sales repiegsees, high level of customer service, emphas
educating the customer and the customer’s familpaat usage, and providing our customers with dppdies for boating. We strive to provide
superior customer service and support before, duand after the sale.

Each retail location offers the customer thpartunity to evaluate a large variety of new asddiboats in a comfortable and convenient
setting. Our full-service retail locations facitisa turn-key purchasing process that includeadite lender financing packages, extended service
agreements, and insurance. Many of our retail iooatare located on waterfronts and marinas, waitfact boating enthusiasts and enable
customers to operate various boats prior to ma&ipgrchase decision.

We sell our boats at posted value pricesghatrally represent a discount from the manufactuseiggested retail price. Our sales approach
focuses on customer service by minimizing custoamedety associated with price negotiation.

As a part of our sales and marketing effaris,also participate in boat shows and in-the-wsddes events at area boating locations, typically
held in January and February, in each of our maréetl in certain locations in close proximity to markets. These shows and events are
normally held at convention centers or marinash\aiea dealers renting space. Boat shows and affisée promotions are an important venue
generating sales orders. The boat shows also gersesignificant amount of interest in our produetsulting in boat sales after the show.

We emphasize customer education through orerereducation by our sales representatives astnae¢ locations, our delivery captains,
before and after a sale, and through in-house semfor the entire family on boat safety, the use @peration of boats, and product
demonstrations. Typically, one of our delivery @aps or the sales representative delivers the meste boat to an area boating location and
thoroughly instructs the customer about the opematf the boat, including hands-on instructionsdocking and trailering the boat. To enhance
our customer relationships after the sale, we &atisponsor MarineMa&etawaysgroup boating trips to various destinations, rendas
gatherings, and on-the-water organized eventspttoamote the pleasures of the boating lifestyle hEmampany-sponsored event, planned and led
by a company employee, also provides a favorabiumefor acclimating new customers to boating anabdes us to promote actively new
product offerings to boating enthusiasts.

As a result of our relative size, we believe lvave a competitive advantage within the indusyrpeing able to conduct an organized and
systematic advertising and marketing effort. PaAduw marketing effort includes an integrated pextpnanagement system that tracks the status
of each sales representative’s contacts with gopaisautomatically generates follow-up correspocdefacilitates compamyide availability of ¢
particular boat or other marine product desire@lzyistomer, and tracks the maintenance and serg&ds for the customer’s boat.

Suppliers and Inventory Manageme!

We purchase substantially all of our new boagntory directly from manufacturers, which alleezaew boats to dealerships based on the
amount of boats sold by the dealership. We alsbaxge new boats with other dealers to accommodatermer demand and to balance
inventory.

We purchase new boats and other marine-refatatlicts from Brunswick, which is the world’s lasg manufacturer of marine products,
including Sea Ray, Boston Whaler, Baja, HatteraisicBcraft, and Meridian. We also purchase newsaat other marine related products from
other manufacturers, including Bertram, Centuryyéit, Grady White, MB Sports, Sea Pro, and Tradkarine. In fiscal 2004, sales of new
Brunswick boats accounted for approximately 60%wfrevenue. No other manufacturer accounted faerttean 10% of our
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revenue in fiscal 2004. We believe our Sea Ray poathases represented approximately 34% of nevR8gdoat sales and in excess of 10% of
all Brunswick marine product sales during fiscaD20

Through operating subsidiaries, we have edtent® agreements with Brunswick covering Sea Raylpcts. The dealer agreements with the
Sea Ray division of Brunswick do not restrict oight to sell any Sea Ray product lines or competirggucts. The terms of the multi-year dealer
agreements appoint us as the non-exclusive dealéhé retail sale, display, and servicing of deatgd Sea Ray products and repair parts
currently or in the future sold by Sea Ray in tlesignated geographic areas.

The dealer agreement with Ferretti Group aedrBm does not restrict our right to sell any E#rnGroup and Bertram product lines but has
certain restrictions relating to competing produg@tse three-year dealer agreement appoints usaxtiusive dealer for the retail sale, display,
and servicing of designated Ferretti Group andrBertproducts and repair parts currently or in titare sold by Ferretti Group and Bertram in
designated geographic areas.

Arrangements with certain other manufactuneay restrict our right to offer some product limesertain markets.

We typically deal with each of our manufactare@ther than the Sea Ray division of Brunswiakrétti Group, and Bertram, under an annually
renewable, non-exclusive dealer agreement. Manufast generally establish prices on an annual pasisnay change prices in their sole
discretion. Manufacturers typically discount thetcof inventory and offer inventory financing asaiece during the manufacturers’ slow seasons,
generally October through March. To obtain lowestaaf inventory, we strive to capitalize on thesanufacturer incentives to take product
delivery during the manufacturers’ slow seasonss permits us to gain pricing advantages and bpttetuct availability during the selling
season.

We transfer individual boats among our rdtaihtions to fill customer orders that otherwisghtitake substantially longer to fill from the
manufacturer. This reduces delays in delivery, fiefpmaximize inventory turnover, and assists immizing potential overstock or out-of-stock
situations. We actively monitor our inventory levéb maintain levels appropriate to meet curretitgrated market demands. We are not bound
by contractual agreements governing the amounmtwaritory that we must purchase in any year fromraagufacturer, but the failure to purchase
at agreed upon levels may result in the loss dhsemanufacturer incentives. We participate in eumas end-of-summer manufacturer boat
shows, which manufacturers sponsor to sell offrttenaining inventory at reduced costs before ttr@duction of new model year products,
typically beginning in July.

Inventory Financing

Marine manufacturers customarily provide ies#rassistance programs to retailers. The intasss$tance varies by manufacturer and may
include periods of free financing or reduced insérate programs. The interest assistance mayillelpactly to the retailer or the financial
institution depending on the arrangements the natufer has established. We believe that our fimgrarrangements with manufacturers are
standard within the industry.

In March 2003, the Emerging Issues Task F@tEF) of the Financial Accounting Standards Bo@fASB) revised certain provisions of its
previously reached conclusions on EITF 02-16, “Agtting by a Customer (Including a Reseller) fort@ier Consideration Received from a
Vendor” (EITF 02-16), and provided additional traiesmal guidance. EITF 02-16 does not provide fstatement or reclassification of prior year
amounts; rather, it requires prospective applicetoy new agreements or modifications of existiggements entered into subsequent to
December 31, 2002. We determined that EITF 02-Jfaits the way we account for interest assistaramved from vendors beginning after
July 1, 2003 with the renewal of and amendmentaitadealer agreements with the manufacturers opmducts. EITF 02-16 most significantly
requires us to classify interest assistance reddigen manufacturers as a reduction of inventorst emd related cost of sales as opposed to n
the assistance against our interest expense imcwith our lenders.
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Our revolving credit facility currently proved us with a line of credit with asset-based boimgvavailability of up to $260 million for working
capital and inventory financing and an additiorz0 $nillion for traditional floorplan borrowings,laf which are determined pursuant to a
borrowing base formula. The credit facility requsings to satisfy certain covenants, including maiimg a tangible net worth ratio. The credit
facility currently matures in December 2006, witlotone-year renewal options remaining. The crexditlity was last amended in January 2004 to
extend the terms, increase the borrowing avaitgb#ind add a lender.

As of September 30, 2004, we owed an aggregapproximately $153.0 million under our revolgiaredit facility. As of September 30,
2004, our revolving credit facility provided us tian additional available borrowing capacity of mpgmately $65.9 million. Advances on the
facility accrued interest at a rate of 3.4% aseft8mber 30, 2004. We were in compliance with@lemants in the facility as of September 30,
2004.

Management Information Syster

We believe that our management informationesyswhich currently is being utilized by each aof @perating subsidiaries and was developed
over a number of years through cooperative effwitis the vendor, enhances our ability to integsatecessfully the operations of our operating
subsidiaries and future acquisitions, facilitates interchange of information, and enhances crellisig opportunities throughout our company.
The system integrates each level of operations @mgany-wide basis, including purchasing, inventeeceivables, financial reporting and
budgeting, and sales management. The system enablesnonitor each dealership’s operations in otoléentify quickly areas requiring
additional focus and to manage inventory. The systbso provides sales representatives with prospettustomer information that aids them in
tracking the status of their contacts with prospeatitomatically generates follow-up correspondéncaich prospects, facilitates the availability
of a particular boat company-wide, locates boatslad to satisfy a particular customer requestnaowitors the maintenance and service needs of
customers’ boats. Company representatives aldmeutie system to assist in arranging financingiaadrance packages. In October 2002,
Brunswick acquired the vendor of our managememrimétion system.

Brunswick Agreement Relating to Acquisitions

We and Brunswick are parties to an agreemeviiging for Brunswick to cooperate in good faitidanot to unreasonably withhold its consent
to the acquisitions each year by us of Sea Raydealers with aggregate total revenue not excee2lifgy of our revenue in our prior fiscal year.
Any acquisitions in excess of the 20% benchmarklvélat Brunswicks discretion. In the event that our purchases affSgy boats exceed 49%
the purchases of Sea Ray boats by all Sea Raydbakrs, including us, in any fiscal year of Bruitsythe agreement provides that we and
Brunswick will negotiate in good faith the standafdr acquisitions of Sea Ray boat dealers by usmgBrunswick’s next succeeding fiscal year
but that Brunswick may grant or withhold its corisnany such acquisition in its sole discretionde long as our Sea Ray boat purchases excee
the 49% benchmark.

Dealer Agreements with Brunswick

Brunswick, through its Sea Ray division, arel through our principal operating subsidiaries, @arties to Sales and Service Agreements
relating to Sea Ray products. These dealer agresrappoint one of our operating subsidiaries asreexclusive dealer for the retail sale, disp
and servicing of designated Sea Ray products gradrrparts currently or in the future sold by Seey REach dealer agreement designates a non-
exclusive area of primary responsibility for theae, which is a geographical area in proximityhte dealer’s retail locations based on such areas
that are customarily designated by Sea Ray andcajpye to its domestic dealers. Each dealer agreeatso specifies retail locations, which the
dealer may not close, change, or add to withoupthe written consent of Sea Ray, provided tha Bay may not unreasonably withhold its
consent. Upon at least one year’s prior noticethedailure by the dealer to cure, Sea Ray may ventioe dealer’s right to operate any particular
retail location if the dealer fails to meet its er@l obligations, performance standards, or teposditions, representations, warranties, and
covenants applicable to that location. Each desmdezement also restricts the dealer from sellidgegising, soliciting for sale, or offering for
resale any Sea Ray products outside its area mpyiresponsibility without the prior written coms@f Sea Ray as long as similar restrictions
also apply to all domestic Sea Ray dealers seflorgparable Sea Ray products. Each dealer agregmmdes for the lowest product prices
charged by the Sea Ray division of Brunswick frametto time to other domestic Sea Ray dealers,
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subject to the dealer meeting all the requiremantsconditions of Sea Ray’s applicable programsthedight of Brunswick in good faith to
charge lesser prices to other dealers to meetrxisbmpetitive circumstances, for unusual and aatinary business circumstances, or for lim
duration promotional programs.

Each dealer agreement requires the dealer to
» promote, display, advertise, and sell Sea Ray taiagach of its retail locations in accordance whih agreement and applicable la

» purchase and maintain sufficient inventory ofrent Sea Ray boats to meet the reasonable demamstoimers at each of its locations and
to meet the minimum inventory requirements applieab all Sea Ray dealel

* maintain at each retail location, or at anotleereatable location, a service department to seS@&eRay boats promptly and professionally
and to maintain parts and supplies to service $gabRats properly on a timely bas

» perform all necessary installation and inspecsiervices prior to delivery to purchasers and perfpost-sale services of all Sea Ray
products sold by the dealer or brought to the ddateservice,

« furnish purchasers with Sea Rayimited warranty on new products and with infotima and training as to the sale and proper opmratd
maintenance of Sea Ray bos

 assist Sea Ray in performing any product defectracall campaigns
* maintain complete product sales and service re¢

 achieve sales performance in accordance with falrraasonable sales levels established by SeaaRagconsultation with the dealer, ba
on factors such as population, sales potentiadl leconomic conditions, competition, past salewhjs number of retail locations, and other
special circumstances that may affect the saleafyzts or the dealer, in each case consistentstatidards established for all domestic Sea
Ray dealers selling comparable produ

 provide designated financial informatic

» conduct its business in a manner that presemn@&ahances the reputation of Sea Ray and therdeaferoviding quality products and
services

» maintain the financial ability to purchase and n&imon hand required inventory leve
» indemnify Sea Ray against any claims or lossedtiegudrom the deal¢ s failure to meet its obligations to Sea R
* maintain customer service ratings sufficient tomtain Sea Ré's image in the marketplace; a

 achieve within designated time periods and tHeremaintain master dealer status (which is SedsRdaghest performance status) for the
locations designated by Sea Ray and the de

Each dealer agreement may be terminated

» by Sea Ray if the dealer fails or refuses tog@kaeninimum stocking order of the next model ygaroducts in accordance with requiremt
applicable to all Sea Ray dealers generally os tailmeet its financial obligations as they becolme to Sea Ray or to the de’s lenders
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» by Sea Ray or the dealer where good cause existsifing the material breach, default, or noncoame with any material term, provisic
warranty, or obligation under the agreement) aredriitd been cured within 60 days of prior writtetic® of the claimed deficiency or at the
end of the 6-day period without the opportunity to cure where tlause constitutes bad fai

» by Sea Ray or the dealer in the event of the irsaly, bankruptcy, or receivership of the otl
» by Sea Ray in the event of the assignment of theeagent by the dealer without the prior writtensemt of Sea Ray

* by Sea Ray upon at least 10 days’ prior writtetice in the event of the failure to pay any sums dnd owing to Sea Ray that are not
disputed in good faitt

* by Sea Ray if a majority of our Board of Directaloes not consist of specified senior executinels@ther Designated Members (as defined
in the Stockholde’ Agreement); o

 upon the mutual consent of the dealer and Sea
Employees

As of September 30, 2004, we had 1,500 empkyk 434 of whom were in store-level operatiorts &hof whom were in corporate
administration and management. We are not a paiyy collective bargaining agreements and arewate of any efforts to unionize our
employees. We consider our relations with our eygés to be excellent.

Trademarks and Service Marks

We have registered trade names and trademéttkshe U.S. Patent and Trademark Office for vasimames, including “MarineMax,”
“MarineMax Getaways!,” “MarineMax Care,” “Deliverinthe Dream,” “MarineMax Delivering the Boating [@ra,” and “Newcoast Financial
Services.” We have registered the name “MarineMaxhe European Community. We have trademark agjitins pending with the U.S. Patent
and Trademark Office for “Value Price” and “Womem \W/ater.” We have trade name and trademark apgitepending in Canada for various
names, including “MarineMax,” “MarineMax Value-Pei¢ “Value-Price,” “Delivering the Dream,” “Sellingnd Delivering the Dream,” “Selling
the Dream,” and “The Water Gene.” There can bessorance that any of these applications will batgd

Seasonality and Weather Conditions

Our business, as well as the entire recrealtiooating industry, is highly seasonal, with seadity varying in different geographic markets.
Over the three-year period ended September 30,, 2004verage revenue for the quarters ended Deme®db March 31, June 30, and
September 30 represented approximately 19%, 26%, 80d 25%, respectively, of our average annuamees. With the exception of Florida,
we generally realize significantly lower sales &igher levels of inventories and related short-tbarrowings, in the quarterly periods ending
December 31 and March 31. The onset of the publit &nd recreation shows in January stimulatesdaes and allows us to reduce our
inventory levels and related short-term borrowitigeughout the remainder of the fiscal year.

Our business is also subject to weather pattevhich may adversely affect our results of opena. For example, drought conditions (or
merely reduced rainfall levels) or excessive raiay close area boating locations or render boaktargjerous or inconvenient, thereby curtailing
customer demand for our products. In addition, asseably cool weather and prolonged winter conatitimay lead to a shorter selling season in
certain locations. Hurricanes and other stormsdaoegult in disruptions of our operations or damtageur boat inventories and facilities, as was
the case during fiscal 2004 when Florida and otharkets were affected by four separate hurricali@isough our geographic diversity is likely
reduce the overall impact to us of adverse weather
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conditions in any one market area, these conditighontinue to represent potential, material exbe risks to us and our future financial
performance.

Environmental and Other Regulatory Issues

Our operations are subject to extensive reégmasupervision, and licensing under various fafjestate, and local statutes, ordinances, and
regulations. While we believe that we maintainretjuisite licenses and permits and are in compdiavith all applicable federal, state, and local
regulations, there can be no assurance that wdeglble to maintain all requisite licenses andngtsr The failure to satisfy those and other
regulatory requirements could have a material agveffect on our business, financial condition, eesililts of operations. The adoption of
additional laws, rules, and regulations could d&lave a material adverse effect on our businessotafederal, state, and local regulatory
agencies, including the Occupational Safety andthl@alministration, or OSHA, the United States Eoovimental Protection Agency, or EPA,
and similar federal and local agencies, have jigigh over the operation of our dealerships, refagilities, and other operations with respect to
matters such as consumer protection, workers’gaded laws regarding protection of the environmeruding air, water, and soil.

The EPA has various air emissions regulatfonsutboard marine engines that impose more striussions standards for two-cycle, gasoline
outboard marine engines. Emissions from such esgmest be reduced by approximately 75% over a yaa-period beginning with the 1998
model year. Costs of comparable new engines, i€riglly more expensive than previous engines, eiirability of our manufacturers to comply
with EPA requirements, could have a material adveffect on our business, financial condition, egllts of operations.

Certain of our facilities own and operate wgdeund storage tanks, or USTs, for the storageanbus petroleum products. The USTs are
generally subject to federal, state, and local lamd regulations that require testing and upgradindSTs and remediation of contaminated soils
and groundwater resulting from leaking USTs. Initadid, if leakage from company-owned or operatedi® &igrates onto the property of others,
we may be subject to civil liability to third paet for remediation costs or other damages. Baséistorical experience, we believe that our
liabilities associated with UST testing, upgrades] remediation are unlikely to have a materiakask effect on our financial condition or
operating results.

As with boat dealerships generally, and panis service operations in particular, our busimeaslves the use, handling, storage, and
contracting for recycling or disposal of hazardousoxic substances or wastes, including envirortalgnsensitive materials, such as motor oil,
waste motor oil and filters, transmission fluidtitleeze, freon, waste paint and lacquer thinnattdnies, solvents, lubricants, degreasing agents,
gasoline, and diesel fuels. Accordingly, we argesttito regulation by federal, state, and locahatities establishing requirements for the use,
management, handling, and disposal of these mistaria health and environmental quality standaadd,liability related thereto, and providing
penalties for violations of those standards. Weadge subject to laws, ordinances, and regulagmverning investigation and remediation of
contamination at facilities we operate to whichsead hazardous or toxic substances or wastesefantent, recycling, or disposal.

We do not believe we have any material envirental liabilities or that compliance with enviroantal laws, ordinances, and regulations will,
individually or in the aggregate, have a materihlease effect on our business, financial condit@rresults of operations. However, soil and
groundwater contamination has been known to ekistiain properties owned or leased by us. We his@®been required and may in the future
be required to remove aboveground and undergroionage tanks containing hazardous substances ¢esvass to certain of our properties,
specific releases of petroleum have been or atteeiprocess of being remedied in accordance watie sind federal guidelines. We are monitoring
the soil and groundwater as required by applicatdte and federal guidelines. In addition, the ethalders of the acquired dealers have
indemnified us for specific environmental issuesnitfied on environmental site assessments perfibfogeus as part of the acquisitions. We
maintain insurance for pollutant cleanup and rerhoMae coverage pays for the expenses to extrdkttpots from land or water at the insured
property, if the discharge, dispersal, seepageratian, release, or escape of the pollutants isedby or results from a covered cause of loss. We
may also have additional storage tank liabilityuirgsice and “Superfund” coverage where applicableddition, certain of our retail locations are
located on waterways that are subject to federataie laws regulating navigable waters (includiigpollution prevention), fish and wildlife, and
other matters.
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Two of the properties we own were historicaled as gasoline service stations. Remedial asfitbrrespect to prior historical site activities
on these properties has been completed in accardaitit federal and state law. Also, two of our mdfes are within the boundaries of a
“Superfund” site, although neither property hasrbeer is expected to be identified as a contribtadhe contamination in the area. We, however,
do not believe that these environmental issuesresililt in any material liabilities to us.

Additionally, certain states have requiredar considering requiring a license in order torageea recreational boat. While such licensing
requirements are not expected to be unduly resgictegulations may discourage potential firstetibuyers, thereby limiting future sales, which
could adversely affect our business, financial do, and results of operations.

Product Liability

The products we sell or service may expose gotential liabilities for personal injury or grerty damage claims relating to the use of those
products. Historically, the resolution of produetllity claims has not materially affected our Imess. Our manufacturers generally maintain
product liability insurance, and we maintain thpdrty product liability insurance, which we belieteebe adequate. However, we may experience
legal claims in excess of our insurance coverage tliose claims may not be covered by insuranagh&umore, any significant claims against us
could adversely affect our business, financial dor and results of operations and result in tigggublicity. Excessive insurance claims also
could result in increased insurance premiums.

Competition

We operate in a highly competitive environmémtaddition to facing competition generally fraetreation businesses seeking to attract
consumers’ leisure time and discretionary spendwmitars, the recreational boat industry itselfighty fragmented, resulting in intense
competition for customers, quality products, bdettve space, and suitable retail locations. We mly tertain extent on boat shows to generate
sales. Our inability to participate in boat showsur existing or targeted markets could have a&nwtadverse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

We compete primarily with single-location boaalers and, with respect to sales of marine eagy, parts, and accessories, with national
specialty marine stores, catalog retailers, spgioods stores, and mass merchants. Dealer competiintinues to increase based on the quality
of available products, the price and value of thalpcts, and attention to customer service. Tresggnificant competition both within markets
currently serve and in new markets that we mayrele compete in each of our markets with retaitérisrands of boats and engines we do not
sell in that market. In addition, several of oumpetitors, especially those selling boating acagsspare large national or regional chains that
have substantial financial, marketing, and otheoueces. However, we believe that our integratedarate infrastructure and marketing and sales
capabilities, our cost structure, and our natiomwidesence enable us to compete effectively agdiesé companies. Private sales of used boats i
an additional significant source of competition.
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Executive Officers

The following table sets forth information o@nning each of our executive officers:

Name Age Position

William H. McGill Jr. 61 Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Executifiécér, and
Director

Michael H. McLamb 39 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial OfficBecretary, and
Director

Kurt M. Frahn 36 Vice President of Finance and Treaslt

Jack P. Ezze 34 Vice President, Chief Accounting Officer, and Cafier

Edward A. Russe 44 Vice Presiden

Michael J. Aiello 48 Vice Presiden

Anthony M. Aisquith 37 Vice Presiden

William H. McGill Jr. has served as the Chief Executive Officer of Maviag since January 23, 1998 and as the ChairmamedBoard and as
a director of our company since March 6, 1998. McGill served as the President of our company fdamuary 23, 1988 until September 8, 2000
and re-assumed the position on July 1, 2002. MiGMevas the principal owner and president of GulfdtUSA, Inc., one of our operating
subsidiaries, from 1973 until its merger with us.

Michael H. McLambhas served as Executive Vice President of our copnpace October 2002, as Chief Financial Offidecs January 23,
1998, as Secretary since April 5, 1998, and asexiir of our company since November 1, 2003. McLBmMb served as Vice President and
Treasurer of our company from January 23, 1998 Qutiober 22, 2002. Mr. McLamb, a certified puldiccountant, was employed by Arthur
Andersen, LLP from December 1987 to December 186ing most recently as a senior manager.

Kurt M. Frahnhas served as Vice President of Finance and Trefastiour company since October 22, 2002. Mr. Fredmred as Director of
Taxes and Acquisitions of our company from May 1998 until October 22, 2002. Mr. Frahn was employgdrthur Andersen, LLP from
September 3, 1991 until May 15, 1998, serving mestntly as a tax consulting manager.

Jack P. Ezzehas served as Vice President and Chief Accountiifiged of our company since October 22, 2002 an€aporate Controller
of our company since June 1, 1999. Mr. Ezzell stagAssistant Controller from January 13, 1998 dohe 1, 1999. Mr. Ezzell, a certified
public accountant, was employed by Arthur Anderé&df®, from August 1996 until January 1998, servingstrecently as a senior auditor.

Edward A. Russelias served as Vice President of our company simteb®r 22, 2002. Mr. Russell has served as thedRagjManager of our
Florida operations since August 1, 2002. Priohtat,tMr. Russell served as the District Presidenbpfir Central and West Florida operations from
March 1998 until August 1, 2002. Mr. Russell wasommer and General Sales Manager of Gulfwind USA, lone of our operating subsidiaries,
now called MarineMax of Central Florida, from 19@til its merger with our company in March 1998.

Michael J. Aiellohas served as Vice President of our company simteb®r 22, 2002. Mr. Aiello has served as the ReiManager of the
state of New Jersey and surrounding areas sincg d419@was a principal owner and operator of Meutrikle Inc., one of our operating
subsidiaries, now called MarineMax of Mid-Atlantfepm 1985 until its merger with our company in ar1999.

Anthony M. Aisquitthas served as Vice President of our company simeeidber 1, 2003. Mr. Aisquith has served as thad®ed Manager
of our Georgia, Carolinas, Texas, and Californiaragions since August 1, 2000, March 1, 2002, Masgh?003, and March 1, 2004, respectiv
Mr. Aisquith previously served as the Store Managfesur Tampa, Florida location from October 1, Z9til August 1, 2000 and as a
salesperson in our
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Clearwater, Florida location from June 18, 1995I@¢tober 1, 1997. Mr. Aisquith joined our compamry June 18, 1995 after 10 years of
experience in the auto industry.

Risk Factors

Our success depends to a significant extent on tieentinued popularity and reputation for quality of the boating products of our
manufacturers, particularly Brunswick’'s Sea Ray andHatteras boat lines, and Ferretti Group’s Ferretti Yachts, Riva, Pershing, and
Bertram product lines.

Approximately 60% of our revenue in fiscal Z0@sulted from sales of new boats manufactureBrbpswick, including approximately 45%
from Brunswick’s Sea Ray division and approxima®@¥ from Brunswick’s Hatteras Yacht division. Themainder of our fiscal 2004 revenue
from new boat sales resulted from sales of produets a limited number of other manufacturers, nohehich accounted for more than 10% of
our revenue. Any adverse change in the financiatlitimn, production efficiency, product developmentnagement, marketplace acceptance anc
marketing capabilities of our manufacturers, pattidy Brunswick given our reliance on Sea Ray, idian, and Hatteras, would have a
substantial adverse impact on our business. Adidilip, given the revenue generated by each yachtragayacht sale, any adverse change ir
financial condition, production efficiency, prodwdgvelopment, management, marketplace acceptamdenarketing capabilities of Ferretti Grc
would have a substantial adverse impact on oumnkessi

To ensure adequate inventory levels to supparexpansion, it may be necessary for Brunswitk@her manufacturers to increase produt
levels or allocate a greater percentage of theidyetion to us. The interruption or discontinuantéhe operations of Brunswick or other
manufacturers could cause us to experience sHertfiidruptions, or delays with respect to needeéntory. Although we believe that adequate
alternate sources would be available that coulthoepany manufacturer other than Brunswick as dymosource, those alternate sources may not
be available at the time of any interruption, alidraative products may not be available at compgarguality and prices.

Through our principal operating subsidiari@s,maintain dealer agreements with Brunswick coxg8ea Ray products. Each dealer agree
has a multi-year term and provides for the lowestlipct prices charged by the Sea Ray division ahBwick from time to time to other domestic
Sea Ray dealers. These terms are subject to

« the dealer meeting all the requirements and canditof Sea R¢'s applicable programs; ai
« the right of Brunswick in good faith to charge lessprices to other dealel

— to meet existing competitive circumstanc
— for unusual and nc¢-ordinary business circumstances

— for limited duration promotional programn

The agreements do not give us the exclusive righell Sea Ray product lines within any partictéaritory or restrict us from selling competing
products.

Through certain of our operating subsidiares,also maintain dealer agreements with Hattevasring Hatteras products. Each agreement
allows Hatteras to revise prices at any time, arwh :1ew prices will supersede previous prices. lrRunsto the agreement, we must bear any Ic
we incur as a result of such price changes andmotisecover from Hatteras for any losses. In addjtcertain of our operating subsidiaries may
not represent manufacturers or product lines thatpete directly with Hatteras without its prior tien consent.
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As is typical in the industry, we deal with mudacturers, other than the Sea Ray division ohBwick, Ferretti Group, and Bertram, under
renewable annual dealer agreements. These agreedtenbt contain any contractual provisions coriagrproduct pricing or required purchas
levels. Pricing is generally established on a mgeal basis, but is subject to change in the matwfar’s sole discretion. Any change or
termination of these arrangements for any reasatda@dversely affect product availability and castl our financial performance.

Our operations depend upon a number of factors reliéng to or affecting consumer spending for luxury @ods, such as recreational boats.

Unfavorable local, regional, national, or gidbeconomic developments or uncertainties regarfilinge economic prospects could reduce
consumer spending in the markets we serve and selyaffect our business. Consumer spending omyuyoods also may decline as a result of
lower consumer confidence levels, even if prevgitonomic conditions are favorable. In an econatoignturn, consumer discretionary
spending levels generally decline, at times resglin disproportionately large reductions in thke s luxury goods. Similarly, rising interest ra
could have a negative impact on the ability orimglhess of consumers to finance boat purchaseshwoiuld also adversely affect our ability to
sell our products and impact the profitability efrdinance and insurance activities. Local influesicsuch as corporate downsizing and military
base closings, also could adversely affect ouraijmars in certain markets. We may be unable to taairour profitability during any period of
adverse economic conditions or low consumer confideChanges in federal and state tax laws, suah asposition of luxury taxes on new boat
purchases, and stock market performance also aufllénce consumers’ decisions to purchase produetsffer and could have a negative effect
on our sales. For example, during 1991 and 199%teral government imposed a luxury tax on newesgtonal boats with sales prices in excess
of $100,000, which coincided with a sharp decliméoating industry sales from a high of more than.$ billion in the late 1980s to a low of
$10.3 hillion in 1992.

General economic conditions that impact the recre&nal boating industry could inhibit our growth and negatively impact our
profitability.

General economic conditions, consumer spengtitigerns, federal tax policies, interest rate lgvaend the cost and availability of fuel can
impact overall boat purchases. We believe thatehel of boat purchases has been adversely affésgtéucreased competition from other
recreational activities, perceived hassles of baatership, and relatively poor customer service egacation throughout the retail boat industry.
Although our strategy addresses many of these indfectors and we have expanded our operationsglperiods of stagnant or declining
industry trends, the cyclical nature of the redogst! boating industry or the lack of industry gtbveould adversely affect our business, financial
condition, or results of operations in the future.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to cdimue to make successful acquisitions and to integte the operations of acquired dealers
and each dealer we acquire in the future.

Since March 1, 1998, we have acquired 18 egicneal boat dealers, two boat brokerage operatams a full-service yacht repair facility. Each
acquired dealer operated independently prior tadtpuisition by us. Our success depends, in pamuo ability to continue to make successful
acquisitions and to integrate the operations otimed dealers and each dealer we acquire in theepincluding centralizing certain functions to
achieve cost savings and pursuing programs anaegses that promote cooperation and the sharingpafraunities and resources among our
dealerships. We may not be able to oversee the io@ehientity efficiently or to implement effectivetyur growth and operating strategies. To the
extent that we successfully pursue our acquisgtoategy, our resulting growth will place signifitadditional demands on our management and
infrastructure. Our failure to pursue successfally acquisition strategies or operate effectivhl ¢ombined entity could have a material adverse
effect on our rate of growth and operating perfarosa

Unforeseen expenses, difficulties, and delays fregutly encountered in connection with rapid expansio through acquisitions could inhibit
our growth and negatively impact our profitability.

Our growth strategy of acquiring additionatneational boat dealers involves significant risKsis strategy entails reviewing and potentially
reorganizing acquired business operations, corpanftastructure and
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systems, and financial controls. Unforeseen exmemk#iculties, and delays frequently encounteredonnection with rapid expansion through
acquisitions could inhibit our growth and negatwighpact our profitability. We may be unable tordiéy suitable acquisition candidates or to
complete the acquisitions of candidates that watifie Increased competition for acquisition caratis or increased asking prices by acquisition
candidates may increase purchase prices for atiqonisio levels beyond our financial capabilityteidevels that would not result in the returns
required by our acquisition criteria. Acquisitioaiso may become more difficult in the future asagquire more of the most attractive dealers. In
addition, we may encounter difficulties in integnatthe operations of acquired dealers with our owerations or managing acquired dealers
profitably without substantial costs, delays, drestoperational or financial problems.

We may issue common or preferred stock andrisgbstantial indebtedness in making future adipis. The size, timing, and integration of
any future acquisitions may cause substantialdlatidns in operating results from quarter to qua@ensequently, operating results for any
quarter may not be indicative of the results thay e achieved for any subsequent quarter or folt fiscal year. These fluctuations could
adversely affect the market price of our commolsto

Our ability to continue to grow through theyaisition of additional dealers will depend upomiwas factors, including the following:
« the availability of suitable acquisition candidat¢sttractive purchase price

« the ability to compete effectively for availableqaésition opportunities

« the availability of funds or common stock with dfsient market price to complete the acquisitio

« the ability to obtain any requisite manufacturegovernmental approvals; a

« the absence of one or more manufacturers attegiftiimpose unsatisfactory restrictions on usonnection with their approval of
acquisitions

As a part of our acquisition strategy, we freqtly engage in discussions with various recreatiboat dealers regarding their potential
acquisition by us. In connection with these dismrss we and each potential acquisition candidatba@nge confidential operational and financial
information, conduct due diligence inquiries, antsider the structure, terms, and conditions ofpibtential acquisition. In certain cases, the
prospective acquisition candidate agrees not ttudisa potential acquisition with any other paotyd specific period of time, grants us an option
to purchase the prospective dealer for a desigmated during a specific time, and agrees to takemactions designed to enhance the possibility
of the acquisition, such as preparing audited fifernnformation and converting its accounting systto the system specified by us. Potential
acquisition discussions frequently take place @ieng period of time and involve difficult busiseistegration and other issues, including in
some cases, management succession and relatedsmasta result of these and other factors, a numbgotential acquisitions that from time to
time appear likely to occur do not result in birgliegal agreements and are not consummated.

We may be required to obtain the consent of Brunswk and various other manufacturers prior to the acaisition of other dealers.

In determining whether to approve acquisitjonanufacturers may consider many factors, inclydior financial condition and ownership
structure. Manufacturers also may impose condit@mmgranting their approvals for acquisitions, utthg a limitation on the number of their
dealers that we may acquire. Our ability to meetufizcturers’ requirements for approving future asijons will have a direct bearing on our
ability to complete acquisitions and effect ourwtio strategy. There can be no assurance that afaacer will not terminate its dealer
agreement, refuse to renew its dealer agreeméuaseréo approve future acquisitions, or take ottetion that could have a material adverse effect
on our acquisition program.
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We and Brunswick have entered into an agreépreriding for Brunswick to cooperate in good lfieétnd not to unreasonably withhold its
consent to the acquisitions each year by us ofR&gaboat dealers with aggregate total revenuexuaezling 20% of our revenue in our prior
fiscal year. Any acquisitions in excess of the 208achmark will be at Brunswick’s discretion. In #xent that our purchases of Sea Ray boats
exceed 49% of the purchases of Sea Ray boats BgalRay boat dealers, including us, in any figeal of Brunswick, the agreement provides
that we and Brunswick will negotiate in good faitie standards for acquisitions of Sea Ray boatdgaly us during Brunswick’s next succeeding
fiscal year, but that Brunswick may grant or withthits consent to any such acquisition in its shferetion for as long as our Sea Ray boat
purchases exceed the 49% benchmark.

Our growth strategy also entails expandingpmoduct lines and geographic scope by obtainintjtiathal distribution rights from our existing
and new manufacturers. We may not be able to sexlditional distribution rights or obtain suitalslkernative sources of supply if we are unable
to obtain such distribution rights. The inabilityexpand our product lines and geographic scopblaining additional distribution rights could
have a material adverse effect on the growth aafitability of our business.

Boat manufacturers exercise substantial control oveour business.

We depend on our dealer agreements. Througlerdagreements, boat manufacturers, including 8xick, exercise significant control over
their dealers, restrict them to specified locatj@rsl retain approval rights over changes in mamagé and ownership, among other things. The
continuation of our dealer agreements with mostuferturers, including Brunswick, depends upon, agnather things, our achieving stated g
for customer satisfaction ratings and market sparetration in the market served by the applicebldership. Failure to meet the customer
satisfaction, market share goals, and other canditset forth in any dealer agreement could hatiewsconsequences, including the following:

« the termination of the dealer agreemt

« the imposition of additional conditions in subseofudealer agreement

« limitations on boat inventory allocatior

« reductions in reimbursement rates for warranty wamekformed by the deale
* loss of certain manufacturer to dealer incentioe:

« denial of approval of future acquisitior

Our dealer agreements with certain manufagunecluding Brunswick, do not give us the exchesiight to sell those manufacturers’ products
within a given geographical area. Accordingly, anfacturer, including Brunswick, could authorizevtirer dealer to start a new dealership in
proximity to one or more of our locations, or ars@ing dealer could move a dealership to a locatiat would be directly competitive with us.
These events could have a material adverse effeatiocompetitive position and financial performanc

The failure to receive rebates and other dealer irentives on inventory purchases could substantiallieduce our margins.

We rely on manufacturers’ programs that previttentives for dealers to purchase and sellqaati boat makes and models or for consumers
to buy particular boat makes or models. Any elirtioves, reductions, limitations, or other changdatiieg to rebate or incentive programs that
have the effect of reducing the benefits we receaudd increase the effective cost of our boat pases, reduce our margins and competitive
position, and have a material adverse effect orfinancial performance.
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Our growth strategy may require us to secure signi€ant additional capital, the amount of which willdepend upon the size, timing, and
structure of future acquisitions and our working cepital and general corporate needs.

If we finance future acquisitions in wholeiomart through the issuance of common stock ourstées convertible into or exercisable for
common stock, existing stockholders will experiedietion in the voting power of their common staakd earnings per share could be negati
impacted. The extent to which we will be able ollimg to use our common stock for acquisitions wi#ipend on the market value of our common
stock from time to time and the willingness of puial sellers to accept our common stock as fupartial consideration. Our inability to use our
common stock as consideration, to generate cashdperations, or to obtain additional funding thgbwebt or equity financings in order to
pursue our acquisition program could materiallyifiour growth.

Any borrowings made to finance future acqioss or for operations could make us more vulneraébla downturn in our operating results, a
downturn in economic conditions, or increases tariest rates on borrowings that are subject taestaate fluctuations. If our cash flow from
operations is insufficient to meet our debt servaguirements, we could be required to sell add#i@quity securities, refinance our obligations,
or dispose of assets in order to meet our debtcgergquirements. In addition, our credit arrangetsieontain financial and operational covenants
and other restrictions with which we must comphgliiding limitations on capital expenditures anel itlcurrence of additional indebtedness.
Adequate financing may not be available if and wivermeed it or may not be available on terms aat®#pto us. The failure to obtain sufficient
financing on favorable terms and conditions cowduéna material adverse effect on our growth praspsed our business, financial condition, and
results of operations.

Our current revolving credit facility providedine of credit with asset-based borrowing avality of up to $260 million and allows us $20
million in traditional floorplan borrowings. We hawledged certain of our assets, principally boe¢mtories, to secure borrowings under our
credit facility. While we believe we will continute obtain adequate financing from lenders, sucarfiing may not be available to us.

Our internal growth and operating strategies of opaing new locations and offering new products invole risk.

In addition to pursuing growth by acquiringalbdealers, we intend to continue to pursue aegyabf growth through opening new retail
locations and offering new products in our existamgl new territories. Accomplishing these goalseiansion will depend upon a number of
factors, including the following:

« our ability to identify new markets in which we cabtain distribution rights to sell our existingamsiditional product lines

« our ability to lease or construct suitable fa@ltiat a reasonable cost in existing or new mar

* our ability to hire, train, and retain qualifiedrpennel;

« the timely integration of new retail locations irggisting operations

« our ability to achieve adequate market penetraiciavorable operating margins without the acqioisiof existing dealers; ar
« our financial resource

Our dealer agreements with Brunswick requinenBwick’s consent to open, close, or change ritedltions that sell Sea Ray products, and
other dealer agreements generally contain similavipions. We may not be able to open and opemteretail locations or introduce new prod
lines on a timely or profitable basis. Moreovekg ttosts associated with opening new retail locat@rintroducing new product lines may
adversely affect our profitability.
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As a result of these growth strategies, weeekip expend significant time and effort in opgnamd acquiring new retail locations and
introducing new products. Our systems, procedwestrols, and financial resources may not be adedoasupport our expanding operations.
inability to manage our growth effectively couldveaa material adverse effect on our business, €imshnondition, and results of operations.

Our planned growth also will impose signifitadded responsibilities on members of senior mamagt and require us to identify, recruit,
integrate additional senior level managers. We n@ybe able to identify, hire, or train suitablaeldidns to management.

Our business, as well as the entire recreational lting industry, is highly seasonal, with seasonalitvarying in different geographic
markets. In addition, weather conditions may adversly impact our business.

During the three-year period ended SeptemBg2@04, the average revenue for the quarterlyogeréended December 31, March 31, June 30,
and September 30 represented 19%, 26%, 30%, andraSpectively, of our average annual revenuesh Wi exception of Florida, we generally
realize significantly lower sales in the quartgrriods ending December 31 and March 31. The afgbe public boat and recreation shows in
January stimulates boat sales and allows us taeedur inventory levels and related short-term dweings throughout the remainder of the fiscal
year. Our business could become substantially m@asonal as we acquire dealers that operate iera@dions of the United States.

Weather conditions may adversely impact owrating results. For example, drought conditioaduced rainfall levels, and excessive rain
force boating areas to close or render boating el@ug or inconvenient, thereby curtailing custod@nand for our products. In addition,
unseasonably cool weather and prolonged winteriiond may lead to shorter selling seasons in gelteations. Hurricanes and other storms
could result in the disruption of our operationglamage to our boat inventories and facilities as the case during fiscal 2004 when Florida and
other markets were affected by four separate ramds. Many of our dealerships sell boats to custefoe use on reservoirs, thereby subjecting
our business to the continued viability of thessereoirs for boating use. Although our geograplvexsity and our future geographic expansion
will reduce the overall impact on us of adversetiweaconditions in any one market area, weatheditions will continue to represent potential
material adverse risks to us and our future opgggierformance. As a result of the foregoing am@iofactors, our operating results in some f.
guarters could be below the expectations of stoakkat analysts and investors.

We face intense competition.

We operate in a highly competitive environméntaddition to facing competition generally fraran-boating recreation businesses seeking to
attract discretionary spending dollars, the redoeat boat industry itself is highly fragmented andolves intense competition for customers,
product distribution rights, and suitable retaiddtions, particularly on or near waterways. Contjpetiincreases during periods of stagnant
industry growth.

We compete primarily with single-location boaalers and, with respect to sales of marine pactessories, and equipment, with national
specialty marine parts and accessories storedpgatailers, sporting goods stores, and masshmeats. Competition among boat dealers is b
on the quality of available products, the price aallie of the products, and attention to custoreerise. There is significant competition both
within markets we currently serve and in new magltkat we may enter. We compete in each of our etarkith retailers of brands of boats and
engines we do not sell in that market. In additeeyeral of our competitors, especially thosesglinarine equipment and accessories, are large
national or regional chains that have substarnitialnicial, marketing, and other resources. Privakessof used boats represent an additional source
of competition.

Due to various matters, including environméotacerns, permitting and zoning requirements @rdpetition for waterfront real estate, some
markets in the U.S. have experienced an increaséithg list for marina and storage availability.deneral, the markets in which we currently
operate are not experiencing any unusual diffiealtHowever, marine retail activity could be adebreffected in markets that do not have
sufficient marine and storage availability to sgtidemand.
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We depend on income from financing, insurance, anextended service contracts.

A portion of our income results from referfeés derived from the placement or marketing ofouer F&I products, consisting of customer
financing, insurance products, and extended seongoéracts, the most significant component of whscthe participation and other fees resulting
from our sale of customer financing contracts. Bgfiscal 2004, F&I products accounted for appraadety 4% of our revenue.

The availability of financing for our boat phiasers and the level of participation and othes fee receive in connection with such financing
depend on the particular agreement between ushanénder and the current rate environment. Lenuessimpose terms in their boat financing
arrangements with us that may be unfavorable tr @sir customers, resulting in reduced demand diorcastomer financing programs and lower
participation and other fees.

The reduction of profit margins on sales ofl p8oducts or the lack of demand for or the unakility of these products could have a material
adverse effect on our operating margins.

We depend on key personnel.

Our success depends, in large part, uponahtintiing efforts and abilities of our executivdiodrs. Although we have an employment
agreement with certain of our executive officerg,s@nnot assure that these or other executivemegbwill remain with us. Our expanding
operations may require us to add additional exeeytersonnel in the future. As a result of our déredized operating strategy, we also rely on
management teams of our operating subsidiariesddition, we likely will depend on the senior maaaent of any significant businesses we
acquire in the future. The loss of the servicesred or more of these key employees before we degt@lattract and retain qualified replacement
personnel could adversely affect our business.

The products we sell or service may expose us totpatial liability for personal injury or property d amage claims relating to the use of
those products.

Manufacturers of the products we sell gengralhintain product liability insurance. We also ntain thirdparty product liability insurance tt
we believe to be adequate. We may experience clhiatsare not covered by or that are in excessipfrisurance coverage. The institution of any
significant claims against us could subject usamadges, result in higher insurance costs, and barrbusiness reputation with potential
customers.

Environmental and other regulatory issues may impatcour operations.

Our operations are subject to extensive reégmasupervision, and licensing under various fafjestate, and local statutes, ordinances, and
regulations. The failure to satisfy those and otkegulatory requirements could have a material esdveffect on our business, financial condition,
and results of operations.

Various federal, state, and local regulat@grecies, including OSHA or the EPA, and similareied and local agencies, have jurisdiction over
the operation of our dealerships, repair facilitesd other operations, with respect to matterh siscconsumer protection, workers’ safety, and
laws regarding protection of the environment, idahg air, water, and soil. The EPA recently pronatigl emissions regulations for outboard
marine engines that impose stricter emissions ataisdor two-cycle, gasoline outboard marine ergjifignissions from such engines must be
reduced by approximately 75% over a nine-year pdviginning with the 1998 model year. Costs of caraple new engines, if materially more
expensive than previous engines, or the inabifityuy manufacturers to comply with EPA requirementaild have a material adverse effect on
our business, financial condition, and resultsprations.

Certain of our facilities own and operate U$drsthe storage of various petroleum products. 88 generally subject to federal, state, and
local laws and regulations that require testing @pgrading of USTs and remediation of contaminatats and groundwater resulting from
leaking USTs. In addition, we may be subject tadl diability to third parties for remediation costs other damages if leakage from our owned or
operated USTs migrates onto the property of others.
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Our business involves the use, handling, g@rand contracting for recycling or disposal afdrdous or toxic substances or wastes, including
environmentally sensitive materials, such as moilpmwaste motor oil and filters, transmission fluantifreeze, freon, waste paint and lacquer
thinner, batteries, solvents, lubricants, degrepagents, gasoline, and diesel fuels. Accordinglyare subject to regulation by federal, state, and
local authorities establishing investigation andltreand environmental quality standards, and liighrielated thereto, and providing penalties for
violations of those standards.

We also are subject to laws, ordinances, agdlations governing investigation and remediatiboontamination at facilities we operate or to
which we send hazardous or toxic substances oewdst treatment, recycling, or disposal. In paittic, the Comprehensive Environmental
Response, Compensation and Liability Act, or CERGItASuperfund,” imposes joint, strict, and sevdiatbility on

» owners or operators of facilities at, from, or thigh a release of hazardous substances has occ
* parties who generated hazardous substances thatgleased at such facilities; ¢
 parties who transported or arranged for the tramiapon of hazardous substances to such facili

A majority of states have adopted “Superfund” segicomparable to and, in some cases, more sttitlgam CERCLA. If we were to be found to
be a responsible party under CERCLA or a similaresstatute, we could be held liable for all inigegfve and remedial costs associated with
addressing such contamination. In addition, claaffeging personal injury or property damage mapilmight against us as a result of alleged
exposure to hazardous substances resulting froroprmations. In addition, certain of our retaildtions are located on waterways that are subject
to federal or state laws regulating navigable vwga(ercluding oil pollution prevention), fish andldlife, and other matters.

Soil and groundwater contamination has beewkrto exist at certain properties owned or ledseds. We have also been required and m
the future be required to remove aboveground adiéngmound storage tanks containing hazardous sutesar wastes. As to certain of our
properties, specific releases of petroleum have beare in the process of being remediated inralece with state and federal guidelines. We
are monitoring the soil and groundwater as requinedpplicable state and federal guidelines. We alay have additional storage tank liability
insurance and “Superfund” coverage where applicdbigironmental laws and regulations are compleksubject to frequent change.
Compliance with amended, new, or more stringenslanregulations, more strict interpretations aégmg laws, or the future discovery of
environmental conditions may require additionalendlitures by us, and such expenditures may be ialater

Two of the properties we own were historicalfed as gasoline service stations. Remedial agfitbrrespect to prior historical site activities
on these properties has been completed in accardaitit federal and state law. Also, two of our mdfes are within the boundaries of a
“Superfund” site, although neither property hasrbielentified as a contributor to the contaminatiothe area.

Additionally, certain states have requireciar considering requiring a license in order torafeea recreational boat. These regulations could
discourage potential buyers, thereby limiting fetsales and adversely affecting our business,dinhoondition, and results of operations.

Fuel prices and supply may affect our business.

All of the recreational boats we sell are poedeby diesel or gasoline engines. Consequentlintarruption in the supply, or a significant
increase in the price or tax on the sale, of fueh@egional or national basis could have a mdtadeerse effect on our sales and operating results
At various times in the past, diesel or gasolire has been difficult to obtain. The supply of fuglay be interrupted, rationing may be imposed,
or the price of or tax on fuels may significanthgiease in the future.
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We must evaluate goodwill and identifiable intangibe assets for impairment annually and we would re@nize an impairment loss if the
carrying amount of goodwill or an identifiable intangible asset exceeds its fair value.

Intangible assets and goodwill represent #oess of the purchase price of businesses acqunatthe fair value of the net tangible assets
acquired at the date of acquisition. We have detexdhthat our most significantly acquired specificalentifiable intangible assets are dealer
agreements, which are indefinite-lived intangibles.

Goodwill and identifiable intangible assete accounted for in accordance with Statement ddriial Accounting Standards No. 141,
“Business Combinations” (SFAS 141), and StateméRirancial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwilld other Intangible Assets” (SFAS
142). SFAS 141 requires business combinations ecbeunted for using the purchase method of acowuand identifiable intangible assets
acquired in a business combination to be recograseaksets and reported separately from goodwil\SS142 requires that goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets no longer be #imed, but instead tested for impairment at leastually and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value matybe recoverable. SFAS 142 was effective forfigears beginning after December 15, 2001,
with early application permitted in certain circuarsces. We elected to early-adopt SFAS 142 asedbéiginning of fiscal 2002.

SFAS 142 required the completion of a traasii impairment test within six months from theedaf initial adoption. We completed the
transitional impairment test, which resulted inimpairment of goodwill or identifiable intangiblssets as of the date of adoption. SFAS 142 alsc
requires that we assess the impairment of idehtdimtangible assets and goodwill at least anguaill whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value matybe recoverable. If the carrying amount of amtéfiable intangible asset or goodwill exce:
its fair value, we would recognize an impairmersisloWe measure any potential impairment based wougbusiness valuation methodologies,
including a projected discounted cash flow methwe.completed the annual impairment test duringdlieth quarter of fiscal 2004, based on
financial information as of the third quarter ddal 2004, which resulted in no impairment of goildwy identifiable intangible assets. To date,
have not recognized any impairment of goodwillderitifiable intangible assets. Prior to the adaptid SFAS 142, all purchase price in excess of
the tangible assets acquired was recorded as ghh@adino identifiable intangible assets were redpgd. Identifiable intangible assets and net
goodwill amount to $5.5 million and $50.3 milliarespectively, as of September 30, 2004.

Impairment of the identifiable intangible asser goodwill or regulatory action that changes ithpairment testing methodology, requires
amortization, or a write-off of identifiable intaibde assets or goodwill may materially and adversdiect the financial position of our company.
A reduction in net income resulting from the impagnt of identifiable intangible assets or goodwily have an adverse impact upon the market
price of our common stock.

A substantial number of shares of our common stoclire subject to a stockholders agreement.

We, Brunswick, William H. McGill Jr., our Chaian of the Board, President, and Chief Executiffec€, and certain retired officers and
directors, are parties to a stockholdegteement, and we and Brunswick are parties tovargance agreement, each dated April 28, 1998 et
to certain limitations, the stockholders’ agreenymatvides various rights of first refusal on théesaf shares of common stock by the parties to the
agreement, particularly in the event that Brunsvaoks not own its targeted investment percentad®%f of our common stock at the time of the
proposed sale or in the event the proposed s&desicompetitor of Brunswick. Among other provissaand subject to certain conditions, the
stockholders’ agreement also requires the paxieste their common stock for nominees for our Hazrdirectors in the election of directors as
determined by our board and to vote their commoaoksin favor of all proposals and recommendatigrzaved by our board of directors and
submitted to a vote of our stockholders. The goarece agreement provides for various terms and tiondiconcerning Brunswick’s participation
in the corporate governance of our company.

As a result, the stockholders’ agreement hedybvernance agreement will have the effect aoksing the control of our directors, executive
officers, and persons associated with them andhmag the effect of delaying or preventing a changmntrol of our company.
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The market price of our common stock could be subj to wide fluctuations as a result of many factors
Factors that could affect the trading price@of common stock include the following:
* variations in operating resuli
« the thin trading volume and relatively small pubfl@at of our common stocl
« the level and success of our acquisition prograchreaw store opening
* variations in sam-store sales
« the success of dealership integrati
« relationships with manufacturel
» changes in earnings estimates published by ana
» general economic, political, and market conditic
» seasonality and weather conditio
» governmental policies and regulatio
« the performance of the recreational boat industryeneral; an
« factors relating to suppliers and competit

In addition, market demand for small-capitaian stocks, and price and volume fluctuationthanstock market unrelated to our performance
could result in significant fluctuations in mark@tce of our common stock. The performance of mmmon stock could adversely affect our
ability to raise equity in the public markets antversely affect our acquisition program.

The issuance of additional common stock in the fute, including shares that we may issue pursuant toption grants and future
acquisitions, may result in dilution in the net targible book value per share of our common stock.

Our board of directors has the legal powerauttiority to determine the terms of an offeringbéres of our capital stock, or securities
convertible into or exchangeable for these shaoethe extent of our shares of authorized and urid€apital stock.

A substantial number of shares are eligible for futire sale.

As of September 30, 2004, there were outstandlb, 711,012 shares of our common stock. Subatymail of these shares are freely tradable
without restriction or further registration undbetsecurities laws, unless held by an “affiliaté"our company, as that term is defined in Rule 144
under the securities laws. Shares held by affgiafeour company, which generally include our dives, officers, and certain principal
stockholders, are subject to the resale limitatmiRule 144 described below. Outstanding share®wfmon stock issued in connection with the
acquisition of any acquired dealers are availabtedsale beginning one year after the respectesdof the acquisitions, subject to compliance
with the provisions of Rule 144 under the secusitavs.

As of September 30, 2004, we had issued optiopurchase approximately 2,451,129 shares oframrstock under our 1998 incentive stock
plan and we issued 335,760 of the 500,000 sharesmimon stock reserved for issuance under our &8g8oyee stock purchase plan. We have
filed a registration statement under the
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securities laws to register the common stock tsbeed under these plans. As a result, sharedisswer these plans will be freely tradable
without restriction unless acquired by affiliatdsoar company, who will be subject to the volumel ather limitations of Rule 144.

We may issue additional shares of common stogkeferred stock under the securities laws asgfany acquisition we may complete in the
future. If issued pursuant to an effective registrastatement, these shares generally will bdyfreadable after their issuance by persons not
affiliated with us or the acquired companies.

We rely on our operating subsidiaries.

We are a holding company, the principal assttghich are the shares of the capital stock omimership interests of our corporate or limited
liability company subsidiaries, including the opérg subsidiaries. As a holding company withoutdpendent means of generating operating
revenue, we depend on dividends and other paynfremtsour subsidiaries to fund our obligations aneletrour cash needs. Financial covenants
under future loan agreements of our subsidiarieglimat our subsidiaries’ ability to make sufficiedividend or other payments to permit us to
fund our obligations or meet our cash needs, inlevhoin part.

We do not pay cash dividends.

We have never paid cash dividends on our comstmck and do not anticipate paying cash dividéndse foreseeable future. Moreover,
financial covenants under certain of our creditliies restrict our ability to pay dividends.

Our stockholders’ rights plan may adversely affecexisting stockholders.

Our Stockholders’ Rights Plan may have theafbf deterring, delaying, or preventing a chaimgeontrol that might otherwise be in the best
interests of our stockholders. Under the Rights P& issued a dividend of one Preferred SharehR@secRight for each share of our common
stock held by stockholders of record as of theeclaisbusiness on September 7, 2001.

In general, subject to certain limited exceps, the stock purchase rights become exercisaide & person or group acquires 15% or more of
our common stock or a tender offer or exchanger ééfie15% or more of our common stock is announmedommenced. After any such event,
our other stockholders may purchase additionaleshaf our common stock at 50% of the then-currearket price. The rights will cause
substantial dilution to a person or group thatraftes to acquire us on terms not approved by ourdoofdirectors. The rights may be redeeme:
us at $0.01 per stock purchase right at any tinieréeny person or group acquires 15% or more obatstanding common stock. The rights
should not interfere with any merger or other besgicombination approved by our board of directne. rights expire on August 28, 2011.

Certain provisions of our restated certificate of hcorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may make ahange in the control of our
company more difficult to complete, even if a changin control were in the stockholders’ interest omight result in a premium over the
market price for the shares held by the stockholdes.

Our certificate of incorporation and bylawside the board of directors into three classesireftbrs elected for staggered three-year terms.
The certificate of incorporation also provides tthet board of directors may authorize the issuaficme or more series of preferred stock from
time to time and may determine the rights, prefeesnprivileges, and restrictions and fix the nundfeshares of any such series of preferred
stock, without any vote or action by our stockhedd& he board of directors may authorize the isseaf preferred stock with voting or
conversion rights that could adversely affect théng power or other rights of the holders of conmstock. The certificate of incorporation also
allows our board of directors to fix the numbedatctors and to fill vacancies on the board oédiors.

We also are subject to the anti-takeover gions of Section 203 of the Delaware General Ceatpmm Law, which prohibits us from engaging
in a “business combination” with an “interestedc&twlder” for a period of
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three years after the date of the transaction iictwtine person became an “interested stockholdetegss the business combination is approved in
a prescribed manner.

Certain of our dealer agreements could alskenitadifficult for a third party to attempt to agige a significant ownership position in our
company. In addition, the stockholders’ agreemeantgovernance agreement will have the effect aiasing the control of our directors,
executive officers, and persons associated witinthe

Our sales of Ferretti Group product may be adversel affected by fluctuations in currency exchange ras between the U.S. dollar and the
Euro.

Products purchased from the Ithlgsed Ferretti Group are subject to fluctuatiorthénEuro to U.S. dollar exchange rate, which wtiety may
impact the retail price at which we can sell sugtdpcts. Accordingly, fluctuations in the valuetbé& Euro as compared with the U.S. dollar may
impact the price points at which we can sell pedifiy Ferretti Group products, and such price paimay not be competitive with other product
lines in the United States. Accordingly, such fluattons in exchange rates ultimately may impacateunt of revenue, cost of goods sold, cash
flows, and earnings we recognize for the Ferrettiup product line. The impact of these currencygtflations could increase, particularly as our
revenue from the Ferretti Group products increasa percentage of our total revenue. We cannofgtrim effects of exchange rate fluctuations
on our operating results. We do not currently idtemengage in foreign currency exchange hedgamgs#ictions to manage our foreign currency
exposure. If and when we do engage in foreign agsrexchange hedging transactions, we cannot aistreur strategies will adequately prot
our operating results from the effects of exchamge fluctuations.

Item 2. Properties

We lease our corporate offices in Clearwditarida. We also lease 43 of our retail locationder leases, many of which contain multi-year
renewal options and some of which grant us affigsit of refusal to purchase the property at failue. In most cases, we pay a fixed rent at
negotiated rates. In substantially all of the leldseations, we are responsible for taxes, utdjtiasurance, and routine repairs and maintenance.
We own the property associated with our 24 oth&ilrcations.

The following table reflects the status, apirate size, and facilities of our various retaitdtions as of the date of this report.

Square Operated
Location Owned or Leased Footage(l) Facilities at Property Since(2) Waterfront
Alabama
Gulf Shores Third-party lease 4,00( Retail and servic 199¢ —
Arizona
Tempe Company owne! 34,00( Retail and servic 199 —
California
Oakland Third-party lease 17,70( Retail and service; 20 198t Alameda Estuary (San
wetslips Francisco Bay
Santa Ros Third-party lease 8,10(¢ Retail and servic 199( —
Sacramenti Company owne! 24,80( Retail and servic 199t —
Sacramento (River Bend)  Third-party lease 50C Retail and service; 20 199¢ Sacramento River
(floating facility) wet slips
San Diegc Third-party lease 9,50(C Retail and servic 200/ —
San Diego Third-party lease 75C Retail and service; 12 1997 Mission Bay
wet slips
Tower Park (near San Third-party lease 40C Retail only 199¢ Sacramento River
Francisco
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Square Operated

Location Owned or Leased Footage(l) Facilities at Property Since(2) Waterfront

Colorado

Denver Third-party lease 16,40( Retail, service, and 200z —
storage

Grand Junction Third-party lease 9,30( Retail, service, and 198¢ —
storage

Delaware

Bear Third-party lease 5,00( Retail and service; 15 199t Between Delaware Bay a
wet slips Chesapeake Be

Florida

Cape Haze Company owned 18,00( Retail, service, and 197z Intracoastal Waterway
storage; 8 wet slip

Clearwater Company owned 42,00( Retail and service; 16 197: Tampa Bay
wet slips

Cocoa Company owne! 15,00( Retail and servic 196¢ —

Coconut Grove Third-party lease 2,00¢ Retail only; 24 wet slip 200z Biscayne Bay

Dania Company owned 32,00( Repair and service; 16 1991 Port Everglades
wet slips

Dania Third-party lease 3,50C Retail only 2001 Port Everglade

Ft Lauderdale Third-party lease 2,40( Retail and service; 12 1977 Intracoastal Waterway
wet slips

Ft Lauderdale Third-party lease 3,80(C Retail only; 4 wet slip: 200z Seminole Rive

Fort Myers Third-party lease 8,00( Retail and service; 18 198: Caloosahatchee River
wet slips

Ft Walton Beacl Third-party lease 4,80( Retail only 200: —

Key Largo Third-party lease 75C Retail only 200z —

Jacksonville Third-party lease 1,00¢ Retail only; 7 wet slip: 199t St Johns Rive

Miami Company owned 7,20C Retail and service; 15 198( Intracoastal Waterway
wet slips

Naples Company owned 19,60( Retail and service; 14 1997 Naples Bay
wet slips

Palm Beach Company owned 22,80( Retail and service; 8 w 199¢ Intracoastal Waterway
slips

Pensacol; Third-party lease 24,30( Retail and servic 197 —

Pompano Beach Company owned 23,00( Retail and service; 16 199( Intracoastal Waterway
wet slips

Sarasota Third-party lease 26,50( Retail, service, and 1972 Sarasota Bay
storage; 15 wet slig

Stuart Company owned 22,40( Retail and service; 6 w 200z Intracoastal Waterway

slips



Stuart

Tampa

Venice

Georgia

Altoona

Company owned

Company ownel

Company owned

Third-party lease

6,70(C

13,10(

62,00(

8,80(

Retail and service; 60
wet slips

Retail and servic

Retail, service, and
storage; 90 wet slif

Retail and service; 4 w
slips
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200z
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Square Operated

Location Owned or Leased Footage(l) Facilities at Property Since(2) Waterfront

Buford (Atlanta) Company owne! 13,50( Retail and servic 2001 —

Cumming (Alanta) Third-party lease 13,00( Retail and service; 50 1981 Lake Lanier
wet slips

Forest Park (Atlanta) Third-party lease 47,30( Retail, service, and 197: —
storage

Maryland

Baltimore Company owne! 19,80( Retail and servic 195¢ —

Chesapeake Bay Company owned 28,40( Retail, service, and 196¢ Gunpowder River
storage; 294 wet slig

Minnesota

Bay Port Third-party lease 45C Retail only; 10 wet slip 199¢ St Croix River

Oakdale Third-party lease 18,50( Retail and servic 1997 —

Rogers Company owned 70,00( Retail, service, and 1991 —
storage

Walker Company owned 76,40( Retail, service, and 198¢ —
storage

Walker Company owned 6,80(C Retail and service; 93 1977 Leech Lake
wet slips

Nevada

Las Vegas Company ownei 21,60( Retail and servic 199( —

New Jersey

Brick Company owned 20,00( Retail and service; 225 1977 Manasquan River
wet slips

Brant Beach Third-party lease 3,80( Retail and service; 36 196¢ Barnegat Bay
wet slips

Greenbrool Third-party lease 18,50( Retail and servic 199t —

Jersey City Third-party lease 50C Retail only; 6 wet slip: 200c Hudson Rive

Lake Hopatcong Third-party lease 4,60( Retail and service; 80 199¢ Lake Hopatcong
wet slips

Ship Bottom Third-party lease 19,30( Retail and servic 197z —

Somers Point Affiliate lease 31,00( Retail and service; 33 1987 Little Egg Harbor Bay
wet slips

North Carolina

Wrightsville Beach Third-party lease 34,50( Retail, service, and 199¢ Intracoastal Waterway
storage

Ohio

Cleveland (Flats Third-party lease 19,00( Retail and servic 199¢ Lake Erie

Port Clinton Third-party lease 63,70( Retail, service, and 197¢ Lake Erie



Port Clinton

Toledo

South Carolina
Myrtle Beach
Texas

Arlington

Third-party lease

Third-party lease

Third-party lease

Third-party lease

93,30(

12,20(

3,50(C

31,00(

storage; 155 wet slig

Retail, service, and
storage

Retail and servic

Retail only

Retail and servic
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Square Operated
Location Owned or Leased Footage(l) Facilities at Property Since(2) Waterfront
Houston Third-party lease 10,00( Retail only (3) 1987 —
Houston Third-party lease 10,00(¢ Retail and servic 1981 —
League City (floating Third-party lease 80C Retail and service; 20 198¢ Clear Lake
facility) (4) wet slips
Lewisville (Dallas) Company ownei 22,00( Retail and servic 199: —
Lewisville (Dallas) (floating Third-party lease 50C Retail only; 20 wet slips 199¢ Lake Lewisville
facility) (5)
Seabrook Company owned 32,00( Retail and service; 30 200z Clear Lake
wet slips
Utah
Salt Lake City Third-party lease 21,20( Retail and servic 197¢ —

(1) Square footage is approximate and does not in@utiede sales space or dock or marina facili

(2) Operated since date is the date the facility washeg by us or opened prior to its acquisition hy

(3) Shares service facility located at the other Hausétail locations

(4) We own the floating facility, however, the relaiock and marina space is leased by us from aniliat&d third party.

(5) Shares service facility located at the other Lellsvetail location.
Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various legal proceedingsirg out of our operations in the ordinary coun$éusiness. We do not believe that such
proceedings, even if determined adversely, willhawmaterial adverse effect on our business, finhoondition, or results of operations.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Holders
Not applicable.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for the Registrant’'s Common Equity and Retat Stockholder Matters

Our common stock has been traded on the Nek Stock Exchange under the symbol HZO since aitinlrpublic offering on June 3, 1998 at
$12.50 per share. The following table sets forhtand low sale prices of the common stock for eadbndar quarter indicated as reported on the
New York Stock Exchangt

High Low

2002

First quarte! $12.6¢ $ 7.65

Second quarte $15.4( $10.8¢

Third quartel $14.1¢ $ 9.0C

Fourth quarte $12.9¢ $ 7.1¢F
2003

First quarte! $13.0¢ $ 8.67

Second quarte $14.5( $ 9.0Z

Third quartel $15.4¢ $12.62

Fourth quarte $19.9( $14.3¢
2004

First quarte! $28.3¢ $18.1(

Second quarte $32.0¢ $23.5¢

Third quartel $28.5¢ $18.0¢

Fourth quarter (through November 30, 20 $30.4: $21.5(

On November 30, 2004, the closing sale prfcauo common stock was $29.40 per share. On Nove®e2004, there were approximately
100 record holders and approximately 4,600 berafainers of our common stock.
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table contains certain finanaald operating data and is qualified by the motaildel consolidated financial statements and
notes thereto included elsewhere in this repore Bdlance sheet data as of September 30, 2002, 2002004 and the statement of operations
data for the fiscal years ended September 30, 233, and 2004 were derived from the consolidfitethcial statements and notes thereto that
have been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, independegistered certified public accounting firm. Theddnce sheet data as of September 30,
2000 and 2001 and the statements of operationdatatize fiscal years ended September 30, 200@a06d were derived from the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto that wedéeaiby Arthur Andersen LLP, independent certiffatblic accountants. The financial data
shown below should be read in conjunction withdbesolidated financial statements and the relatéelsrthereto and “Management’s Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Result©gkrations” included elsewhere in this report.

Fiscal Year Ended September 3(

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
(Amounts in thousands except share and per share tig
Statement of Operations Data
Revenue $ 550,65« $ 504,07: $ 540,71¢ $ 607,50: $ 762,00¢
Cost of sale! 419,08( 383,98« 416,13° 459,72¢ 573,61¢
Gross profil 131,57 120,08 124,57¢ 147,77 188,39:
Selling, general, and administrative exper 92,52( 92,73¢ 95,56 113,29¢ 139,47(
Income from operation 39,05¢ 27,35: 29,01: 34,47: 48,92
Interest expense, n 4,127 2,39¢ 1,26/ 2,471 6,49¢
Income before tax provisic 34,927 24,957 27,74¢ 32,00: 42,42¢
Tax provision 13,53¢ 9,60¢ 10,68t 12,321 16,12¢
Net income $ 21,39 $  15,34¢ $ 17,06t $ 19,68 $  26,29¢
.| .| .| .| .|
Net income per shar
Diluted $ 1.41 $ 1.01 $ 1.1C $ 1.2¢ $ 1.5¢
.| .| .| .| .|
Weighted average number of shal
Diluted 15,204,18 15,238,71 15,540,97 15,671,47 16,666,10
.| .| .| .| .|
Other Data:
Number of retail locations(J 52 53 59 65 67
Sales per store(2) (- $  14,05¢ $ 12,38: $ 12,27 $  11,90( $ 12,83
Samestore sales growth(3) (: 20% (9)% 3% 6% 21%
September 30
2000 2001 2002 2003 2004
Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital $ 40,85 $ 47,445 $ 55,42¢ $ 67,00 $ 88,01
Total asset 231,33( 264,49( 301,14¢ 329,15! 474,35¢
Long-term debt (including current portion) ( 6,28( 8,64( 21,76¢ 22,34: 26,23
Total stockholder equity 112,34( 127,69: 145,19( 166,05t 196,82:

(1) Includes only those retail locations open at peend.

(2) Includes only those stores open for the entirequiey 1:-month period

(3) New and acquired stores are included in the conymtzase at the end of the s’s thirteenth month of operatior
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(4) A store is one or more retail locations that afa@eht or operate as one ent

(5) Amount excludes our shterm borrowings for working capital and inventoiyancing.
Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition, and Results of Operations

We are the largest recreational boat retailéine United States with fiscal 2004 revenue edoae$762 million. Through our current 67 retail
locations in 16 states, we sell new and used rdored boats and related marine products, includingines, trailers, parts, and accessories. We
also arrange related boat financing, insurance gatehded warranty contracts; provide boat repairmaintenance services; offer yacht and boat
brokerage services, and where available, offerasiigh storage accommodations.

MarineMax was incorporated in January 1998.h&/ee significantly expanded our operations throtinghacquisition of 18 recreational boat
dealers, two boat brokerage operations, and ohsdulice yacht repair facility since our formatigks a part of our acquisition strategy, we
frequently engage in discussions with various retimeal boat dealers regarding their potential &ition by us. Potential acquisition discussions
frequently take place over a long period of timd avolve difficult business integration and otl&sues, including in some cases, management
succession and related matters. As a result oétaed other factors, a number of potential acqorstthat from time to time appear likely to oc
do not result in binding legal agreements and ate&eonsummated.

During the fiscal year ended September 3042@@ completed the acquisition of three recreatitat dealers. During June 2004, we
acquired substantially all of the assets, includies) estate, and assumed certain liabilities gfdrial Marine (Imperial), a privately held boat
dealership with locations in Baltimore and the herh Chesapeake area of Maryland, for approxim&@lg million in cash, including acquisition
costs. Imperial operates a highway location andema on the Gunpowder River. Imperial generatga@pmately $12.0 million of revenue in
last completed fiscal year prior to the acquisitibhe acquisition expands our ability to serve comers in the Mid-Atlantic United States boating
community. Additionally, the acquisition allows tescapitalize on Imperial’'s market position anddeage our inventory management and
inventory financing resources over the acquiredtions. The acquisition resulted in the recognitbapproximately $1.1 million in tax
deductible goodwill, including acquisition costagdaapproximately $580,000 in tax deductible indiégitived intangible assets (dealer
agreements). Imperial has been included in ourdamaed financial statements since the date ofisdipn.

During June 2004, we purchased inventory amthin equipment and assumed certain liabilitiemfthe previous Jacksonville, Florida-based
Sea Ray dealer (Jacksonville) for the sport bodtsgort cruiser product lines for approximately @800 in cash, including acquisition costs. The
purchase enhanced our ability to serve customdfeinortheast Florida boating community by addigsport boat and sport cruiser product
lines to our existing Sea Ray product offeringse Blequisition resulted in the recognition of appmately $240,000 in tax deductible goodwill,
including acquisition costs, and approximately $880 in tax deductible indefinite-lived intangildsesets (dealer agreements). Jacksonville has
been included in our consolidated financial stateissince the date of acquisition.

During October 2003, we acquired substantialllpf the assets and assumed certain liabil@fdsmarine International, Inc. and Steven Myers,
Inc. (Emarine), a privately held boat dealershigated in Fort Lauderdale, Florida, for approxima&305,000 in cash. The acquisition resulted in
the recognition of approximately $300,000 in taduietible goodwill, including acquisition costs. Thequisition provides us with an established
retail location to sell the newly offered Ferr&tioup products in the southeast Florida boatingmanity. The assets purchase agreement cor
an earn out provision, which may impact the finalghase price annually, based on the future profitee location through September 2005,
assuming certain conditions and provisions are Beted on these conditions and provisions, thesenwaearn out for fiscal 2004. In
August 2004, the earn out provisions were modifigtidrawing the requirements for any future earbmayments. Emarine has been included in
our consolidated financial statements since the dhacquisition.
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During the fiscal year ended September 3032G@ completed the acquisition of two recreatidywdt dealers. During September 2003, we
acquired substantially all of the assets and asduegain liabilities of Killinger Marine Centemd. and Killinger Marine Center of Alabama, Ir
a privately held boat dealership with location§tnWalton Beach and Pensacola, Florida and Guf&) Alabama, for approximately
$2.3 million in cash, including acquisition costhie acquisition resulted in the recognition of apgmately $600,000 in tax deductible goodwill,
including acquisition costs, and approximately $800 in tax deductible indefinite-lived intangildesets (dealer agreements). The acquisition
expands our ability to serve consumers in the Ateband Florida panhandle boating communities. Aalutly, the acquisition further allows us
to leverage our inventory management and inverftoancing resources over the acquired locationBinger Marine has been included in our
consolidated financial statements since the dasegfiisition.

During June 2003, we acquired substantiallpfathe assets and assumed certain liabilitieSwfdance Marine, Inc., a privately held boat
dealership with locations in Denver and Grand Jong¢iColorado, for approximately $3.3 million instg including acquisition costs. The
acquisition resulted in the recognition of approaiely $1.7 million in tax deductible goodwill, inding acquisition costs, and approximately
$900,000 in tax deductible indefinite-lived intabigi assets (dealer agreements). The acquisitioanelgoour ability to serve consumers in the
western United States boating community. Additibnahe acquisition further allows us to leverage mventory management and inventory
financing resources over the acquired locationg. d$set purchase agreement contains an earn @idipno which will impact the final purchase
price annually, based on the future profits ofhgion through September 2008, assuming certaiditons and provisions are met. Based on
these conditions and provisions, the fiscal 2004 eat was approximately $2,500. Sundance Marirsebien included in our consolidated
financial statements since the date of the acdmiisit

During the fiscal year ended September 3022G@ completed the acquisition of two recreatidywdt dealers. During July 2002, we purchi
inventory and certain equipment from the previoas Biego-based Sea Ray dealer (San Diego) for appately $100,000 in cash, including
acquisition costs, and assumed certain liabiliflé® acquisition resulted in the recognition of mpmately $100,000 in tax deductible goodwill,
including acquisition costs. This purchase enhamegdbility to serve consumers in the western éthBtates. San Diego has been included i
consolidated financial statements since the dasegfiisition.

During April 2002, we acquired the net assét§ulfwind Marine Partners, Inc. and Affiliates {Bvind), including related property and
buildings, for approximately $16.0 million in cash¢luding acquisition costs, and assumed certabilities. Gulfwind operates sales and service
facilities located in Sarasota, Venice, and CapeetRlorida. Gulfwind generated approximately $6@ibion of revenue in its last completed
fiscal year prior to the acquisition. The acquisitexpanded our ability to serve consumers in tbst\wlorida boating community. Additionally,
the acquisition further allows us to leverage owentory management and inventory financing resssiaver the acquired locations. The
acquisition resulted in the recognition of approaiely $6.2 million in tax deductible goodwill, inding acquisition costs, and approximately
$3.3 million in tax deductible indefinite-lived enigible assets (dealer agreements). Gulfwind has ineluded in our consolidated financial
statements since the date of the acquisition.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

We have identified the policies below as caitito our business operations and the understgradiaur results of operations. The impact and
risks related to these policies on our businessadip@s is discussed throughout Managensebiscussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiod
Results of Operations when such policies affectreported and expected financial results.

In the ordinary course of business, we haveeneanumber of estimates and assumptions relatittgetreporting of results of operations and
financial condition in the preparation of our fircéad statements in conformity with accounting piples generally accepted in the United States.
We base our estimates on historical experienceoandirious other assumptions that we believe asoreable under the circumstances. The
results form the basis for making judgments abletcarrying values of assets and liabilities thatreot readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results could differ significantly from th@gstimates under different assumptions and condit\We believe that the following discussion
addresses our most critical accounting policiesclvhre those that are most important to the pgatraf our financial condition and results of
operations and require our most difficult,
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subjective, and complex judgments, often as are$tihe need to make estimates about the effectatfers that are inherently uncertain.
Revenue Recognitio

We recognize revenue from boat, motor, anitetraales, and parts and service operations dirtteethe boat, motor, trailer, or part is deliwkre
to or accepted by the customer or service is comgléVe recognize commissions earned from a brgkesale at the time the related brokerage
transaction closes. We recognize revenue fromaslgbstorage services on a straight line basisthreeterm of the slip or storage agreement.
Commissions earned by us for placing notes withrfaial institutions in connection with customer bfirgancing are recognized when the related
boat sales are recognized. Marketing fees earnededit life, accident and disability, and hullimance products sold by third-party insurance
companies are recognized at the later of custoompance of the insurance product as evidencedttyact execution, or when the related boat
sale is recognized. Commissions earned on extemde@dnty service contracts sold on behalf of thuedty insurance companies are recognized at
the later of customer acceptance of the servicgaciterms, as evidenced by contract executiomhan the related boat sale is recognized.

Certain finance and extended warranty commissand marketing fees on insurance products maphdeed back if a customer terminates or
defaults on the underlying contract within a spedifperiod of time. Based upon our experience whiteations and defaults, we maintain a charge
back allowance that was not material to our finahsiatements taken as a whole as of Septemb@088,or 2004. Should results differ materi
from our historical experiences, we would need twlify our estimate of future charge backs, whichlddave a material adverse effect on our
operating margins.

Vendor Consideration Received

In November 2002, the Emerging Issues Taskd-(EITF) of the Financial Accounting Standards mla&ASB) reached a consensus on Issue
No. 02-16, “Accounting by a Customer (Including a Resglfer Certain Consideration Received from a Veridt TF 02-16). EITF 02-16
establishes the accounting standards for the rétmgand measurement of cash consideration paia Wgndor to a reseller. EITF 02-16 is
effective for interim period financial statemenegning after December 15, 2002, with early adoppermitted.

In March 2003, the EITF revised certain praxis of its previously reached conclusions on EOPFL6 and provided additional transitional
guidance. EITF 02-16 does not provide for restatdgroereclassification of prior year amounts; raliterequires prospective application for new
agreements or modifications of existing agreementsred into subsequent to December 31, 2002. \téendi@ed that EITF 02-16 impacted our
accounting for certain consideration received fr@ndors beginning July 1, 2003 with the reneward amendments to our dealer agreements
with the manufacturers of our products. EITF 02qidst significantly requires us to classify interassistance received from manufacturers as a
reduction of inventory cost and related cost oésals opposed to netting the assistance againstterest expense incurred with our lenders. #
based on the requirements of our co-op assistalogggms from our manufacturers, EITF 02-16 perthiésnetting of the assistance against
related advertising expenses. We adopted EITF Ogrd$§pectively for fiscal 2003 during the quarteded December 31, 2002. Had we been
required to adopt EITF 026 at the beginning of fiscal 2002, the amounntdriest assistance that was originally recordeirasluction of intere:
expense that would now be accounted for as a neduct cost of sales within each year was approieéfgeb4.0 million and $2.9 million in fiscal
2002 and 2003, respectively.

Inventories

New and used boat inventories are statededbther of cost, determined on a specific-idendifiion basis, or market. Parts and accessories are
stated at the lower of cost, determined on theé-ffirsfirst-out basis, or market. If the carryingnaunt of our inventory exceeds its fair value, we
reduce the carrying amount to reflect fair valuee Milize our historical experience and currenésatends as the basis for our lower of cost or
market analysis. If events occur and market comaktichange, causing the fair value of our inventorfall below carrying value, further
reductions may be required.
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Valuation of Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill and identifiable intangible assete accounted for in accordance with Statement adriial Accounting Standards No. 141,
“Business Combinations” (SFAS 141), and StateméRimancial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwitid other Intangible Assets” (SFAS
142). SFAS 141 requires business combinations tcbeunted for using the purchase method of acswuand identifiable intangible assets
acquired in a business combination to be recograzeaksets and report separately from goodwillhee determined that our most significant
acquired identifiable intangible assets are thdedemreements, which are indefinite-lived intahgiassets. SFAS 142 requires that goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets no longer be #imed, but instead tested for impairment at leastually and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value matybe recoverable. SFAS 142 was effective forafigears beginning after December 15, 2001,
with early application permitted in certain circuarsces. We elected to early-adopt SFAS 142 asedbéiginning of fiscal 2002.

SFAS 142 required the completion of a transii impairment test within six months from theedaf the initial adoption. We completed the
transitional impairment test, which resulted inimpairment of goodwill or identifiable intangiblssets as of the date of adoption. SFAS 142 alsc
requires that we assess the impairment of idehtdimtangible assets and goodwill at least anguaill whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value matybe recoverable. If the carrying amount of amtéfiable intangible asset or goodwill exce:
its fair value, we would recognize an impairmersisloWe measure any potential impairment based wougbusiness valuation methodologies,
including a projected discounted cash flow methwe.completed the annual impairment test duringdlieth quarter of fiscal 2004, based on
financial information as of the third quarter ddal 2004, which resulted in no impairment of goiidwy identifiable intangible assets. To date,
have not recognized any impairment of goodwillderitifiable intangible assets in the applicatiorsBAS 142. We will continue to test goodwill
and identifiable intangible assets for impairmereast annually and whenever events or changeisdamstances indicate that the carrying value
may not be recoverable. Prior to the adoption ASEA42, all purchase price in excess of the naikd@ assets was recorded as goodwill and no
identifiable intangible assets were recognizedntifiable intangible assets and net goodwill amedrtb $5.5 million and $50.3 million,
respectively, as of September 30, 2004.

The most significant estimates used in ourdgal valuation model include estimates of the fetgrowth in our cash flows and future working
capital needs to support our projected growth. 8hoiicumstances change causing these assumptiaiffer materially than expected, our
goodwill may become impaired, resulting in a matieadverse effect on our operating margins.

For a more comprehensive list of our accogngialicies, including those which involve varyinggitees of judgment, see Note 3 — “Significant
Accounting Policies” of Notes to Consolidated Ficiah Statements.

Results of Operations

The following table sets forth certain finaalalata as a percentage of revenue for the peindésated:

Fiscal Year Ended September 3(

2002 2003 2004

(Amounts in thousands)

Revenue $540,71¢ 100.(% $607,50: 100.(% $762,00¢ 100.%
Cost of sale: 416,13 77.%  459,72¢ 75.1% 573,61t 75.2%
Gross profil 124,57! 23.(%  147,77. 24.2% 188,39 24. 1%
Selling, general, and administrative Exper 95,567 17.7% 113,29¢ 18.7% 139,47( 18.2%
Income from operation 29,017 5.2% 34,47: 5.7% 48,92: 6.4%
Interest expense, n 1,26¢ 0.2% 2,471 0.4% 6,49¢ 0.9%
Income before tax provisic 27,74¢ 5.1% 32,00z 5.3% 42,42¢ 5.6%
Income tax provisiol 10,68: 2.C% 12,321 2.0% 16,12¢ 2.1%
Net income $ 17,06" 3.1% $ 19,68 3.2% $ 26,29¢ 3.5%
I I | I | I
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Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2004 Compared Witital Year Ended September 30, 2003

RevenueRevenue increased $154.5 million, or 25.4%, to $¥&2llion for the fiscal year ended SeptemberZm4 from $607.5 million for
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2003. Of titiease, $30.1 million was attributable to stoggsn@d or acquired that were not eligible for
inclusion in the comparable-store base and $124l®mwas attributable to a $20.7% growth in conglae-store sales in fiscal 2004. The
increase in comparable-store sales in fiscal 268dlted primarily from an increase of approximatlyi 7.5 million in boat sales, primarily sales
from existing product lines of approximately $78lion and sales from new product lines added dlierpast 24 months of approximately
$46.0 million. These increases in boat sales heljpeetrate increases in sales of our finance, insergarts, and service products of
approximately $6.9 million.

Gross Profit. Gross profit increased $40.6 million, or 27.586$188.4 million for the fiscal year ended Septengik 2004 from
$147.8 million for the fiscal year ended Septen@@r2003. Gross profit margin as a percentagewsmee increased to 24.7% in fiscal 2004 from
24.3% in fiscal 2003. This increase was primarityilautable to an increase in smaller, higher matgiat sales, a general increase in gross profit
margins of most categories of boat sales, andimental improvements in finance, insurance, brokerpgrts, and service revenues, which
generally yield higher gross profits than boat safgross profit as a percentage of revenue incddagapproximately 0.2% as a result of the
implementation of EITF 02-16, which requires uskassify interest assistance received from manufact as a reduction of inventory cost and
related cost of sales as opposed to netting thstasse against our interest expense incurred auitienders.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expens8glling, general, and administrative expenseeased $26.2 million, or 23.1%, to
$139.5 million for the fiscal year ended Septeng@r2004 from $113.3 million for the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2003. This increase was
primarily attributable to additional expenses, irtthg marketing, incurred by our comparable-stomations associated with the comparable-store
sales increase and approximately $600,000 to gratetrepair our facilities and inventories frontiimanes in fiscal 2004. Selling, general, and
administrative expenses as a percentage of revdgureased to 18.3% in fiscal 2004 from 18.7% icali2003. The decrease in selling, general,
and administrative expenses as a percentage aiuewgas attributable to additional leveraging af expense structure due to our comparable-
store sales increase, partially offset by the barré related expenses and stores opened or acthatezberate at a higher expense structure than
our other locations.

Interest Expenselnterest expense increased $4.0 million, or 1%0 @ $6.5 million for the fiscal year ended Septem30, 2004 from
$2.5 million for the fiscal year ended SeptemberZID3. Interest expense as a percentage of revecreased to 0.9% in fiscal 2004 from 0.4%
in fiscal 2003. The increase in total interest gearwas a result of the implementation of EITF 82vthich increased interest expense by
approximately $2.7 million. Additionally, intereskpense increased by approximately $1.3 millioa essult of additional borrowings associated
with our revolving credit facility and mortgagesrpally offset by a more favorable interest rat@isonment.

Income Tax Provisiorincome taxes increased $3.8 million, or 30.9%,16.% million for the fiscal year ended SeptemberZiD4 from
$12.3 million for the fiscal year ended Septemh&r2D03 as a result of increased earnings. Ouctaféetax rate decreased to 38.0% for the fiscal
year ended September 30, 2004 from 38.5% for Hovalffiyear ended September 30, 2003 as a resuteofeav of our effective tax rate calculation
for the jurisdictions in which we currently operate

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2003 Compared Wwitital Year Ended September 30, 2002

Revenue Revenue increased $66.8 million, or 12.4%, to/$&enillion for the fiscal year ended SeptemberZm3 from $540.7 million for
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2002. Of ticiease, $35.8 million was attributable to stoggsned or acquired that were not eligible for
inclusion in the comparable-store base and $3Ulbmivas attributable to a 6% growth in comparastiere sales in fiscal 2003. The increase in
comparablestore sales in fiscal 2003 resulted primarily framincrease of approximately $19.3 million in bsales, primarily sales from our ne
product lines and the timing of certain yacht sadesl approximately $11.7 million in increased saleour finance, insurance, parts, and service
products.
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Gross Profit. Gross profit increased $23.2 million, or 18.68$147.8 million for the fiscal year ended Septengik 2003 from
$124.6 million for the fiscal year ended Septen@®r2002. Gross profit margin as a percentagewamee increased to 24.3% in fiscal 2003 from
23.0% in fiscal 2002. This increase was primarityilautable to an increase in finance and insurapags and service revenue, which generally
yield higher gross margins than boat sales. Intemidiless margin pressure on smaller boats alstriboted to the gross profit increase. This
increase was partially offset by an increase iasaf larger boats, which historically carry lovgeoss profits.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expens8glling, general, and administrative expenseeased $17.7 million, or 18.6%, to
$113.3 million for the fiscal year ended Septengr2003 from $95.6 million for the fiscal year eddSeptember 30, 2002. Selling, general, and
administrative expenses as a percentage of revieoreased to 18.7% in fiscal 2003 from 17.7% iodi2002. The increase in selling, general,
and administrative expenses as a percentage afuewegas attributable to additional costs associaiddmarketing and an increased level of
operations compared to that of the prior year.

Interest Expense, Netnterest expense, net increased $1.2 millio®505%, to $2.5 million for the fiscal year endeg®enber 30, 2003 from
$1.3 million for fiscal year ended September 3@20nterest expense, net as a percentage of reyermeased to 0.4% in fiscal 2003 from 0.2%
in fiscal 2002. The increase in total interest gearwas a result of increased long-term borrowasgeciated with mortgages on facilities and
equipment, which increased interest expense byoappately $500,000, and the implementation of EODF16, which increased interest expense
by approximately $1.0 million. This increase wastip#ly offset by a more favorable interest rat&ieonment associated with our variable rate
debt, which reduced interest expense by approxignégo0,000.

Income Tax Provisionincome taxes increased $1.6 million, or 15.3%18.3 million for the fiscal year ended Septen@@&r2003 from
$10.7 million for fiscal year ended September 3M2 Our effective tax rate remained constant &%8n fiscal 2003 and fiscal 2002.

Quarterly Data and Seasonality

Our business, as well as the entire recrealtiooating industry, is highly seasonal, with seadity varying in different geographic markets.
With the exception of Florida, we generally real&gnificantly lower sales and higher levels oféntories, and related short-term borrowings, in
the quarterly periods ending December 31 and Matcihe onset of the public boat and recreationvshn January stimulates boat sales and
allows us to reduce our inventory levels and relateort-term borrowings throughout the remaindeheffiscal year. Our business could become
substantially more seasonal as we acquire dedlat®perate in colder regions of the United States.

The following table sets forth certain unaaditjuarterly financial data for each of our laghéiquarters. The information has been derived
from unaudited financial statements that we belieflect all adjustments, consisting only of normedurring adjustments, necessary for the fair
presentation of such quarterly financial informatio
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The operating results for any quarter areneaessarily indicative of the results to be expbébe any future period.

December 31 March 31, June 30, September 30  December 31 March 31, June 30, September 30
2002 2003 2003 2003 2003 2004 2004 2004
(Amounts in thousands except share and per share tig

Revenue $ 9797t $ 159,060 $ 187,17 $ 163,29( $ 156,65¢ $ 202,31« $ 219,72¢ $ 183,30
Cost of sale: 74,32( 124,82 143,46¢ 117,11¢ 121,55¢ 157,16( 164,69: 130,20¢
Gross profil 23,65¢ 34,241 43,70¢ 46,17: 35,10( 45,15¢ 55,03¢ 53,09¢
Selling, general, and

administrative expenst 23,80z 27,37( 29,27¢ 32,84¢ 30,01¢ 34,26¢ 36,60z 38,58¢
Income (loss) from

Operations (147 6,871 14,42¢ 13,32: 5,08t 10,88 18,43¢ 14,51¢
Interest expense, N 633 21¢€ 682 93¢ 1,45¢ 1,701 1,70¢ 1,63¢
Income (loss) before tax

provision (780) 6,65¢ 13,74 12,38¢ 3,62¢ 9,18¢ 16,73( 12,88:
Tax provision (benefit (300 2,562 5,291 4,76¢ 1,39¢ 3,537 6,32¢ 4,86¢
Net income (loss $ (480) $ 4,09: $ 845. §$ 7,61¢ $ 223 % 5,64¢ $ 10,40¢ $ 8,01z

Net income (loss) pe
share:
Diluted $ (0.05) $ 0.2¢ $ 052 % 0.4¢ $ 014 $ 034 $ 061 $ 0.4¢

Weighted average numt
of shares
Diluted 15,537,05° 15,541,89 15,656,20 15,950,25 16,280,36  16,728,84  16,937,50. 16,717,80

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash needs are primarily for working calpid support operations, including new and uset bad related parts inventories, off-season
liquidity, and growth through acquisitions and netre openings. We regularly monitor the agingwfiaventories and current market trends to
evaluate our current and future inventory needss &haluation is also used in conjunction with mwriew of our current and expected operating
performance and expected growth to determine thguaty of our financing needs. These cash needsHistorically been financed with cash
generated from operations and borrowings undelineiof credit facility. We currently depend upoividends, other payments from our
consolidated operating subsidiaries, and our lingedit facility to fund our current operationsdameet our cash needs. Currently, no agreements
exist that restrict this flow of funds from our @ptng subsidiaries.

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 20023, and 2004, we generated cash flows from tipgractivities of approximately $4.2 millic
$27.2 million, and $21.0 million, respectively.dddition to net income, cash provided by operaticiiyities was due primarily to inventory
management, including the management of invenfagnting and an increase in accounts payable dihettming of certain payments to our
manufacturers.

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 20023, and 2004, cash used in investing activitias approximately $22.3 million, $19.4 millic
and $23.3 million, respectively. Cash used in itimgsactivities was primarily attributable to casbed in business acquisitions and to purchase
property and equipment associated with opening memroving existing, or relocating existing rettctilities.

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 20022004, cash provided by financing activities apgroximately $12.4 million and
$6.9 million, respectively. For the fiscal year eddSeptember 30, 2003, cash used in financingigesiapproximated $1.6 million. For the fiscal
years ended September 30, 2002 and 2004, cashdpdoby financing activities was primarily attribbka to proceeds from borrowings on long-
term debt (mortgages) on equipment and real eatapgired, common shares issued upon the exerci&eak options and stock purchases under
our Employee Stock Purchase Plan, partially offgetepayments of long-term debt. For the fiscaryraled September 30, 2003, cash used in
financing activities was primarily attributablerepayments of
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long-term debt, partially offset by common shasssied upon the exercise of stock options and gtothases under our Employee Stock
Purchase Plan.

As of September 30, 2004, our indebtednesdebapproximately $179.2 million, of which appmmately $26.2 million was associated with
our real estate holdings and $153.0 million waseased with financing our inventory and workingpdal needs.

In December 2001, we entered into a revoleirgglit facility that provided a line of credit wittsset-based borrowing availability of up to $220
million. The facility also allowed us $20 million traditional floorplan borrowings. The facility hich had a three-year term with two one-year
renewal options, replaced four separate line ditfacilities. In November 2002, we exercised ofi¢he two oneyear renewal options, which t
bank approved, extending the maturity date to Déeer2a005. The facility accrued interest at a rditelBOR plus 175 to 260 basis points, which
was determined in accordance with a Performanaen@rgrid, as defined in the credit facility. Bowimgs under the facility were pursuant to a
borrowing base formula and were used primarilywforking capital and inventory financing. The teramsl conditions of the facility were similar
to the terms and conditions of the prior sepaiate df credit facilities.

In January 2004, we amended the credit facilhich extended the term of, added a lenderrtd,iacreased the borrowing availability under
the credit facility. The expanded facility provides with a line of credit with asset based borrgrawailability of up to $260 million for working
capital and inventory financing and an additiorz0 $nillion for traditional floorplan borrowings,laf which are determined pursuant to a
borrowing base formula. With the extended term,dtealit facility currently matures in December 20@éth two one-year renewal options
remaining.

During the fiscal years ended September 3022P003, and 2004, we completed the acquisitiosegén marine retail operations. We acquired
the net assets, related property, and buildingsaaeadmed or retired certain liabilities, includthg outstanding floorplan obligations related to
new boat inventories, for approximately $32.2 raiilin cash, including acquisition costs.

Except as specified in this “Management’s D&ston and Analysis of Financial Condition, and iRssof Operations” and in our consolidated
financial statements, we have no material commitsar capital for the next 12 months. We belidvat tour existing capital resources will be
sufficient to finance our operations for at ledst hext 12 months, except for possible significtuisitions.

Contractual Commitments and Commercial Commitments

The following table sets forth a summary of material contractual obligations and commercaahmitments as of September 30, 2004:

Year Ending Line of Long-Term Operating
September 30 Credit Debt Leases Total

(Amounts in thousands)

2005 153,00( 2,88t 6,54¢ 162,43:
2006 — 3,02C 5,70¢ 8,72¢
2007 — 3,05¢ 5,26/ 8,31¢
2008 — 2,99¢ 4,13¢ 7,13¢
2009 — 3,157 1,304 4,461
Thereaftel — 11,122 1,711 12,83:
Total $153,00( $26,231 $24,66¢ $203,90!

I I I I

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

At September 30, 2004, approximately 93% afahort- and longerm debt bore interest at variable rates, genetialll to a reference rate st
as the LIBOR rate or the prime rate of interestertain banks. Changes in interest rates on lgans these financial institutions could affect our
earnings as a result of interest rates charged
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on certain underlying obligations that are variaBlieSeptember 30, 2004, a hypothetical 100 basiist increase in interest rates on our variable
rate obligations would have resulted in an incredsgpproximately $1.7 million in annual pre-taxerest expense. This estimated increase is
based upon the outstanding balances of all of atiable rate obligations and assumes no mitigatirvepges by us to reduce the outstanding
balances or additional interest assistance thatdumeireceived from vendors due to the hypothetitakest rate increase.

Products purchased from the Ithigsed Ferretti Group are subject to fluctuatiorthénEuro to U.S. dollar exchange rate, which wdtiely may
impact the retail price at which we can sell sugtdpcts. Accordingly, fluctuations in the valuetbé& Euro as compared with the U.S. dollar may
impact the price points at which we can sell pedfiy Ferretti Group products, and such price paim&y not be competitive with other product
lines in the United States. Accordingly, such fuattons in exchange rates ultimately may impacateunt of revenue, cost of goods sold, cash
flows, and earnings we recognize for the Ferrettiup product line. We cannot predict the effectexathange rate fluctuations on our operating
results. We do not currently intend to engage meifpn currency exchange hedging transactions tcageour foreign currency exposure. If and
when we do engage in foreign currency exchangeihgdgnsactions, we cannot assure that our stestegll adequately protect our operating
results from the effects of exchange rate fluctureti

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Reference is made to the financial statemémtsnotes thereto, and the report thereon, comimgion page F-1 of this report, which financial
statement, notes, and report are incorporatedrhbyeieference.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéinting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

We have evaluated, with the participation wf Ghief Executive Officer and Chief Financial @#t, the effectiveness of our disclosure con
and procedures as of September 30, 2004. Basddsoevaluation, our Chief Executive Officer and €ttinancial Officer have each concluded
that our disclosure controls and procedures ascfe to ensure that we record, process, summanereport information required to be
disclosed by us in our reports filed under the Sea Exchange Act within the time periods spexifby the Securities and Exchange
Commission’s rules and forms. During the fiscalrygavered by this report, there have not been &ayges in our internal controls over financial
reporting that have materially affected, or itss@zably likely to materially affect, our internalrdrol over financial reporting.

Subsequent to the date of their evaluaticeretinave not been any significant changes in darrial controls or in other facts that could
significantly affect these controls, including argrrective action with regard to significant deficcies and material weaknesses.

Iltem 9B. Other Information
Not applicable.
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PART Il
Item 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Registrant

The information required by this Item relatitmgour directors is incorporated herein by refeeeto the definitive Proxy Statement to be filed
pursuant to Regulation 14A of the Exchange Actofar 2005 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. The infation required by this Item relating to
our executive officers included in “Business — Extace Officers.”

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is inporated herein by reference to the definitive Préigtement to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2005 AahMeeting of Stockholders.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners amdanagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item is inporated herein by reference to the definitive Pr8igtement to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2005 AahMeeting of Stockholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

The information required by this Item is inporated herein by reference to the definitive Préigtement to be filed pursuant to
Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2005 AahMeeting of Stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is inporated herein by reference to the definitive PrBigtement to be filled pursuant to
Regulation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2005 AahMeeting of Stockholders.
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PART IV
Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules, and Rego@n Form 8-K
(a) Financial Statements and Financial Statement edules
(1) Financial Statements are listed in theektb Consolidated Financial Statements on pagefitis report.

(2) No financial statement schedules are metlibecause such schedules are not applicableotrequired, or because required information is
included in the consolidated financial statementsates thereto.

(b) Reports on Form 8-K

(1) Current Report on Form 8-K dated 8egier 7, 2004, indicated in Iltem 7.01, the prelesase issued by MarineMax, Inc. dated
September 7, 2004, updating fourth quarter 200diegs per share range due to recent hurricanes.

(2) Current Report on Form 8-K dated Ry 2004 indicated in Iltems 9 and 12, the prelsmse issued by MarineMax, Inc. dated July 22,
2004 reporting financial results of its third quardf fiscal 2004 and its year-to-date results.

(c) Exhibits

Exhibit

Number Exhibit

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist, including all amendments to date

3.2 Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Registran

3.3 Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Rapiting Preferred Stock ('

4.1 Specimen of Common Stock Certificate

4.2 (Rgi;ghts Agreement, dated August 28, 2001 betweerisRagt and American Stock Transfer & Trust Compas/Rights Agent

10.1(a) (l\gt)arger Agreement between Registrant and its adeprissubsidiary and Bassett Boat Company of Floaidd Richard Bassett

10.1(b) Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adegpissubsidiary and 11502 Dumas, Inc. d/b/a Lous$Hdmme Marine and
its stockholders (1

10.1(c) Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adgpnssubsidiary and Gulfwind USA, Inc. and its dtbolders (1)

10.1(d) Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adegpissubsidiary and Gulfwind South, Inc. and isciéholders (1

10.1(e) Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adprissubsidiary and Harris’s Boat Center, Inc. and its stockholders

10.1(f) Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adegpuissubsidiary and Harrison’s Marine Centers oz@na, Inc. and its
stockholders (1

10.1(g) Merger Agreement between Registrant and its adiprissubsidiary and Stovall Marine, Inc. and itscéholders (1

10.1(h) Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorganizationdiateof the 7th day of July, 1998 by and among iMaax, Inc., C & N
Acquisition Corp. (a subsidiary of MarineMax, IndQ & N Marine Corporation and the Stockholders adrtherein (2

10.1(i) Agreement of Merger and Plan of Reorganizationdiateof the 7th day of July, 1998 by and among iM#viax, Inc., Cochrans
Acquisition Corp. (a subsidiary of MarineMax, IndQochrans Marine, Inc. and the Stockholders natinectin (2)

10.1(j) Asset Purchase Agreement between Registrant amddne Cove Marina, Inc. (.

10.2(a) Contribution Agreement between Registrant and BaBsat Company and its owner {

10.2(b) Contribution Agreement between Registrant and BaRssmlty, L.L.C. and its owner (:

10.2(c) Contribution Agreement between Registrant and GalivBouth Realty, L.L.C. and its owners



10.2(d) Contribution Agreement between Registrant and dar's Realty, L.L.C. and its owners (
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Exhibit

Number Exhibit

10.2(e) Contribution Agreement between Registrant and ldar’'s Realty California, L.L.C. and its owners

10.3(e) Employment Agreement between Registrant and WillihnMcGill Jr. (9)

10.3(f) Employment Agreement between Registrant and MicHadlicLamb (9)

10.3(g) Employment Agreement dated August 18, 2004 betviRaggistrant and Michael H. McLan

104 1998 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended through Nbeerhb, 2000 (8

10.5 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

10.6 Settlement Agreement between Brunswick Corporadiwh Registrant (1

10.7 Letter of Intent between Registrant and Stovall

10.8 Restated Agreement Relating to the Purchase ofriditax Common Stock between Registrant and Bruns@arporation,
dated as of April 28, 1998 (.

10.9 Stockholder Agreement among Registrant, Brunswick Corporatémm Senior Founders of Registrant, dated Aprill288 (1)

10.10 Governance Agreement between Registrant and Braks@arporation, dated April 28, 1998 {

10.11 Agreement Relating to Acquisitions between Regigteand Brunswick Corporation, dated April 28, 1428

10.12 Form of Sea Ray Sales and Service Agreemer

10.17 Credit and Security Agreement dated as of Decerh®e2001 among the Registrant and its subsidiam®8orrowers, and Banc
of America Specialty Finance, Inc. and various pteeders, as Lenders (

10.17(a) Amendment No. 2 to Credit and Security Agreemeigdidanuary 30, 2004 among the Registrant andlitsidiaries as
Borrowers, Keybank National Association, N.A., BafkAmerica, N.A., and various other lenders, asders (10

10.18 Hatteras Sales and Service Agreement, dated J@§QB among the Registrant, MarineMax Motor Yachts;, and Hatteras
Yachts Division of Brunswick Corporation (1

21 List of Subsidiarie!

23 Consent of Ernst & Young LL

31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgatetbuthe Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amend

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgatetbuthe Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amend

32.1 Certification pursuant to U.S.C. Section 1350, dspaed pursuant to Section 906 of the Sark-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 2002

(1) Incorporated by reference to Registratatement on Form S-1 (Registration 333-47873).

(2) Incorporated by reference to Registra@tsrent Report on Form 8-K dated July 7, 1998jlad bn July 20, 1998.

(3) Incorporated by reference to RegistrafRtism 8-K Report dated September 30, 1998, as fite@ctober 20, 1998.

(4) Incorporated by reference to RegistraRtism 10-K for the year ended September 30, 1998leason December 9, 1998.

(5) Incorporated by reference to Regis’'s Form 1-K for the year ended September 30, 1999, as fieBD@ecember 29 199



(6) Incorporated by reference to Registraidaitement on Form 8-A as filed on September 5, 2001
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(7) Incorporated by reference to RegistraRtism 10-K for the year ended September 30, 200filemson December 20, 2001.
(8) Incorporated by reference to RegistraRtism 10-Q for the quarterly period ended Decemie2801, as filed on February 14, 2002.
(9) Incorporated by reference to RegistraRtism 10-Q for the quarterly period ended Decemlie2802, as filed on February 14, 2003.
(20) Incorporated by reference to RegistraRbem 10-Q for the quarterly period ended Decen®ieR003, as filed on February 17, 2004.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 1B5¢d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, #gstrant has duly caused this report to be
signed on its behalf by the undersigned, theredotp authorized.

MarineMax, Inc.

/s! William H. McGill Jr.

By:William H. McGill Jr.
Chairman of the Board, President, and Chief
Executive Officer

Date: December 10, 2004

Pursuant to the requirements of SecuritiehBrge Act of 1934, this report has been signedwbblothe following persons on behalf of the
registrant and in the capacity and on the datesated.

Signature Capacity Date

/s/ William H. McGill Jr. Chairman of the Board, President, and Chief December 10, 2004
Executive Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

William H. McGill Jr.

/s/ Michael H. McLamb Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer, December 10, 2004
Secretary, and Director (Principal Accounting and
Michael H. McLamk Financial Officer)
/s/ Robert D. Basham Director December 10, 2004

Robert D. Bashar

s/ Gerald M. Benstock Director December 10, 2004

Gerald M. Benstoc

/s/ John B. Furman Director December 10, 2004

John B. Furmai

/s/ Robert S. Kant Director December 10, 2004

Robert S. Kan

/s/ Dean S. Woodman Director December 10, 2004

Dean S. Woodma
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED CERTIFIED PUBLIC A CCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of
MarineMax, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsheets of MarineMax, Inc. and subsidiaries &eptember 30, 2003 and 2004, and the
related consolidated statements of operationskistdders’ equity, and cash flows for each of the¢hyears in the period ended September 30,

2004. These financial statements are the respdihsitii the Companys management. Our responsibility is to expresspaman on these financi
statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstals of the Public Company Accounting OversighamlaUnited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finastaieiments are free of material misstatement.
An audit includes examining, on a test basis, exddesupporting the amounts and disclosures initlaadial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and &gnifestimates made by management, as well agatira) the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits provideagonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referealbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢consolidated financial position of MarineMax,
Inc. and subsidiaries at September 30, 2003 and, 20@ the consolidated results of their operatatstheir cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended September 30, 2004, nfoomity with U.S. generally accepted accountingpgiples.

ERNST & YOUNG LLP

Tampa, Florida,
November 3, 200.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands except share and per shéa da

ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalel
Accounts receivable, n
Inventories, ne
Prepaid expenses and other current a:
Deferred tax asse

Total current asse
Property and equipment, r
Goodwill and other intangible assets,
Other lon¢-term asset

Total asset

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payabl
Customer deposil
Accrued expense
Shor-term borrowings
Current maturities of lor-term deb

Total current liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Long-term debt, net of current maturiti

Total liabilities

COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES

STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY:

Preferred stock, $.001 par value, 1,000,000 shargsrized, none issued or outstanding at SepteBther
2003 and 200

Common stock, $.001 par value; 24,000,000 shar®ared, 15,401,686 and 15,711,012 shares issug
outstanding at September 30, 2003 and 2004, regplc

Additional paic-in capital

Retained earning

Treasury stock, at cost, 30,000 shares held ae8dyar 30, 200

Total stockholder equity

Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity

See accompanying notes.

F-3

September 30

September 30

2003 2004

$ 10,50¢ $ 15,07¢
21,75 24,97
165,38: 283,79’
4,127 5,96¢
1,52¢ 3,46¢
203,30: 333,28:
71,89¢ 84,50/
53,14 55,86
81C 70¢
$329,15! $474,35¢
[ ] . |
$ 12,40: $ 55,84
9,92 15,91
14,62 17,62
97,00( 153,00(
2,34¢ 2,88¢
136,29 245 26¢
6,801 8,91¢
19,99¢ 23,35:
163,00 277,53t
15 16
65,23 70,32
100,80 127,09¢
— (61¢)
166,05 196,82:
$329,15! $474,35¢
[ ] . |
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in thousands except share and per shéag da

Revenue
Cost of sale:

Gross profit
Selling, general, and administrative exper

Income from operation
Interest expense, n

Income before income tax provisi
Income tax provisiol

Net income
Basic net income per common sh

Diluted net income per common shi

Weighted average number of common shares usednputing net income

per common shart
Basic

Diluted

MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

For the Year

For the Year

For the Year

See accompanying notes.

F-4

Ended Ended Ended
September 30 September 30 September 30

2002 2003 2004
$ 540,71t $ 607,50: $ 762,00
416,13 459,72¢ 573,61¢
124,57¢ 147,77 188,39:
95,56 113,29¢ 139,47(
29,01: 34,47: 48,92
1,26¢ 2,471 6,49¢
27,74¢ 32,00z 42,42¢
10,68t 12,32 16,12¢
$ 17,06¢ $ 19,68 $  26,29¢
I I I
$ 1.12 $ 1.2¢ $ 1.6¢
.| .| .|
$ 1.1C $ 1.2¢ $ 1.5¢
I I I
15,270,82 15,337,87. 15,585,31.
.| .| .|
15,540,97 15,671,47 16,666,10
.| .| .|
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BALANCE, September 30, 20(

Net income

Issuance of treasury sto

Issuance of common sto

Shares issued upon exercise of stock opt

BALANCE, September 30, 20(

Net income

Purchase of treasury sto

Issuance of treasury sto

Issuance of common sto

Shares issued upon exercise of stock opt
Tax benefit of options exercisi

BALANCE, September 30, 20C

Net income

Purchase of treasury sto

Issuance of treasury sto

Issuance of common sto

Shares issued upon exercise of stock opi
Tax benefit of options exercisi

BALANCE, September 30, 20(

MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS'’ EQUITY
(Amounts in thousands except share data)

Common Stock

Additional Total
Paid-in Retained Treasury Stockholders’

Shares Amount Capital Earnings Stock Equity
15,221,37. $15 $63,931 $ 64,09: $(344) $127,69:
— — — 17,06¢ — 17,06¢

53,39¢ — (5) — 32€ 321
5,15¢ — 39 — — 39
5,771 — 72 — — 72
15,285,70. 15 64,037 81,15¢ (18) 145,19(
— — — 19,68: — 19,68:
(15,000 — — — (134) (134)
17,34¢ — (122) (32) 152 —
60,92¢ — 64C — — 64C
52,70¢ — 624 — — 624

— 55 — — 55

15,401,68 15 65,23¢ 100,80t — 166,05¢
— — — 26,29¢ — 26,29¢
(32,000) — — — (67€) (67¢)
2,00( — — (6) 60 54
67,98¢ — 71€ — — 71€
271,33t 1 2,96/ 2,96t
— — 1,41( — — 1,41(
15,711,01. $16 $70,32¢ $127,09¢ $(61€) $196,82:
| | | | | |

See accompanying notes.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigdea by operating
activities:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Deferred income taxe
(Gain) loss on sale of property and equiprn
Tax benefit of options exercist
Other

(Increase) decrease— Accounts receivabl
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as

Increase (decrease)— Accounts payabl
Customer deposil
Accrued expenses and other liabilit
Shor-term borrowings

Net cash provided by operating activit

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Cash used in business acquisitions, net of cashirack
Purchases of property and equipm
Proceeds from sale of property and equipn

Net cash used in investing activiti

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Borrowings on lon-term debi
Repayments on loi-term debr
Purchase of treasury sto
Issuance of common sto

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi

NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENS:
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of peric

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of perio

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE INFORMATIORM
Assumption of debt (primarily inventory financinig) conjunction with
businesses acquired and the purchase of propedtgguipmen

For the Year

For the Year

For the Year

Ended Ended Ended
September 30 September 30 September 30
2002 2003 2004
$ 17,06 $ 19,68 $ 26,29¢

3,61« 4,44( 5,27:
1,57(C 1,001 18C

(70) (29 1

— 55 1,41C

80 27¢ 80
(290) (7,356 (3,220
3,531 8,30¢ (110,369
(2,319 14¢€ (1,640
(1,687) 3,02¢ 43,43¢
1,967 732 5,98¢
(364) (1,897 2,60¢
(18,947) (1,186 50,93¢
4,162 27,19¢ 20,98¢
(15,027) (10,716 (10,237
(7,516 (8,98¢) (10,172
287 25¢ 23t
(22,25)) (19,446 (20,177
13,10(¢ — 3,20(
(1,03%) (2,422 (2,426
— (1349 (67€)

352 98¢ 3,65¢
12,41°¢ (1,567) 3,751
(5,679 6,18¢ 4,56¢
9,99i 4,32: 10,50¢
$ 4,32 $ 10,50¢ $ 15,07¢
| I I
$ 17,00¢ $ 3,00 $ 3,12

See accompanying notes.

F-6




Table of Contents

MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. COMPANY BACKGROUND AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION:

We were incorporated in Delaware in Januai§81@nd are the largest recreational boat retiailére United States. We engage primarily in
retail sale, brokerage, and service of new and bsats, motors, trailers, marine parts, and acciessand offer boat storage service, in certain
locations. As of September 30, 2004, we operatexlithh 67 retail locations in 16 states, consistihglabama, Arizona, California, Colorado,
Delaware, Florida, Georgia, Maryland, Minnesotayatia, New Jersey, North Carolina, Ohio, South QaaplTexas, and Utah.

We are the nation’s largest retailer of Seg, Baston Whaler, Meridian, and Hatteras Yachtspfalvhich are manufactured by Brunswick
Corporation (Brunswick), the world’s largest maraitaer of marine products. Sales of new Brunswiclitb accounted for approximately 65%,
65%, and 60% of our revenue in fiscal 2002, 2008, 2004, respectively. We believe we representpdoagmately 10% of all Brunswick marine
product sales during the same periods.

We have entered into dealership agreementsSga Ray, Boston Whaler, Meridian, Hatteras YadWescury Marine, and Baja Marine
Corporation, all subsidiaries or divisions of Branck. We also have dealer agreements with Fei@tiup and Bertram. These agreements allow
us to purchase, stock, sell, and service these faetowers’ boats and products. These agreemertsbdsv us to use these manufacturers’ names,
trade symbols, and intellectual properties in querations.

Each of our operating dealership subsidighascarry the Sea Ray product line is a partytenayear dealer agreement with Brunswick
covering Sea Ray products, and is the exclusiviededSea Ray boats in its geographic markets.desder agreement was entered into in 1998.
Our subsidiary, MarineMax Motor Yachts, LLC, is arty to a dealer agreement with Hatteras Yachts.agreement gives us the right to sell
Hatteras Yachts throughout the state of Florid&l(ekng the Florida Panhandle) and the state oBeas well as the U.S. distribution rights for
Hatteras products over 82 feet. Our subsidiary,imédax International, LLC, is a party to a dealgreeement with Ferretti Group and Bertram
Yachts. The agreement appoints us as the excldsialer for Ferretti Yachts, Pershing, Riva, Apregam®ochi Craft, Custom Line, and CRN
mega-yachts, yachts and other recreational boateddUnited States, Canada, and the Bahamas.drberaent also appoints us as the exclusive
dealer for Bertram in the United States (excludhmgFlorida peninsula and certain portions of Newlgnd), Canada, and the Bahamas.

As is typical in the industry, we deal with mudacturers, other than the Sea Ray division ohBwick, Ferretti Group, and Bertram, under
renewable annual dealer agreements, each of whiek gs the right to sell various makes and mookboats within a given geographic region.
Any change or termination of these agreementsigraason, including changes in competitive, reigma or marketing practices, including
rebate or incentive programs, could adversely affac results of operations. Although there arengtéd number of manufacturers of the type of
boats and products that we sell, we believe tHaratuppliers could provide similar boats and potslon comparable terms. A change in
suppliers, however, could cause a loss of revembih would affect operating results adversely.

In order to maintain consistency and compditaliietween periods presented, certain amountsimasg been reclassified from the previously
reported consolidated financial statements to aomfio the consolidated financial statement presiemaf the current period. The consolidated
financial statements include our accounts and tkewnts of our subsidiaries, all of which are whalvned. All significant intercompany
transactions and accounts have been eliminated.

2. ACQUISITIONS:

We conducted no operations until the acquisitf five independent recreational boat dealerMarch 1, 1998. Since the initial acquisitions in
March 1998, we have acquired 18 recreational bealeds, two boat brokerage operations, and oneéullice yacht repair facility. As a part of
our acquisition strategy, we frequently engageiscussions with various recreational boat dealeganding their potential acquisition by us.
Potential acquisition discussions frequently talee@ over a long period of time and involve diffidousiness integration and other
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issues, including, in some cases, management siicoemd related matters. As a result of theseottmel factors, a number of potential
acquisitions that from time to time appear likedyoccur do not result in binding legal agreementsare not consummated. The following are the
acquisitions we have completed during the fiscaryending September 30, 2002, 2003, and 2004.

During April 2002, we acquired the net asgét§ulfwind Marine Partners, Inc. and Affiliates ({Bvind), including related property and
buildings, for approximately $16.0 million in cash¢luding acquisition costs, and assumed certabilities. Gulfwind operates sales and service
facilities located in Sarasota, Venice, and Capeetiklorida. Gulfwind generated approximately $6@ilion of revenue in its last completed
fiscal year prior to the acquisition. The acquisitexpanded our ability to serve consumers in tbst\Wlorida boating community. Additionally,
the acquisition further allows us to leverage mwentory management and inventory financing resmsiover the acquired locations. The
acquisition resulted in the recognition of approaiely $6.2 million in tax deductible goodwill, incling acquisition costs, and approximately
$3.3 million in tax deductible indefinite-lived emigible assets (dealer agreements). Gulfwind has ineluded in our consolidated financial
statements since the date of acquisition.

During July 2002, we purchased inventory agsidain equipment from the previous San Diego-b&=alRay dealer (San Diego) for
approximately $100,000 in cash, including acquisittosts, and assumed certain liabilities. The iattqan resulted in the recognition of
approximately $100,000 in tax deductible goodviiitluding acquisition costs. This purchase enhamegdbility to serve consumers in the
western United States. San Diego has been includedr consolidated financial statements sincedéite of acquisition.

During June 2003, we acquired substantiallyhal assets and assumed certain liabilities ofi@nce Marine, Inc., a privately held boat
dealership with locations in Denver and Grand Jong¢iColorado, for approximately $3.3 million inste including acquisition costs. The
acquisition resulted in the recognition of approaiely $1.7 million in tax deductible goodwill, inling acquisition costs, and approximately
$900,000 in tax deducible indefinite-lived intarigilassets (dealer agreements). The acquisitiomelspaur ability to serve consumers in the
western United States boating community. Additibnahe acquisition further allows us to leverage mventory management and inventory
financing resources over the acquired locationg. d$set purchase agreement contains an earn oigipng which will impact the final purchase
price annually, based on the future profits ofdgion through September 2008, assuming certaiditons and provisions are met. Based on
these conditions and provisions, the fiscal 2004 eat was approximately $2,500 and was accoureds an adjustment to the recognized
amount of tax deductible goodwill. Sundance Matas been included in our consolidated financiakstants since the date of acquisition.

During September 2003, we acquired substéntdllof the assets and assumed certain liakslitiEKillinger Marine Center, Inc. and Killinger
Marine Center of Alabama, Inc., a privately heldbdealership with locations in Ft. Walton BeacH &ensacola, Florida and Gulf Shores,
Alabama, for approximately $2.3 million in cashcliding acquisition costs. The acquisition resultethe recognition of approximately $600,C
in tax deductible goodwill, including acquisitionsts, and approximately $300,000 in tax deductidefinite-lived intangible assets (dealer
agreements). The acquisition expands our abilisetwe consumers in the Alabama and Florida pat@dmoéting communities. Additionally, the
acquisition further allows us to leverage our ineen management and inventory financing resourees the acquired locations. Killinger Mari
has been included in our consolidated financidakstants since the date of acquisition.

During October 2003, we acquired substantialllpf the assets and assumed certain liabil@fdsmarine International, Inc. and Steven Myers,
Inc. (Emarine), a privately held boat dealershigated in Fort Lauderdale, Florida, for approxima&305,000 in cash. The acquisition resulted in
the recognition of approximately $300,000 in taduietible goodwill, including acquisition costs. Thequisition provides us with an established
retail location to sell the newly offered Ferr&tioup products in the southeast Florida boatingmanity. The asset purchase agreement contains
an earn out provision, which may impact the finalghase price annually, based on the future profitee location through September 2005,
assuming certain conditions and provisions are Beted on these conditions and provisions, thesenwaearn out for fiscal 2004. In
August 2004, the earn out provisions were modifigtidrawing the requirements for any future earbmayments. Emarine has been included in
our consolidated financial statements since the dhacquisition.
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During June 2004, we acquired substantiallpfathe assets, including real estate, and assuasdin liabilities of Imperial Marine (Imperial),
a privately held boat dealership with location8adtimore and the northern Chesapeake area of ladylfor approximately $9.3 million in cash,
including acquisition costs, and approximately $880 held in escrow. Imperial operates a highwagtion and a marina on the Gunpowder
River. Imperial generated approximately $12.0 millbf revenue in its last completed fiscal yeaoptd the acquisition. The acquisition expands
our ability to serve consumers in the Mid-Atlaritinited States boating community. Additionally, #equisition allows us to capitalize on
Imperial’s market position and leverage our inveptmanagement and inventory financing resources thweacquired locations. The acquisition
resulted in the recognition of approximately $1.lian in tax deductible goodwill, including acqitien costs, and approximately $580,000 in tax
deductible indefinite-lived intangible assets (éealgreements). Imperial has been included in onsalidated financial statements since the date
of acquisition.

During June 2004, we purchased inventory acegquipment and assumed certain liabilities ftbenprevious Jacksonville, Florida based Sea
Ray dealer (Jacksonville) for the sport boat araftsgruiser product lines for approximately $90@00 cash, including acquisition costs. The
purchase enhanced our ability to serve customdfeinortheast Florida boating community by addimgsport boat and sport cruiser product
lines to our existing Sea Ray product offeringse Blequisition resulted in the recognition of appmately $240,000 in tax deductible goodwill,
including acquisition costs, and approximately $880 in tax deductible indefinite-lived intangildesets (dealer agreements). Jacksonville has
been included in our consolidated financial stateissince the date of acquisition.

The unaudited pro forma results of operatimespresented for informational purposes only. dineudited pro forma results of operations
include an adjustment to record income taxes teibignificant acquisitions were taxed as C cafpons from the beginning of the period
presented until their respective acquisition datée unaudited pro forma results of operations atanclude adjustments to remove certain pri
company expenses, which will not be incurred imfetperiods. The unaudited pro forma results ofaiEns may not necessarily reflect our
future results of operations or what the resultepgdrations would have been had we owned and @gketla¢se businesses as of the beginning of
the period presented.

Our unaudited pro forma consolidated resulsperations, assuming all significant fiscal 2@@2juisitions had occurred at the beginning o
period presented, is as follows for the fiscal yeraded September 30,

2002

(Amounts in thousands
except earnings per share

Revenue $566,03t
Net income $ 17,13¢
Basic earnings per shg $ 1.1z
Diluted earnings per sha $ 1.1

Pro forma results of operations have not lFesented with respect to any of the fiscal 2002084 acquisitions, as the effects of those
acquisitions were not significant on either an widlial or an aggregate basis in the related adeqrnsyear.

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:
Statements of Cash Flows

For purposes of the consolidated statementasif flows, we consider all highly liquid investm®with an original maturity of three months or
less to be cash equivalents.

We made interest payments of approximatel $fillion, $5.2 million, and $6.5 million for thesyars ended September 30, 2002, 2003, and
2004, respectively, including interest on debtitafice our real estate holdings and new boat imvgntVe made income tax payments of
approximately $7.5 million, $9.1 million, and $16xllion for the years ended September 30, 200232and 2004, respectively.
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Vendor Consideration Received

We account for consideration received fromandors in accordance with Emerging Issues TaskeHssue No. 02-16, “Accounting by a
Customer (Including a Reseller) for Certain Consatien Received from a Vendor” (EITF 02-16). EITE-06 most significantly requires us to
classify interest assistance received from manufacd as a reduction of inventory cost and related of sales as opposed to netting the assis
against our interest expense incurred with ourdendAdditionally, based on the requirements of@top assistance programs from our
manufacturers, EITF 02-16 permits the netting efdlsistance against related advertising expevwseadopted EITF 02-16 during the quarter
ended December 31, 2002 and determined that thdasthimpacted our accounting for certain constitamraeceived from vendors beginning
July 1, 2003 with the renewal of and amendmentaitadealer agreements with the manufacturers opoducts. As a result of applying this
standard and reviewing our new and existing cotdrdaring the years ended September 30, 2003 0w Rlerest assistance of approximately
$700,000 and $4.8 million, respectively, was reedrds a reduction of inventory and cost of salé@$, eost of sales decreasing by approximately
$700,000 and $2.5 million during the years endgate&3aber 30, 2003 and 2004, respectively.

Inventories

Inventory costs consist of the amount paiddquire the inventory, the cost of equipment addezhnditioning costs and transportation costs
relating to relocating inventory prior to sale. Namd used boat, motor, and trailer inventoriesstaed at the lower of cost, determined on a
specific-identification basis, or market. Parts andessories are stated at the lower of cost,rdeted on the first-in, first-out basis, or market.
Based on the agings of the inventories and ourideretion of current market trends, we maintairaluation allowance, which was not materie
the consolidated financial statements taken as@ends of September 30, 2003 or 2004.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cesbfraccumulated depreciation, and are deprec@tedtheir estimated useful lives using the
straight-line method. Useful lives for purposesomputing depreciation are as follows:

Years
Buildings and improvemen 5-40
Machinery and equipme 3-10
Furniture and fixture 5-10
Vehicles 5

The cost of property and equipment sold dredtand the related accumulated depreciationearmved from the accounts at the time of
disposition, and any resulting gain or loss isudeld in the consolidated statements of operatMamtenance, repairs and minor replacement
charged to operations as incurred; major replacésrerd improvements are capitalized and amortized their useful lives.

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

We account for goodwill and identifiable intginle assets in accordance with Statement of FinhAccounting Standards No. 141, “Business
Combinations” (SFAS 141), and Statement of Findn®i@ounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwill and Oth&angible Assets” (SFAS 142).
SFAS 141 requires business combinations to be ateddor using the purchase method of accountimbidentifiable intangible assets acquired
in a business combination to be recognized assaasdtreported separately from goodwill. We haverd@ned that our most significant acquired
identifiable intangible assets are the dealer ages¢s, which are indefinite-lived intangible ass&BAS 142 requires that goodwill and indefinite-
lived intangible assets no longer be amortizedjrimtead tested for impairment at least annualty\ehenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recabler. SFAS 142 was effective for fiscal years beigig after December 15, 2001, with early
application permitted in certain circumstances. &éeted to early-adopt SFAS 142 as of the beginafrfgscal 2002.
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SFAS 142 required the completion of a traasii impairment test within six months from theedaf initial adoption. We completed the
transitional impairment test, which resulted inimpairment of goodwill or identifiable intangiblssets as of the date of adoption. SFAS 142 alsc
requires that we assess the impairment of idehidimtangible assets and goodwill at least anguaill whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value matybe recoverable. If the carrying amount of amtéfiable intangible asset or goodwill exce:
its fair value, we would recognize an impairmersisloWe measure any potential impairment based wougbusiness valuation methodologies,
including a projected discounted cash flow methwe.completed the annual impairment test duringdlieth quarter of fiscal 2004, based on
financial information as of the third quarter ddal 2004, which resulted in no impairment of goiidwy identifiable intangible assets. To date,
have not recognized any impairment of goodwillderitifiable intangible assets in the applicatiols6AS 142.

There was no goodwill amortization expensetlfierfiscal years ended September 30, 2002, 20@32@04. Accumulated amortization of
goodwill was approximately $2.6 million at SeptemB8, 2003 and 2004.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards Nig, “Accounting for Impairment or Disposal ofigrLived Assets” (SFAS 144), requires
that long-lived assets, such as property and ecgrpand purchased intangibles subject to amonizatie reviewed for impairment whenever
events or changes in circumstances indicate teatdhrying amount of an asset may not be recover&acoverability of the asset is measured by
comparison of its carrying amount to undiscountgdre net cash flows the asset is expected to gendf such assets are considered to be
impaired, the impairment to be recognized is mesbas the amount by which the carrying amount®ftfset exceeds its fair market value.
Estimates of expected future cash flows represamagement’s best estimate based on currently alailformation and reasonable and
supportable assumptions. Any impairment recognizextcordance with SFAS 144 is permanent and mapaoestored. To date, we have not
recognized any impairment of long-lived assetsannection with SFAS 144,

Customer Deposits

Customer deposits primarily include amounteieed from customers toward the purchase of b@dsrecognize these deposits as revenue
upon delivery or acceptance of the related boatsistomers.

Insurance

We retain varying levels of risk relating teetinsurance policies we maintain, most signifigawbrkers’ compensation insurance and
employee medical benefits. As a result, we areamesiple for the claims and losses incurred undesetprograms, limited by per occurrence
deductibles and paid claims or losses up to prerdehed maximum exposure limits. Any losses abbeepredetermined exposure limits are p
by our third-party insurance carriers. We estinmatefuture losses using our historical loss expege our judgment, and industry information.

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from boat, motor, anitetraales and parts, service, and storage opegatibthe time the boat, motor, trailer, or part is
delivered to or accepted by the customer or seiigicempleted. We recognize commissions earned &dmokerage sale at the time the related
brokerage transaction closes. We recognize reviraneslip and storage services on a straight-liagidover the term of the slip or storage
agreement. We recognize commissions earned byrysafoing notes with financial institutions in caation with customer boat financing when
the related boat sale is recognized. We also rézegnarketing fees earned on credit life, accidamt disability, and hull insurance products sold
by third-party insurance companies at the latazustomer acceptance of the insurance product demsed by contract execution or when the
related boat sale is recognized. Pursuant to reggdtagreements with financial and insurance utgiits, we are charged back for a portion of
these fees should the customer terminate or defauthe related finance or insurance contract legfas outstanding for a stipulated minimal
period of time. The chargeback allowance, which m@smaterial to the consolidated financial stateta¢aken as a whole as of September 30,
2003 or 2004, is based on our experience with maeays or defaults on the related finance or insteaontracts.
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We also recognize commissions earned on eatena@irranty service contracts sold on behalf afitparty insurance companies at the later of
customer acceptance of the service contract tesnesidenced by contract execution, or recognitibtine related boat sale. We are charged back
for a portion of these commissions should the gustaerminate or default on the service contraictrfio its scheduled maturity. The chargeback
allowance, which was not material to the consoéiddinancial statements taken as a whole as oeSd#r 30, 2003 or 2004, is based upon our
experience with repayments or defaults on the serntracts.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for stock-based compensation plader Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 2&¢€ounting for Stock Issued to
Employees” (APB 25), under which no compensaticst bas been recognized in these consolidated fimlastatements. Statement of Financial
Accounting Standards No. 123, “Accounting for St®ased Compensation” (SFAS 123), allows compamieohtinue following the accounting
guidance of APB 25, but requires pro forma disalesaf net income and earnings per share for ttectsffon compensation expense had the fair
value method of accounting for stock options angdlspurchases been adopted. For SFAS 123 purpbsesir value of each option grant has
been estimated as of the date of grant using thekBbcholes option-pricing model. In March 2003,adepted the Financial Accounting
Standards Board, Statement of Financial Accouriitagndards No.148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Camspéon - Transitions and
Disclosure” (SFAS 148). Under SFAS 148, the prarfadisclosures of stock-based compensation, he flair value method had been used, are
required in both annual and interim financial steets.

Had compensation cost been determined usanfpthvalue method described in SFAS 123, oulin@ime and earnings per share, as reported
would have been the following for the fiscal yeansled September 30,

2002 2003 2004
(Amounts in thousands except earnings per shar
Net income as reporte $17,06¢ $19,68!: $26,29¢
Compensation cost, net of rela
tax effects $ 1,122 $ 1,21t $ 1,53¢
Pro forma net incom $15,94: $18,46¢ $24,76:
| [ | [ |

Basic earnings per shai

As reportec $ 1.1z $ 1.2¢ $ 1.6¢
| [ | [ |
Pro forma $ 1.04 $ 1.2 $ 1.5¢

Diluted earnings per shar
As reportec $ 1.1C $ 1.2¢ $ 1.5¢
I

Pro forma $ 1.04 $ 1.2C $ 151
[ |

See Note 12 — “Stock Option and Purchase Pfansurther discussion and assumptions used toutate the above pro forma information.

Advertising and Promotional Costs

Advertising and promotional costs are experasethcurred and are included in selling, genarad, administrative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operati®esed on the requirements of our co-op assistamgrams from our manufacturers, EITF
02-16 permits the netting of the assistance agttiestelated advertising expenses. Total advegiaimd promotional expenses approximated
$7.0 million, $8.3 million and $10.0 million, net elated co-op assistance of approximately $1Manj $1.1 million and $1.8 million for the
years ended September 30, 2002, 2003, and 20@p&cteely.

Income Taxes

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recaghfor the future tax consequences attributabtermporary differences between the financial
statement carrying amounts of existing assetsiahdities and their respective tax basis. Defetadassets and liabilities are measured using
enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxablaneda the years in which those temporary differsrex@ expected to be recovered or settled.
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New Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2003, the Financial Accountingh8&ads Board (FASB) issued Interpretation 46(Rpri€blidation of Variable Interest
Entities” (FIN 46(R)). FIN 46(R); is a revision &nd supersedes Interpretation 46, “Consolidatioviasfable Interest Entities” (FIN 46), which
was issued in January 2003. FIN 46(R) clarifiesapplication of Accounting Research Bulletin No, 52onsolidated Financial Statements”, to
certain entities in which equity investors do navé the characteristics of a controlling finanaiérest or do not have sufficient equity at riek f
the entity to finance its activities without addital subordinated financial support from otheripartA variable interest entity is required to be
consolidated by the company that has a majorith@fexposure to expected losses of the variakdedst entity. Either FIN 46 or FIN 46(R)
applies to variable interest entities or potentaiable interest entities commonly referred tsjpacial purpose entities by the end of the firstdl
year or interim period ending after December 183N 46(R) applies to all variable interest #as by the end of the first fiscal year or inte
period ending after March 15, 2004. We do not ekglezissuance of FIN 46(R) to have a material iohpa our consolidated financial stateme

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially sudbjes to concentrations of credit risk, consishgipally of cash and cash equivalents and accounts
receivable. Concentrations of credit risk with mesto cash and cash equivalents are limited pifiynarfinancial institutions. Concentrations of
credit risk arising from receivables are limitedhparily to manufacturers and financial institutions

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of our financial instrurteeapproximates fair value due either to lengtmafurity or existence of interest rates that
approximate prevailing market rates unless otherdisclosed in these consolidated financial statésne

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financialestagnts in conformity with accounting principles geaily accepted in the United States require
to make estimates and assumptions that affecetierted amounts of assets and liabilities and asce of contingent assets and liabilities at the
date of the consolidated financial statements hadd¢ported amounts of revenue and expenses duengporting periods. The estimates mad
us in the accompanying consolidated financial statgs relate to valuation allowances, valuatiogafdwill and intangible assets, valuation of
long-lived assets, and valuation of accruals. Alatesults could differ from those estimates.

4. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE:

Trade receivables consist primarily of recblea from financial institutions, which provide filing for customer boat financing, and amounts
due from financial institutions earned from arramggfinancing with our customers. These receivahtesnormally collected within 30 days of the
sale. Trade receivables also include amounts dume éustomers on the sale of boats, parts, semimbstorage. Amounts due from manufacturers
represent receivables for various manufacturernarag and parts and service work performed purdoahe manufacturers’ warranties.

The allowance for uncollectible receivablebjah was not material to the consolidated finansiatements taken as a whole as of
September 30, 2003 or 2004, is based on our camasiole of customer payment practices, past traimsabistory with customers, and economic
conditions. We review the allowance for uncolleliteceivables when a future event or other chamgacumstances results in a change in the
estimate of the ultimate collectibility of a spécifccount.

F-13




Table of Contents

The accounts receivable balances consistétedbllowing as of September 30,

2003 2004
(Amounts in thousands)
Trade receivable $14,45: $17,01:
Amounts due from manufacture 6,23¢ 6,93(
Other receivable 1,07( 1,03t
$21,75% $24,97%
[ | [ |
5. INVENTORIES:
Inventories consisted of the following as ep&mber 30,
2003 2004
(Amounts in thousands)
New boats, motors and traile $134,20( $243,34°
Used boats, motors and traile 26,66 33,10:
Parts, accessories and ot 4,521 7,34¢
$165,38: $283,79°
| |
6. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:
Property and equipment consisted of the falgwas of September 30,
2003 2004

Land $ 22,17« $ 25,62¢
Buildings and improvemen 43,30z 51,94¢
Machinery and equipme 15,08: 17,56:
Furniture and fixture 8,654 9,857
Vehicles 3,81/ 4,82¢
93,027 109,82:

Less— Accumulated depreciatic (21,129 (25,31
$ 71,89¢ $ 84,507

| I

(Amounts in thousands)

7. GOODWILL AND OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS:

Goodwill and identifiable intangible assete accounted for in accordance with Statement dadriiial Accounting Standards No. 141,
“Business Combinations” (SFAS 141), and StateméRirancial Accounting Standards No. 142, “Goodwilld other Intangible Assets” (SFAS
142). SFAS 141 requires business combinations tcbeunted for using the purchase method of acswuand identifiable intangible assets
acquired in a business combination to be recograseaksets and reported separately from goodwdlheye determined that our most significant
acquired identifiable intangible assets are thdedemreements, which are indefinite-lived intahgiassets. SFAS 142 requires that goodwill and
indefinite-lived intangible assets no longer be dined, but instead tested for impairment at leastually and whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value matybe recoverable. SFAS 142 was effective forafigears beginning after December 15, 2001,
with early application permitted in certain circumEnsces. We elected to early-adopt SFAS 142 asedbéiginning of fiscal 2002.

SFAS 142 required the completion of a traasii impairment test within six months from theedaf initial adoption. We completed the
transitional impairment test, which resulted inimpairment of goodwill or identifiable intangiblssets as of the date of adoption. SFAS 142 also

requires that we assess the impairment of idehtdimtangible assets and goodwill at least anguaill whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the
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carrying value may not be recoverable. If the dagyamount of an identifiable intangible asset oodwill exceeds its fair value, we would
recognize an impairment loss. We measure any patémipairment based on various business valuatiethodologies, including a projected
discounted cash flow method. We completed the drimgamirment test during the fourth quarter of 62004, based on financial information as
of the third quarter of fiscal 2004, which resultacho impairment of goodwill or identifiable intgible assets. To date, we have not recognized
any impairment of goodwill or identifiable intanggbassets in the application of SFAS 142.

The changes in the carrying amounts of idexftié intangible assets and net goodwill for tlsedl years ended September 30, were as follows:

Identifiable
Goodwill Intangible Asset:

(Amounts in thousands)

Balance, September 30, 20 $46,31: $3,27¢
Additions through acquisitions during the pel 2,32¢ 1,22¢
Balance, September 30, 20 48,63¢ 4,50¢
Additions through acquisitions during the pel 1,68: 1,03¢
Balance, September 30, 20 $50,32: $5,54(
I I

8. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS:

In December 2001, we entered into a revoleirgglit facility with four financial institutions #t provided us a line of credit with asset-based
borrowing availability of up to $220 million. Thadility also allowed us $20 million in tradition#dorplan borrowings. The facility had a three-
year term, with two one-year renewal options. Dgifidecember 2002, we exercised one of the two oae+tgmewal options, which the bank
approved, extending the maturity date to Decemb8B2The facility accrued interest at a rate of QB plus 175 to 260 basis points, which was
determined in accordance with a Performance Prigiidy as defined in the credit facility. Borrowmgnder the facility were pursuant to a
borrowing base formula and were used primarilwforking capital and inventory financing.

In January 2004, we amended the credit fgaittiich extended the term of, added a lender td,iacreased the borrowing availability under
the credit facility. The expanded facility provides with a line of credit with asset based borrgnanailability of up to $260 million for working
capital and inventory financing and an additiorz0 $nillion for traditional floorplan borrowings,laf which are determined pursuant to a
borrowing base formula. The credit facility requings to satisfy certain covenants, including maiitig a tangible net worth ratio. As of
September 30, 2004, we were in compliance witbfalhe covenants. With the extended term, the tfadility currently matures in
December 2006, with two one-year renewal optiongaiging.

Short-term borrowings as of September 30, 20882004 were $97.0 million and $153.0 milliorspectively. The additional available
borrowings under the credit facility at Septemb@r 3004 were approximately $65.9 million. At Sepbem30, 2003 and 2004, the interest rate on
the outstanding short-term borrowings was 2.9% %A, respectively. Generally, our short-term batrys are collateralized by certain
accounts receivable and inventories.

As is common in our industry, we receive iatrassistance directly from boat manufacturect éiing Brunswick. The interest assistance
programs vary by manufacturer and generally inclpel®ods of free financing or reduced interest patsgrams. The interest assistance may be

paid directly to us or our lender depending onatlrangements the manufacturer has established ddf#ed EITF 02-16 during the quarter ended
December 31,
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2002, which most significantly requires us to cifysimterest assistance received from manufactusiera reduction of inventory cost and related
cost of sales as opposed to netting the assistayaiast our interest expense incurred with ourdesnidSee Note 3 — “Significant Accounting
Policies - Vendor Consideration Received” for fertkiscussion of the adoption of this standard.

9. LONG-TERM DEBT:

Long-term debt consisted of the following &September 30,

2003 2004

(Amounts in thousands)
Various mortgage notes payable to financial instits, due
in monthly installments ranging from $800 to $9,000
bearing interest at rates ranging from 5.96% t@%.7
maturing February 2006 through September 2006,
collateralized by machinery, equipment, and retdte $ 1,33¢ $ 1,26¢

Various mortgage notes payable to financial ingtihs, due
in monthly installments ranging from $25,800 to &R,
bearing interest at rates ranging from 3.34% t@%.7
maturing May 2007 through July 2014, collateralibgd
certain vehicles and machinery, equipment, andasaite 8,00z 13,21(

Various mortgage notes payable to financial instits, due
in monthly installments ranging from $37,600 to F&D,
bearing interest at a rates ranging from 6.75%76%,
maturing September 2010 through July 2012, cobditerd
by certain vehicles and machinery, equipment, aadl r

estate 13,08¢ 11,75¢
22,34 26,23)

Less— Current maturitie! (2,349 (2,885
$19,99¢ $23,35:

| |

The aggregate maturities of long-term debtenas follows at September 30, 2004:

(Amounts in thousands)

2005 $ 2,88¢
2006 3,02C
2007 3,05¢
2008 2,99¢
2009 3,157
Thereaftel 11,12
Total $26,23%

[ ]
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10. INCOME TAXES:

The components of our provision for incomeetagonsisted of the following for the fiscal yeamsled September 30,

2002 2003 2004

(Amounts in thousands)
Current provision

Federa $ 8,24: $10,07¢ $14,31(
State 87C 1,24¢ 1,63¢
Total current provisiol 9,11: 11,32( 15,94¢

Deferred provision
Federal $ 1,427 $ 91C $ 164
State 143 91 16
Total deferred provisio 1,57C 1,001 18C
Total income tax provisio $10,68: $12,32: $16,12¢
I I I

Below is a reconciliation of the statutory éeal income tax rate to our effective tax ratetfar fiscal years ended September 30,

2002 2003 2004
Federal tax provisio 35.0% 35.(% 35.%
State tax provision, net of federal ben 3.2% 3.5% 2.8%
Other 0.2% 0.C% 0.2%
Effective tax rate 38.5%  38.2%  38.(%

Deferred income taxes reflect the impact offierary differences between the amount of assetdiailities recognized for financial reporting
purposes and such amounts recognized for incomguigposes. The components of deferred taxes aspi€®ber 30, were as follows:

2003 2004

(Amounts in thousands)
Current deferred tax assets (liabilitie

Inventories $ (39 $ 1,07
Accrued expense 1,56¢€ 2,392
Net current deferred tax ass $ 1,52¢ $ 3,46t
| |

Long-term deferred tax assets (liabilitie

Depreciation and amortizatic $(6,917) $(9,059)
Other 111 134
Net lon¢-term deferred tax liabilitie $(6,807) $(8,91¢)
| |

As of September 30, 2004, we estimated thatritore likely than not that we will recognize thenefit of our deferred tax assets and,
accordingly, no valuation allowance has been resxbrd

11. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:

In November 2000, our Board of Directors appiba share repurchase plan allowing our compangpiorchase up to 300,000 shares of our
common stock. Under the plan, we may buy back comstack from time to time in the open market opiivately negotiated blocks, dependant
upon various factors, including price and availipibf the shares, and general market conditiorssoASeptember 30, 2004, we have purchas:
aggregate of 128,413 shares of common stock uhdegplan for an aggregate purchase price of appitein$1.3 million. As of September 30,
2004, 89,611 and 8,802 of those repurchased shawesbeen reissued in conjunction with our Empldyeek Purchase Plan and our Incentive
Stock Plan, respectively.
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12. STOCK OPTION AND PURCHASE PLANS:
On April 5, 1998 and April 30, 1998, respeetiy the Board of Directors adopted and the stolddrs approved the following stock plans:

1998 Incentive Stock Plan (the Incentive Stock PlaiThe Incentive Stock Plan provides for the grarninoéntive and non-qualified stock
options to acquire our common stock, the granoofimon stock, the grant of stock appreciation rightsl the grant of other cash awards to key
personnel, directors, consultants, independentaciotrs, and others providing valuable servicasstoA maximum of the lesser of 4,000,000
shares or 20% of the then outstanding shares ocdmumon stock may be issued under the IncentivekS2tan. The Incentive Stock Plan
terminates in April 2008, and options may be grdrateany time during the life of the Incentive $tédan. The date on which options vest and
exercise prices of options are determined by ther@of Directors or the Plan Administrator. Thedntive Stock Plan also includes an Automatic
Grant Program providing for the automatic granbpfions (Automatic Options) to our non-employeediors.

The fair value of each option grant has bestimated as of the date of grant using the Bladkefs option-pricing model with the following
weighted average assumptions for the fiscal yeade@ September 30,

2002 2003 2004
Risk-free interest rat 5.4% 5.1% 5.C%
Dividend yield 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Expected life 5.4 years 5.4 years 5.4 years
Volatility 38.8% 40.7% 41.%%

Using these assumptions, the fair value osthek options granted as of September 30, 20023,26hd 2004 was approximately $10.0 million,
$11.6 million, and $15.2 million, respectively, whiwould be amortized as compensation expensetiogatesting period of the options.

A summary of the status of our stock opticengl for the fiscal years ended September 30, whslaws:

2002 2003 2004
Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-
Average Average Average
Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price Options Exercise Price
Outstanding
beginning of yea 2,273,20! $10.8¢ 2,376,441 $10.5¢ 2,324,66! $10.31
Granted 356,16( $ 8.8¢ 395,80( $ 9.9¢ 514,59 $18.5¢
Exercisec (5,779 $12.5( (52,70%) $11.8¢ (271,339 $11.51
Forfeited (247,15)) $10.6¢ (394,87:) $11.2¢ (122,841 $ 9.91
Outstanding end of
year 2,376,441 $10.5¢ 2,324,66! $10.31 2,446,09! $11.92
| | |

The following table summarizes information aboutstanding and exercisable stock options ate®aper 30, 2004:

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted-
Average Weighted- Weighted-
Remaining Average Average
Range of Exercise Contractual Life in Exercise Exercise
Prices Options Years Price Options Price
$ 7.00- 11.00 1,205,65! 6.3 $ 8.7¢ 306,04 $ 9.0
$11.01- 15.00 760,93 4.4 $12.57 510,12¢ $12.5¢
$15.01- 19.00 396,50( 8.9 $17.8C — $ —
$19.01- 23.00 38,50( 9.5 $20.41 — $ —
$23.01- 27.00 18,50( 9.5 $25.8¢ — $ —
$27.01- 31.00 26,00( 9.6 $28.51 — $ —
2,446,09! 6.3 $11.92 816,17: $11.21
| I
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Generally, the options granted have a termOofears from the grant date and vest 20% per arregimning at the end of year three.

During the fiscal year ended September 304280 warrants issued in conjunction with the &ilst999 Boating World acquisition were
exercised. The warrants enabled the holder to msec0,000 shares of our common stock at $15.06haee.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the Stock Purchas® P+The Stock Purchase Plan provides for up to 500sb@@es of common stock to be
issued, and is available to all our regular empésy@ho have completed at least one year of conimeervice. The Stock Purchase Plan provides
for implementation of up to 10 annual offerings in@ing on the first day of October in the years 8 8#&rough 2007, with each offering
terminating on September 30 of the following y&gach annual offering may be divided into two sixatioofferings. For each offering, the
purchase price per share will be the lower of §¥®8of the closing price of the common stock onfitet day of the offering or (ii) 85% of the
closing price of the common stock on the last dahe offering. The purchase price is paid thropghiodic payroll deductions not to exceed 10%
of the participant’s earnings during each offenregiod. However, no participant may purchase mioaa $25,000 worth of common stock
annually.

13. NET INCOME PER SHARE:

The following is a reconciliation of the shaugsed in the denominator for calculating basicdihded earnings per share for the fiscal years
ended September 30,

2002 2003 2004
Weighted average common shares outstanding

used in calculating basic earnings per sl 15,270,82 15,337,87 15,585,311
Effect of dilutive options 270,14¢ 333,59° 1,080,79.
Weighted average common and common

equivalent shares used in calculating diluted

earnings per sha 15,540,97 15,671,47 16,666,10

.| .| .|

Options to purchase 1,136,201, 860,905, andbD7shares of common stock were outstanding &gpfember 30, 2002, 2003, and 2004,
respectively, but were not included in the compatebf diluted earnings per share because the ngtexercise prices were greater than the
average market price of our common stock.

14. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES:
Lease Commitments

We lease certain land, buildings, machineguigment, and vehicles related to our dealershigeunon-cancelable third-party operating
leases. Rental payments, including month-to-moetitals, were approximately $6.5 million, $7.2 moiflj and $8.9 million for the fiscal years
ended September 30, 2002, 2003, and 2004, resplyctiRental payments to related parties under batitelable and non-cancelable operating
leases approximated $367,000 and $385,000 foiigbal fyears ended September 30, 2003 and 2004&atbsgly. There were no rental payments
to related parties for the fiscal year ended Sepe&sr30, 2002.

The rental payments to related parties, ubdér cancelable and non-cancelable operating lehséyy fiscal 2003 and 2004, represent rental
payments for buildings to an entity partially owrtedan officer of our company. We believe the teohthe transaction are consistent with those
that we would obtain from third parties.
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Future minimum lease payments under non-cabtebperating leases at September 30, 2004, wdlaws:

(Amounts in thousands)

2005 $ 6,54¢
2006 5,70¢
2007 5,264
2008 4,13¢
2009 1,304
Thereaftel 1,711
Total $24,66¢

[ ]

Other Commitments and Contingencies

We are party to various legal actions arismthe ordinary course of business. The ultimability, if any, associated with these matters was
not determinable at September 30, 2004. Whilernbisfeasible to determine the outcome of theserat this time, we do not believe that these
matters will have a material adverse effect onamnsolidated financial condition, results of opienad, or cash flows.

We are subject to federal and state environaheegulations, including rules relating to aidamater pollution and the storage and disposal of
gasoline, oil, other chemicals and waste. We belibat we are in compliance with such regulations.

15. EMPLOYEE 401(k) PROFIT SHARING PLANS:

Effective January 1, 2001, we amended ourld@®iofit Sharing Plan (the Plan). Employees aigilde to participate in the Plan following
their 90-day introductory period starting eitherri\fp or October 1, provided that they are 21 yadrage. Under the Plan, we match 50% of
participants’ contributions, up to a maximum of 8%each participants’ compensation. We contributedier the Plan, or pursuant to previous
similar plans, amounts ranging from approximatel@@000 to approximately $1.1 million for the fisgaars ended September 30, 2002, 2003,
and 2004.

16. PREFERRED SHARE PURCHASE RIGHTS:

During September 2001, we adopted a StockhsléRghts Plan (the Rights Plan) that may haveetffiect of deterring, delaying, or preventing
a change in control that might otherwise be inkiest interests of our stockholders. Under the Rigtén, a dividend of one Preferred Share
Purchase Right was issued for each share of constock held by the stockholders of record as ofcthee of business on September 7, 2001.
Each right entitles stockholders to purchase, abamcise price of $50 per share, one-thousandthsbiire of a newly created Series A Junior
Participating Preferred Stock.

In general, subject to certain limited exceps, the stock purchase rights become exercisaide & person or group acquires 15% or more of
our common stock or a tender offer or exchanger ééfie15% or more of our common stock is announmedommenced. After any such event,
other stockholders may purchase additional shdresracommon stock at 50% of the then-current migpkiee. The rights will cause substantial
dilution to a person or group that attempts to &@equs on terms not approved by our Board of DoectThe rights should not interfere with any
merger or other business combination approved &Bthard of Directors. The rights may be redeemedsbgt $0.01 per stock purchase right at
any time before any person or group acquires 15%ae of the outstanding common stock. The rigkfsre on August 28, 2011.

The Rights Plan adoption and Rights Distritmitis a non-taxable event with no impact on ouatiitial results.

F-20




Table of Contents

EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit
Number Exhibit

10.3(g) Employment Agreement dated August 18, 2004 betviRaggistrant and Michael H. McLan

21 List of Subsidiarie!
23 Consent of Erst & Young LL
31.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgatetbuthe Securities Exchange

Act of 1934, as amende

31.2 Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgatetbuthe Securities Exchange
Act of 1934, as amende

32.1 Certification pursuant to U.S.C. Section 1350, dgpaed pursuant to Section 906 of the Sark-Oxley Act of 2002

32.2 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarl-Oxley Act of 2002






EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT

THIS EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this “Agreement”), by drbetween MarineMax, Inc., a Delaware corporattbe (Company”), and
Michael H. McLamb (“Executive”) is entered into aeffective as of the 18th day of August, 2004.

RECITALS

A. The Company is engaged primarily in the busir@sselling, renting, leasing, and servicing bogtinautical, and other related lifestyle
entertainment products and services, and relatiddtiss (collectively, the “Watercraft Businessgnd Executive has experience in such business

B. Executive currently serves as Executive VicesRient and Chief Financial Officer of the Compaflge Company desires to assure itself of the
continued availability of Executive.

C. The Company desires to employ Executive, andlkee desires to accept such employment, purdoahe terms and conditions set forth in
this Agreement, which shall replace the existingplEryment agreement between the Company and Executiv

AGREEMENT

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual pises, terms, covenants, and conditions set fonthith@nd the performance of each, i
hereby agreed as follows:

1. EMPLOYMENT AND DUTIES.

(@) EMPLOYMENT. The Company hereby employs Exeajtand Executive hereby agrees to act, as ExecutbesPresident and Chief

Financial Officer of the Company. As such, Execaitbhall have responsibilities, duties, and autheoetsonably accorded to, expected of, and
consistent with Executive’s position, and Execustall report directly to the Chief Executive Officand to the Board of Directors of the
Company (the “Board”). Executive hereby accepts émployment upon the terms and conditions hem@itained and, subject to paragraph I(c)
hereof, agrees to devote his best efforts and antially all of his business time and attentioptomote and further the business of the Company.

(b) POLICIES. Executive shall faithfully adhere &xecute, and fulfill all lawful policies establesth by the Company.

(c) OTHER ACTIVITIES. Executive shall not, duriniget term of his employment hereunder, be engagedyirother business activity pursued for
gain, profit, or other pecuniary advantage if sactivity interferes in any material respect witheExtive’s duties and responsibilities hereunder.
The foregoing limitations shall not be construeghashibiting Executive from (i) making personal @stments in such form or manner as will
neither require his services in the operation taia of the companies or enterprises in which snghstments are made nor subject Executive to
any conflict of interest with respect to his dutieshe Company, (ii) serving on any civic or ckeivle boards or committees, (iii) delivering
lectures or fulfilling speaking engagements, or

(iii) serving, with the written approval of the Buk as a director of one or more public corporatjon each case so long as any such activities do
not significantly interfere with the performancetfecutive’s responsibilities under this Agreement.

(d) PLACE OF PERFORMANCE. Executive shall not bguieed by the Company or in the performance ofthises to relocate his primary
residence.




2. COMPENSATION. For all services rendered by Exiey the Company shall compensate Executive dvwst

(a) BASE SALARY Effective the date hereof, the baakary payable to Executive shall be Two Hundregfty-five Thousand Dollars
($225,000) per year, payable on a regular basiséordance with the Company’s standard payrollgataces, but not less than monthly. On at
least an annual basis, the Board or a committéieeoBoard shall review Executive’s performance ar@y make increases to such base salary if,
in its sole discretion, any such increase is waenn no event shall Executive’s base salaryeldeiced to a level below Two Hundred Twenty-
five Thousand Dollars ($225,000).

(b) BONUS OR OTHER INCENTIVE COMPENSATION. Executishall be eligible to receive a bonus or otheeiitive compensation as may
be determined by the Board or a committee of thar@based upon such factors as the Board or suohittee, in its sole discretion, may deem
relevant, including, without limitation, the perfoance of Executive and the Company; provided, hewehat the Board or a committee of the
Board shall establish for each fiscal year of tlenfany a bonus program in which Executive shabiiéled to participate, which provides
Executive with a reasonable opportunity, basedcherpast compensation practices of the Company aaduiive’s then base salary, to maintair
increase Executive’s total compensation comparékegrevious fiscal year.

(c) EXECUTIVE PERQUISITES, BENEFITS, AND OTHER COMRSATION. Executive shall be entitled to receiveliddnal benefits and
compensation from the Company in such form andith £xtent as specified below:

() REIMBURSEMENT FOR EXPENSES. Reimbursement fasiness travel and other out-of-pocket expensemnadly incurred by Executive
in the performance of his services under this Agreet. All reimbursable expenses shall be appragyiatocumented in reasonable detail by
Executive upon submission of any request for reirsdament and shall be in a format and manner cemigtith the Compang’ expense reportir

policy.

(i) VACATION. Paid vacation in accordance with thpplicable policy of the Company as in effect frime to time, but in no event shall
Executive be entitled to less than four (4) weedis pacation per year.

(iif) OTHER EXECUTIVE PERQUISITES. The Company shatlovide Executive with other executive perquisiéss may be made available to or
deemed appropriate for Executive by the Board @ayramittee of the Board and participation in alletCompany-
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wide employee benefits (including group insurampaxsion, retirement, and other plans and prograsmga)ye available to the Compasigxecutive
officers from time to time.

3. NON-COMPETITION AGREEMENT.

(a) NON-COMPETITION. Executive shall not, duringetheriod of his employment by or with the Compaanyd for a period equal to the longer
of two (2) years immediately following the termiiwat of his employment under this Agreement or theetduring which severance payments are
being made by the Company to Executive in accomlarith this Agreement, for any reason whatsoevieectly or indirectly, for himself or on
behalf of or in conjunction with any other person:

(i) OTHER ACTIVITIES. Engage, as an officer, directshareholder, owner, principal, partner, lengent venturer, employee, independent
contractor, consultant, advisor, or sales reprasiert in any Competitive Business within the Riettd Territory;

(ii) SOLICITATION OF EMPLOYEES. Call upon any persavho is, at that time, within the Restricted Timy, an employee of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries, in a managerial capaditytlie purpose or with the intent of enticing seatiployee away from or out of the employ of the
Company or any of its subsidiaries;

(iii) SOLICITATION OF CUSTOMERS. Call upon any persor entity that is, at that time, or that hasrheethin one (1) year prior to that time,
a customer of the Company or any of its subsidsaséthin the Restricted Territory for the purpadesoliciting or selling products or services in
direct competition with the Company or any of itdsidiaries within the Restricted Territory;

(iv) SOLICITATION OF ACQUISITION CANDIDATES. Call pon any prospective acquisition candidate, on Ete&'s own behalf or on
behalf of any person, which candidate was, to Ethee's knowledge after due inquiry, either callgubn by the Company, or for which the
Company made an acquisition analysis, for the memd acquiring such candidate.

(b) CERTAIN DEFINITIONS. As used in this Agreemetite following terms shall have the meanings asctito them:

(i) COMPETITIVE BUSINESS shall mean any person thelts, rents, brokers, leases, stores, repas®res, or services recreational boats or
other boating products or provides services ragjatiinrecreational boats or other boating products;

(i) PERSON shall mean any individual, corporatibmited liability company, partnership, firm, otheer business of whatever nature;

(i) RESTRICTED TERRITORY shall mean any stateother political jurisdiction in which, or any logah within two hundred (200) miles of
which, the Company or any subsidiary of the Compaayntains any facilities; sells, rents, brokeesses, stores,

3




repairs, restores, or services recreational baadther boating products; or provides servicestirgieto recreational boats or other boating
products; and

(iv) SUBSIDIARY shall mean the Company’s consolethsubsidiaries, including corporations, partngshimited liability companies, and any
other business organization in which the Compangishat least a fifty percent (50%) equity interest.

(c) ENFORCEMENT. Because of the difficulty of measg economic losses to the Company as a resaltwéach of the foregoing covenants,
and because of the immediate and irreparable dathageould be caused to the Company for whichoitild have no other adequate remedy,
Executive agrees that the foregoing covenants reagniforced by the Company in the event of breachitmy by injunctions and restraining
orders.

(d) REASONABLE RESTRAINT. It is agreed by the pestithat the foregoing covenants in this paragraipmp®se a reasonable restraint on
Executive in light of the activities and busine$she Company (including the Company’s subsidigr@sthe date of the execution of this
Agreement and the current plans of the Companyu@ieg the Company’s subsidiaries); but it is alse intent of the Company and Executive
that such covenants be construed and enforceccor@emce with the changing activities, businesd,lacations of the Company (including the
Company’s subsidiaries) throughout the term of tloigenant, whether before or after the date ofiteation of the employment of Executive. For
example, if, during the term of this Agreement, @@mpany (including the Company’s subsidiaries)agys in new and different activities, enters
a new business, or establishes new locationsdauitrent activities or business in addition t@threr than the activities or business enumerated
above or the locations currently established tloeréfien Executive will be precluded from solicgithe customers or employees of such new
activities or business or from such new locatiod ftom directly competing with such new businesthimithe Restricted Territory through the
term of these covenants.

(e) OTHER ACTIVITIES. It is further agreed by tharfies that, in the event that Executive shall egashe employed hereunder and enters into a
business or pursues other activities not in cortipetivith the Company (including the Company’s sdlzsies), or similar activities or business in
locations, the operation of which, under such citstances, does not violate this paragraph 3, aadyirevent such new business, activities, or
location are not in violation of this paragraphrdbExecutives obligations under this paragraph 3, if any, Exgewshall not be chargeable wit
violation of this paragraph 3 if the Company (irdihg the Company’s subsidiaries) shall thereafteéerthe same, similar, or a competitive

(i) business, (ii) course of activities, or (iigdation, as applicable.

(f) SEPARATE COVENANTS. The covenants in this paegah 3 are severable and separate, and the uneafflity of any specific covenant
shall not affect the provisions of any other cov@n®oreover, in the event any court of competarisfliction shall determine that the scope, ti
or territorial restrictions set forth are unreadaeathen it is the intention of the parties thatts restrictions be enforced to the fullest exthat
the court deems reasonable, and the Agreementtbbedby be reformed.
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(g) INDEPENDENT AGREEMENT. All of the covenantstinis paragraph 3 shall be construed as an agreentmgendent of any other
provision in this Agreement, and the existencemyf elaim or cause of action of Executive against@ompany, whether predicated on this
Agreement or otherwise, shall not constitute amsdeo the enforcement by the Company of such @ntenlt is specifically agreed that the
period of two (2) years following termination of playment stated at the beginning of this parag@&p#uring which the agreements and
covenants of Executive made in this paragraph B Bbaffective, shall be computed by excludingtfireuch computation any time during which
Executive is in violation of any provision of thparagraph 3.

4. TERM; TERMINATION; RIGHTS ON TERMINATION.

(a) TERM. Unless terminated sooner as providedihgtiee term of Executive’'s employment under thgrdement shall begin on the date hereof
and continue for three (3) years thereafter (théiél Term”) and shall continue on a renewal bdiisn year to year thereafter (each a “Renewal
Term” and with the Initial Term, the “Term”) on tlsame terms and conditions in effect as of the tifrtee latest renewal unless and until notice
of non-renewal shall be given by either party t ¢ither not less than sixty (60) days prior toghd of the then current term.

(b) TERMINATION. Executive’'s employment under ttigreement may be terminated in any one of the falligs ways:

(i) DEATH OF EXECUTIVE. The employment of Executighall terminate immediately upon Executiweeath provided that the Company st
for a period of six (6) months following such deathy to the estate of Executive an amount equiakezutive’'s base salary and any earned
bonus. In the event of such termination, all otibmpurchase Common Stock of the Company helddegiive shall thereupon vest and shall be
exercisable during their full term notwithstandihg termination of employment.

(ii) DISABILITY OF EXECUTIVE. If, as a result of ioapacity due to physical or mental iliness or ipjuExecutive shall have been absent from
his full-time duties hereunder for six (6) consé@aimonths, then thirty (30) days after receivingtt®n notice (which notice may occur before or
after the end of such six (6) month period, butalirghall not be effective earlier than the last daguch six (6) month period), the Company may
terminate Executive’s employment provided Executsvenable to resume his full-time duties at theatosion of such notice period. Also,
Executive may terminate his employment if his Healiould become impaired to an extent that malesdhtinued performance of his duties
hereunder hazardous to his physical or mental healhis life, provided that Executive shall hauenfished the Company with a written statement
from a qualified doctor to such effect and provigiedither, that, at the Company’s request madeiwithirty (30) days of the date of such written
statement, Executive shall submit to an examinatya doctor selected by the Company who is redspreceptable to Executive or Executise’
doctor and such doctor shall have concurred irctimelusion of Executive’s doctor. In the event Exé®’'s employment under this Agreement is
terminated as a result of Executive’s disabilityeEutive shall receive from the Company, in a lusapa payment due within ten (10) days of the
effective date of termination, an amount equahtodverage of the base salary and bonus paid twubxe for

5




the two (2) prior full fiscal years, for the lessdrthe time period then remaining under the Tefrthis Agreement or for one (1) year. In the event
of such termination, all options to purchase Comi8totk of the Company held by Executive shall thpom vest and shall be exercisable during
their full term notwithstanding the terminationexhployment.

(iii) TERMINATION BY THE COMPANY FOR GOOD CAUSE. Ta Company may terminate Executive’s employment upar(10) days prior
written notice to Executive for “Good Cause,” whitall mean any one or more of the following: (AeEutive's willful, material, and irreparak
breach of this Agreement; (B) Executive’s grossligegce in the performance or intentional nonperfance (continuing for thirty (30) days after
receipt of written notice of need to cure) of afyEgecutive’s material duties and responsibilifieseunder; (C) Executive’s willful dishonesty,
fraud, or misconduct with respect to the businesaffairs of the Company, which materially and agedy affects the operations or reputation of
the Company; (D) Executive’s conviction of a felarryme involving dishonesty or moral turpitude;(&) a confirmed positive illegal drug test
result. In the event of a termination by the Conypfam Good Cause, Executive shall have no righdrg severance compensation.

(iv) TERMINATION BY THE COMPANY WITHOUT GOOD CAUSEOR BY EXECUTIVE WITH GOOD REASON; FAILURE OF THE
COMPANY TO RENEW. The Company may terminate Exe@l employment without Good Cause during the Termadfeupon the approval
a majority of the members of the Board, excludixgditive if Executive is a member of the Board. &xve may terminate his employment
under this Agreement for Good Reason upon tenda@3 prior notice to the Company. In addition, @@mpany may determine not to renew
Executive’s employment under this Agreement.

(A) RESULT OF TERMINATION BY THE COMPANY WITHOUT G@D CAUSE OR BY EXECUTIVE WITH GOOD REASON. Shouldet
Company terminate Executive’s employment withoub@&ause or should Executive terminate his employmwéh Good Reason during the
Term, or should the Company determine not to reBgecutive’s employment under this Agreement attamg following the Initial Term, the
Company shall pay to Executive for eighteen (18hths after such termination, on such dates as wathierwise be paid by the Company, an
amount equal to the average of the base salarpamas paid to Executive for the two (2) prior fiidical years. Further, if the Company termin;
Executive’s employment without Good Cause or Exgeutrminates his employment with Good Reasonalllgptions to purchase Common
Stock of the Company held by Executive shall vestéupon and shall be exercisable during theitéuth notwithstanding the termination of
employment, and (2) Executive shall be entitledeeive all other unpaid benefits due and owingugh Executive’s last day of employment.
Further, any termination by the Company without G@@ause or by Executive for Good Reason shall epéoashorten the period of non-
competition set forth in paragraph 3 and duringolihthe terms of paragraph 3 apply to one (1) yeeam tthe date of termination of employment.

(B) DEFINITION OF GOOD REASON. Executive shall ha@ood Reason” to terminate his employment uponoiturrence of any of the
following events: (1) Executive is demoted by meaha reduction in authority, responsibilities,duties; (2) Executive’'s annual base salary as
determined pursuant to paragraph 2 is reducedeeehthat is




less than ninety percent (90%) of the base salaig/tp Executive during the prior contract year emithis Agreement; (3) a change is made in
Executive’s bonus other than as contemplated bgagvaph 2(b), unless Executive has agreed in writint@at demotion, reduction, or change; or
(4) the Company breaches a material provision isfAlgreement.

(v) RESIGNATION BY EXECUTIVE WITHOUT GOOD REASON. Xecutive may, without cause, and without Good Readsaominate his own
employment under this Agreement, effective thiB@)(days after written notice is provided to ther@any or such earlier time as any such
resignation may be accepted by the Company. If Ekexresigns or otherwise terminates his employmeétihout Good Reason, Executive shall
receive no severance compensation.

(vi) CHANGE IN CONTROL OF THE COMPANY.

(A) POSSIBILITY OF CHANGE IN CONTROL. Executive uatstands and acknowledges that the Company mayehgedhor consolidated wi

or into another entity and that such entity shatbanatically succeed to the rights and obligatiohthe Company hereunder or that the Company
may undergo another type of Change in Controlh&ndvent such a merger or consolidation or oth@n@é in Control is initiated prior to the end
of the Term, then the provisions of this paragra#)(vi) shall be applicable.

(B) TERMINATION BY EXECUTIVE. Subject to the excaphs set forth in paragraph 4(b)(vi)(E), if any @ba of Control is initiated during
Executive’s employment hereunder, Executive mapjsasole discretion, elect to terminate his emplegt under this Agreement by providing
written notice to the Company at least five (5)ibass days at any time prior to or within one (&ayafter the closing of the transaction giving
rise to the Change in Control. In such case, tipdicgble provisions of paragraph 4(b)(iv) hereoll @pply as though the Company had termin:
Executive’s employment without Good Cause duriregTerm; however, under such circumstances, the atafihe severance payments due to
Executive shall be paid in a lump sum, the non-astitipn and non-solicitation provisions of paradréphereof shall all apply for a period of one
(1) year from the effective date of termination.

(C) EFFECTIVE DATE OF CHANGE IN CONTROL. For purpesof applying paragraph 4 hereof under the cirtantes described in 4(b)(vi)
(B) above, the effective date of the Change in €dntill be the closing date of the transactionigg@rise to the Change in Control and all
compensation, reimbursements, and lump-sum paymdeet&xecutive must be paid in full by the Compfoipwing such Change in Control
promptly following Executive’s election to termiraliis employment. Further, Executive will be giweifficient time and opportunity to elect
whether to exercise all or any of his options techase the Company’s Common Stock, such that hecorayert the options to shares of the
Company’s Common Stock at or prior to or within ¢hpyear after the closing of the transactionmgmise to the Change in Control, if he so
desires.

(D) DEFINITION OF CHANGE IN CONTROL. A “Change indhtrol” shall mean a change in control of a nathiet would be required to be
reported in response to Item 6(e) of Schedule 1Regulation 14A promulgated under the Securities
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Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, as in effechemate of this Agreement, or if Item 6(e) is noger in effect, any regulations issued by the
Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant t&doerities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, wdgche similar purposes; provided further
that, without limitation, a Change in Control shadl deemed to have occurred if and when:

(1) TURNOVER OF BOARD. The following individuals donger constitute a majority of the members ofBeard: (A) the individuals who, as

of the date of this Agreement, constitute the Bq#rd “Current Directors”); (B) the individuals wiloereafter are elected to the Board and whose
election, or nomination for election, to the Boaras approved by a vote of at least two-thirds (2f3he Current Directors then still in office

(such directors becoming “Additional Directors” irediately following their election); and (C) the imidluals who are elected to the Board and
whose election, or nomination for election, to Baard was approved by a vote of at least two-thi2d3) of the Current Directors and Additional
Directors then still in office (such directors alsecoming “Additional Directors” immediately folldng their election);

(2) TENDER OFFER. A tender offer or exchange oiffemade whereby the effect of such offer is to taker and control the Company, and such
offer is consummated for the equity securitieshef Company representing twenty percent (20%) oerbthe combined voting power of the
Company'’s then outstanding voting securities;

(3) MERGER OR CONSOLIDATION. The stockholders o tGompany shall approve a merger, consolidatiarapi¢alization, or reorganization
of the Company, a reverse stock split of outstapdisting securities, or consummation of any suahgaction if stockholder approval is not
obtained, other than any such transaction thatavasgult in at least seventy-five percent (75%heftotal voting power represented by the voting
securities of the surviving entity outstanding inthiagely after such transaction being beneficiallyned by the holders of outstanding voting
securities of the Company immediately prior to tfamsaction, with the voting power of each suchtioming holder relative to other such
continuing holders not substantially altered in tfa@saction; or

(4) LIQUIDATION OR SALE OF ASSETS. The stockholdarksthe Company shall approve a plan of complepaidiation of the Company or an
agreement for the sale or disposition by the Compdimll or a substantial portion of the Compangssets to another person or entity, which is
not a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company (ififty percent (50%) or more of the total assetshef Company).

(E) EXCEPTIONS FROM CHANGE IN CONTROL. A ChangeQontrol shall not be considered to have taken placpurposes of this
paragraph 4 in the event that both (1) the Cham@&oitrol shall have been specifically approvedbleast two-thirds (2/3) of the Current and
Additional Directors (as defined above) and (2) phavisions of this Agreement remain in full foraed effect as to Executive. Sales of the
Company’s Common Stock beneficially owned or cdtgtbby the Company shall not be considered inrd@tgng whether a Change in Control
has occurred.




(F) EXCESS PARACHUTE PAYMENTS. Anything in this Aggment to the contrary notwithstanding, in the éiteshall be determined that any
payment, distribution or other action by the Comptnor for the benefit of the Executive (whethaidoor payable or distributed or distributable
pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or othexw(imcluding any additional payments required unbliss Section 4((b)(vii)(F)) (a “Payment”)
would be subject to an excise tax imposed by Se@899 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, asdet(the “Code”), or any interest or
penalties are incurred by the Executive with respeany such excise tax (such excise tax, togetftérany such interest and penalties, are
hereinafter collectively referred to as the “Excls”), the Company shall make a payment to thecktiee (a “Gross-Up Paymenti) an amour
such that after payment by the Executive of aletgafincluding any Excise Tax) imposed upon the &tfis Payment, the Executive retains (or
had paid to the Internal Revenue Service on hialfjedin amount of the Gross-Up Payment equal taett@se Tax imposed upon the Payments
The Gross-Up Payment will be due and payable byCbmpany or its successor within ten (10) days &tecutive delivers a written request for
reimbursement accompanied by a copy of his taxmé&tyshowing the Excise Tax actually incurred beé&ltive.

(G) NOTIFICATION. Executive shall be notified in iting by the Company at any time that the Compamtjcgpates that a Change in Control
may take place.

(c) PAYMENTS TO TERMINATION DATE. Upon terminatioaf Executive’s employment under this Agreementdoy reason provided above,
Executive shall be entitled to receive all compénsaearned and all benefits and reimbursementsitoegh the effective date of termination.
Additional compensation subsequent to terminatifcany, will be due and payable to Executive omythie extent and in the manner expressly
provided above. All other rights and obligationgled Company and Executive under this Agreemerlt sbase as of the effective date of
termination, except that the Company’s obligationder paragraph 8 (relating to indemnification é&utive) and Executive’s obligations under
paragraph 3 (relating to non-competition), paragragrelating to return of Company property), paspip 6 (relating to inventions), paragraph 7
(relating to trade secrets), and paragraph 9 {nglab prior agreements) shall survive such tertidmain accordance with their terms.

(d) FAILURE TO PAY EXECUTIVE. If termination of Exautive’s employment arises out of the Company’kifaito pay Executive on a timely
basis the amounts to which he is entitled underAlgreement or as a result of any other breachisfXgreement by the Company, as determined
by a court of competent jurisdiction or pursuantht® provisions of paragraph 14, the Company glegllall amounts and damages to which
Executive may be entitled as a result of such breiacluding interest thereon and all reasonalgelléees and expenses and other costs incurred
by Executive to enforce his rights hereunder. Farithone of the provisions of paragraph 3 (relattngon-competition) shall apply in the event
Executive’s employment under this Agreement is teated as a result of a breach by the Company.

5. RETURN OF COMPANY PROPERTY. All records, desigpatents, business plans, financial statementsyals, memoranda, lists, and other
property delivered to or compiled by Executive Ibya behalf of the Company (or its subsidiariesitorepresentatives, vendors, or customers
that pertain to the business of the Company (®utsidiaries) shall be and remain the properth@fCompany and be subject at all times to its
discretion and control. Likewise,




all correspondence, reports, records, charts, fdvgy materials, and other similar data pertairtm¢he business, activities, or future plans ef th
Company (or its subsidiaries) that is collected2xgcutive shall be delivered promptly to the Compaithout request by it upon termination of
Executive’s employment.

6. INVENTIONS. Executive shall disclose promptlyttee Company any and all significant conceptiorssideas for inventions, improvements,
and valuable discoveries, whether patentable qrwitith are conceived or made by Executive, sadelpintly with another, during the period of
employment or within one (1) year thereafter, afclv are directly related to the business or atitiwiof the Company (or its subsidiaries) and
which Executive conceives as a result of his empleyt by the Company. Executive hereby assigns greka to assign all his interests therein to
the Company or its nominee. Whenever requested sody the Company, Executive shall execute adyadlrapplications, assignments, and
other instruments that the Company shall deem sacgs$o apply for and obtain Letters Patent ofiinéed States or any foreign country or to
otherwise protect the Company'’s interest therein.

7. TRADE SECRETS. Executive agrees that he wil] dating or after the period of employment undés thgreement, disclose the specific tel
of the Company'’s relationships or agreements wtétiespective significant vendors or customersymyrother significant and material trade secret
of the Company, whether in existence or proposeeny person, firm, partnership, corporation, aibess for any reason or purpose whatsoever.

8. INDEMNIFICATION. In the event Executive is madeparty to any threatened, pending, or completédracsuit, or proceeding, whether civil,
criminal, administrative, or investigative (othbah an action by the Company against Executivejebgon of the fact that he is or was
performing services under this Agreement, ther@bmpany shall indemnify Executive against all exggn(including attorney$ées), judgment
fines, and amounts paid in settlement, as actaatireasonably incurred by Executive in connedti@newith to the maximum extent permitted
by applicable law. The advancement of expenses Ishahandatory. In the event that both Executive thie Company are made a party to the
same third-party action, complaint, suit, or pratieg, the Company agrees to engage competentregadsentation, and Executive agrees to use
the same representation, provided that if couredetted by the Company shall have a conflict adriest that prevents such counsel from
representing Executive, Executive may engage sepaoainsel and the Company shall pay all attornfees of such separate counsel. Further,
while Executive is expected at all times to usebisist efforts to faithfully discharge his dutieglanthis Agreement, Executive cannot be held
liable to the Company for errors or omissions miadgood faith if Executive has not exhibited grosglful, and wanton negligence and
misconduct or performed criminal and fraudulensdbtt materially damage the business of the Compéatwithstanding this paragraph 8, the
provision of any written indemnification agreemapplicable to the directors or officers of the Campto which Executive shall be a party shall
apply rather than this paragraph 8 to the extestrieistent with this paragraph 8.

9. NO PRIOR AGREEMENTS. Executive hereby represantswarrants to the Company that the executighisfAgreement by Executive and
his employment by the Company and the performahbésaluties hereunder will not violate or be aamie of any
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agreement with a former employer, client, or arheotperson or entity. Further, Executive agreésdemnify the Company for any claim,
including, but not limited to, attorneys’ fees apenses of investigation, by any such third pody such third party may now have or may
hereafter come to have against the Company basedarparising out of any non-competition, inventionsecrecy agreement between Executive
and such third party that was in existence asefitite of this Agreement.

10. ASSIGNMENT; BINDING EFFECT. Executive undergtarthat he is being employed by the Company otdsés of his personal
qualifications, experience, and skills. Executigeegs, therefore, he cannot assign all or anygodf his performance under this Agreement.
Subject to the preceding two (2) sentences anéxheess provisions of paragraph 11 below, this Agrent shall be binding upon, inure to the
benefit of and be enforceable by the parties heaetbtheir respective heirs, legal representatsues;essors, and assigns.

11. COMPLETE AGREEMENT. This Agreement is not amise of future employment. Executive has no orpiesentations, understandings, or
agreements with the Company or any of its officdirgctors, or representatives covering the sarbgstimatter as this Agreement. This written
Agreement is the final, complete, and exclusivéest@nt and expression of the agreement betweeBdimpany and Executive and of all the
terms of this Agreement, and it cannot be variedtmadicted, or supplemented by evidence of anyr i contemporaneous oral or written
agreements. This written Agreement may not be hatdified except by a further writing signed bywydauthorized officer of the Company and
Executive, and no term of this Agreement may bevadiexcept by writing signed by the party waivihg benefit of such term. This Agreement
hereby supersedes any other employment agreenremtsierstandings, written or oral, between the Camyrand Executive.

12. NOTICE. Whenever any notice is required hereunitishall be given in writing addressed as folo

To the Company MarineMax, Inc.
18167 U.S. Highway 19 North, Suite 3
Clearwater, Florida 337€
Attention: Chief Executive Office

To Executive Michael H. McLamk
18167 U.S. Highway 19 North, Suite 3
Clearwater, Florida 337€

In either case with a copy t Greenberg Traurig, LLI
2375 East Camelback Ro
Suite 70C
Phoenix, Arizona 8501
Attention: Robert S. Kant, Es

Notice shall be deemed given and effective on trbeg of three (3) days after the deposit in th&.Unail of a writing addressed as above and
first class mail, certified,
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return receipt requested, or when actually receittier party may change the address for noticedtifying the other party of such change in
accordance with this paragraph 13.

13. SEVERABILITY; HEADINGS. If any portion of thifigreement is held invalid or inoperative, the otpertions of this Agreement shall be
deemed valid and operative and, so far as is redd®and possible, effect shall be given to thennhmanifested by the portion held invalid or
inoperative. The paragraph headings herein areeference purposes only and are not intended imeayyto describe, interpret, define or limit
extent or intent of the Agreement or of any parebé

14. MEDIATION ARBITRATION. All disputes arising outf this Agreement shall be resolved as set fortthis paragraph 15. If any party her
desires to make any claim arising out of this Agreet (“Claimant”), then such party shall first deeli to the other party (“Respondent”) written
notice (“Claim Notice”) of Claimant’s intent to malsuch claim explaining Claimant’s reasons for stlalm in sufficient detail for Respondent to
respond. Respondent shall have ten (10) busingssfidan the date the Claim Notice was given to Resient to object in writing to the claim
(“Notice of Objection”), or otherwise cure any becbahereof alleged in the Claim Notice. Any Notideddbjection shall specify with particularity
the reasons for such objection. Following recefghe Notice of Objection, if any, Claimant and Resdent shall immediately seek to resolve by
good faith negotiations the dispute alleged inGtem Notice, and may at the request of eithenpaitilize the services of an independent
mediator. If Claimant and Respondent are unabtedolve the dispute in writing within ten (10) ess days from the date negotiations began,
then without the necessity of further agreemer@laimant or Respondent, the dispute set forth éGlaim Notice shall be submitted to binding
arbitration (except for claims arising out of paisgghs 3 or 7 hereof), initiated by either ClaimanRespondent pursuant to this paragraph. Such
arbitration shall be conducted before a panel @feh{3) arbitrators in Tampa, Florida, in accor@awith the National Rules for the Resolution of
Employment Disputes of the American Arbitration Asistion (“AAA”) then in effect provided that theagties may agree to use arbitrators other
than those provided by the AAA. The arbitratorslishat have the authority to add to, detract frammodify any provision hereof nor to award
punitive damages to any injured party. The arlttshall have the authority to order back-payessvwce compensation, vesting of options (or
cash compensation in lieu of vesting of optionsynbursement of costs, including those incurredrfmrce this Agreement, and interest therec
the event the arbitrators determine that Execwtiae terminated without disability or without Goodu3e, as defined in paragraphs 4(b) and 4(c)
hereof, respectively, or that the Company has atisermaterially breached this Agreement. A decidipra majority of the arbitration panel shall
be final and binding. Judgment may be entered erathitrators’ award in any court having jurisdicti The direct expense of any mediation or
arbitration proceeding and, to the extent Execytineyails, all reasonable legal fees shall be bbgnhe Company.

15. NO PARTICIPATION IN SEVERANCE PLANS. Except esntemplated by this Agreement, Executive acknogésdand agrees that the
compensation and other benefits set forth in tiyse@ment are and shall be in lieu of any compemsati other benefits that may otherwise be
payable to or on behalf of Executive pursuant totdrms of any severance pay arrangement of thep@ayror any affiliate thereof, or any other
similar arrangement of the
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Company or any affiliates thereof providing for béts upon involuntary termination of employment.

16. GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement shall in all respps be construed according to the laws of the staflorida, notwithstanding the
conflict of laws provisions of such state.

17. COUNTERPARTS; FACSIMILE. This Agreement mayebecuted by facsimile and in two (2) or more corpaés, each of which shall be
deemed an original and all of which together sbatfistitute but one and the same instrument.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have exettliss Agreement as of the day and year first alaniten.

MARINEMAX, INC.

By: /s/ Bill McGill

Title CEO, Chairmat
Name: William H. McGill
Its: CEO, Chairma

EXECUTIVE:

/s/ Michael H. McLamb

Michael H. McLamb
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LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES OF
MARINEMAX, INC.

(as of December 6, 2004)

Name Of Subsidiary

State Of Incorporation
Or Organization

11502 Dumas, Inc

Bassett Boat Compar

Bassett Realty, L.L.C

C & N Marine Realty, L.L.C
Delaware Avlease, LL(

Dumas GP, Inc

Dumas GP, L.L.C. (1

Gulfwind South Realty, L.L.C
Harrisor's Realty California, L.L.C
Harrisor's Realty, L.L.C

Marina Drive Realty I, L.L.C

Marina Drive Realty Il, L.L.C
MarineMax International, LLC (3
MarineMax MidAtlantic, LP (2]
MarineMax Motor Yachts, LLC (3
MarineMax New Jersey GP, Inc. (
MarineMax NJ Partners, Inc. (
MarineMax of Arizona, Inc
MarineMax of California, Inc
MarineMax of Central Florida, LLC (%
MarineMax of Colorado, Inc
MarineMax of Georgia, Inc
MarineMax of Las Vegas, Ini
MarineMax of Minnesota, Inc
MarineMax of New Jersey Holdings, Ir
MarineMax of North Carolina, Inc
MarineMax of Ohio, Inc

MarineMax of Sarasota, LLC (:
MarineMax of Southeast Florida, LLC (

Nevads
Florida
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Nevads
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Arizona
California
Delaware
Delaware
Georgia
Delaware
Minnesota
Delaware
North Caroline
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
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State Of Incorporation

Name Of Subsidiary Or Organization
MarineMax of Southwest Florida, LLC ( Delaware
MarineMax of Utah, Inc Delaware
MarineMax Services, Inc. (¢ Delaware
MarineMax TX, L.P. (6 Texas
MarineMax U.S.A., Inc Nevada
MMX GP, LLC (7) Delaware
MMX Holdings, LLC (8) Delaware
MMX Interests, LLC (9) Delaware
MMX Member, Inc. (5) Delaware
MMX Partners, Inc Delaware
MMX Ventures, LP (10 Delaware
Newcoast Financial Services, It Delaware
Walker Marina Realty, L.L.C Delaware

(1) Wholly owned subsidiary of 11502 Dumas, |

(2) 99% owned by MarineMax NJ Partners, Inc. as limfiadner and 1% owned by MarineMax New Jersey @&, ks general partne
(3) Wholly owned subsidiary of MMX Holdings, LL(

(4) Wholly owned subsidiary of MarineMax of New Jers¢gldings, Inc.

(5) Wholly owned subsidiary of MMX Partners, Ir

(6) 99% owned by 11502 Dumas, Inc. as limited partnerE6 owned by Dumas GP, L.L.C. as general par

(7) 99% owned by MMX Partners, Inc. and 1% owned by MMEmber, Inc

(8) 99% owned by MMX Interests, LLC and 1% owned by MN&R, LLC.

(9) 99% owned by MMX Ventures, LP and 1% owned by MMR,&LC.

(10) 99% owned by MMX Partners, Inc. as limited partaed 1% owned by MMX GP, LLC as general parti
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CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements (Form S-8 No. 333-83382gming to the 1998 Incentive Stock Plan
of MarineMax, Inc. and (Form S-8 No. 333-63307)taming to the 1998 Incentive Stock Plan and th@é81Bmployee Stock Purchase Plan of

MarineMax, Inc. of our report dated November 3,200ith respect to the consolidated financial stapts of MarineMax, Inc. included in the
Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended Sepien30, 2004.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Tampa, Florida
December 10, 2004






Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, William H. McGill Jr., certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on F&f¥K of MarineMax, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report doesantain any untrue statement of a material factnoit to state a material fact necessary to make
the statements made, in light of the circumstanceer which such statements were made, not misigawdih respect to the period covered by
this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statetsy and other financial information includedhistreport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations, aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thgqas presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officerdal are responsible for establishing and maintgirdisclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)}Heregistrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and plures, or caused such disclosure controls and guoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metiin which this report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regmsadisclosure controls and procedures and preddntthis report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procesias of the end of the period covered by thientebased on such evaluation; and

c) Disclosed in this report any change inrggistrant’s internal control over financial repogt that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth dilsguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal cohteger financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officerdal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiafuof internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitithe registrant’s board of directors (or pessparforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and materiataknesses in the design or operation of internarabover financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registsaability to record, process, summarize, and refaancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatdtves management or other employees who haven#isant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

/s/ William H. McGill, Jr.
William H. McGill Jr.
Chief Executive Office

Date: December 10, 2004






Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATION

I, Michael H. McLamb, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-KM&rineMax, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual repoeschot contain any untrue statement of a matidalor omit to state a material fact necessary
to make the statements made, in light of the cistamces under which such statements were madmisieading with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statetsy and other financial information includedhistreport, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations, aadh flows of the registrant as of, and for, thgqals presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officerdal are responsible for establishing and maintgrdisclosure controls and procedures (as defined
in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)}Heregistrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and plures, or caused such disclosure controls and guoes to be designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the metiin which this report is being prepared;

b) Evaluated the effectiveness of the regimsadisclosure controls and procedures and preddntthis report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and proeesias of the end of the period covered by thientebased on such evaluation; and

c) Disclosed in this report any change inrggistrant’s internal control over financial repogt that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth dilsguarter in the case of an annual report) thathaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal cohtger financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officerdal have disclosed, based on our most recent atiafuof internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit commitithe registrant’s board of directors (or pessparforming the equivalent functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and materiataknesses in the design or operation of internarabover financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registsaability to record, process, summarize, and refaancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, thatdtves management or other employees who haven#isant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

/s/ Michael H. McLamb
Michael H. McLamb
Chief Financial Officel

Date: December 10, 2004






Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on For@aKL of MarineMax, Inc. (the “Companyfpr the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004 |
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), William H. McGill Jr., Chief Executive Officerfdthe Company
certify, to my best knowledge and belief, pursuart8 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 9@&dSarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchaAgeof 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 780
(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairlegents, in all material respects, the financiabltton and results of operations of the
Company.

[s/ William H. McGill Jr.
William H. McGill Jr.
Chief Executive Officer

December 10, 2004






Exhibit 32.2
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on For@aKL of MarineMax, Inc. (the “Companyfpr the fiscal year ended September 30, 2004 |
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#te hereof (the “Report”), I, Michael H. McLambhi€f Financial Officer of the Company,
certify, to my best knowledge and belief, pursuart8 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursuant to § 9@&dSarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementSection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExchaAgeof 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(a) or 780
(d)); and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairlegents, in all material respects, the financiabltton and results of operations of the
Company.

/s/ Michael H. McLamb
Michael H. McLamb
Chief Financial Officer

December 10, 2004



